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Who we are
Mouchel is a consulting and business services group that improves day-to-day 
life for millions of people by providing the many design, management and 
operational skills needed to transform essential public services and to  
sustain vital infrastructure. 

We provide safer, more reliable roads and railways, better teaching and 
learning environments, more sustainable energy and waste solutions,  
cleaner drinking water and more accessible public services. We help  
our clients find better ways to run their own services and to reap  
the rewards of better investment in technology and systems. 

We go the extra mile – and more – to do the right thing for  
our clients, lead the way in our markets, keep our promises  
to our people and offer a fair return to our investors.

This is Mouchel. This is the way we do business. 

Building great 
relationships
Mouchel’s business is built upon great 
relationships – with our customers,  
our stakeholders and our people.

They enable us to provide services  
that help our clients improve 
day-to-day life for millions  
of people…

Report and Accounts 2008
Mouchel Group plc
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Financial highlights
•  Revenue growth of 46%, increasing sales to £656.7 million 

and strong organic revenue growth of 14%;

•  Underlying operating profit2 up 27% to £41.7 million. 
Operating margins as expected at 6.4% following 
acquisition of HBS (2007: 7.4%);

•  Excellent cash performance with more than 90% of 
underlying operating profit2 converted into operating  
cash flow;

•  Continuing excellent earnings visibility with future prospects 
underpinned by forward order book of £2.1 billion and 
bidding pipeline of £2.2 billion.

 
Business highlights
•  Integration of HBS and Hedra successfully concluded 

following acquisition during the year, with anticipated 
synergies of £3 million and £1 million secured in full;

•  EnterpriseMouchel joint venture appointed to undertake  
the Highways Agency Super Agency maintenance and 
network management commission in Southern England 
(Area 3);

•  Secured extensions of highways contract with 
Hertfordshire County Council and bundled services 
contract with Lincolnshire County Council;

•  Launched parking management business following earlier 
acquisition of Traffic Support and secured first parking 
services commission in the London Borough of Hillingdon; 

•  Appointed as preferred bidder on the Group’s first Building 
Schools for the Future commission in the London Borough 
of Hackney with financial close imminent;

•  Good contract win and renewal rates with performance  
for the year still within our target range of 33% to 40%  
of contracts tendered by value;

•  Strengthened both senior management team and plc 
Board through new appointments and placed as one  
of the Sunday Times Top 20 ‘Best Big Companies to  
Work For’ in the UK;

•  Rebranded to Mouchel Group in December 2007.

Highlights
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1 Figures for 2004 under UK GAAP, IFRS thereafter.
2  Underlying operating profit, operating margins and profit before tax and exceptional  

items are before amortisation of intangible assets arising from business combinations of 
£5.7 million (2007: £2.4 million) and other exceptional items of £6.8 million. These relate 
to the integration and transition costs associated with the acquisitions of HBS and Hedra 
and the Group rebranding. The Group also benefited from a net pension gain of  
£18.2 million in 2007.

3  Adjusted earnings per share is calculated after adding back shares held by the employee 
share trusts to the weighted average number of shares and adjusting earnings for 
exceptional items (net of taxation).

4  2007 figures include HBS order book of £0.7 billion.
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Mouchel 
at a Glance

Highways Government Services Regulated Industries

1 Revenue: £221.2 million
2  Underlying operating  

profit: £16.6 million
3 Order book: £588 million
4 Number of staff: 3,4801

1 Revenue: £267.1 million
2  Underlying operating  

profit: £14.4 million
3 Order book: £1,218 million
4 Number of staff: 4,8321

1 Revenue: £168.4 million
2  Underlying operating  

profit: £10.7 million
3 Order book: £294 million
4 Number of staff: 2,6711

Percentage of Group revenue Percentage of Group revenue Percentage of Group revenue

33% 41% 26%

“ Technology is transforming the 
highways sector; making roads  
safer, keeping traffic on the move  
and improving travel choices.” 
Keith Jackson, Managing Director

“ Local authorities are striving to achieve 
better services with limited resources. 
The combination of their challenges,  
our passion for public service and our 
capability means our role will be greater 
than ever before.”  
Steve Morriss, Managing Director, 
Government and Business Services

 
“ There’s a constant need for our clients 
to improve the way they buy goods 
and services, ensure the benefits of 
infrastructure investment are realised 
and improve operational effectiveness.”  
Mark Campbell, Managing Director, 
Management Consulting

“ The search is well and truly on to  
find more sustainable ways of coping 
with society’s unrelenting demands 
for energy, water and waste disposal. 
This is largely uncharted territory  
and the prize for success is high.” 
Piers Clark, Managing Director

Effective, reliable public services improve day-to-day life for 
millions of people. Mouchel’s strength lies in managing and 
improving the way in which public services are delivered and 
in providing the many professional and technical services 
needed to achieve this. We operate in three distinct areas:  
in the provision of highway engineering and management 
services; in the management of other professional services for 
local and central government; and in the provision of services 
to utilities, rail companies and other industries regulated by 
government. Most of our work remains in the British Isles but 
we have a rapidly-expanding presence in the Middle East. 

 

1  No. of individuals employed as at 31 July 2008. 
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Highways
Mouchel’s Highways business provides design and management 
services that keep traffic flowing on the streets in our towns and cities 
and on some of our busiest motorways. We provide a broad portfolio of 
services to support our clients at every stage in the process of planning, 
design, construction, operation, maintenance and renewal. 

We are number one in our field in Britain and acknowledged experts  
in the newer technologies that are increasingly employed to increase 
capacity and to control the way in which the public uses the road 
system. We work for clients who include Transport for London (TfL),  
the Scottish Executive and the Roads Service in Northern Ireland. 

Mouchel is responsible for managing the maintenance of around  
43% of the Highways Agency’s network in England and 42% of the 
trunk road network in Scotland. Local and regional roads are managed 
by local authorities and we have Highways-led commissions in  
26 English counties and boroughs, six Scottish local authorities and  
12 local roads authorities in Ireland.

Mouchel is at the cutting edge of technology and managed service 
developments in parking and congestion management. Our highway 
design team is involved in project management for what is currently  
the UK’s largest new road scheme, in Northern Ireland. 

Government Services
Government Services comprises our Management Consulting and 
Government and Business Services (GBS) streams, which employ  
around 500 and 4,300 staff respectively.

The Management Consulting business works with clients across the 
public sector, regulated industries and commercial suppliers to the 
public sector. Our aim is to become the consultancy of choice for 
transformation, service improvement and project delivery for our clients. 
This business was enlarged substantially through the acquisition of 
Hedra plc in March 2008. 

Mouchel works with clients ranging from HM Treasury and the Cabinet 
Office to local authorities, education delivery agents, the NHS and 
Thames Water; we also work with the supply chain for the defence 
industry and with a range of clients in the private sector. We provide 
advisory support and increasingly take responsibility for delivery in 

partnership with our clients. This ranges from key decisions on policy 
and strategy to procurement, technology delivery and managing 
change. Across all of these markets and services we provide project 
and programme management to ensure improvements are secured  
to the required time, quality and budget levels.

GBS was created through the integration of Mouchel’s local 
government stream and the former HBS business, acquired by 
Mouchel in August 2007. 

GBS is responsible for delivering a series of large-scale, multi-functional, 
long-term partnerships with local authorities up and down the country, 
including in Liverpool, Oldham, Bath, Lincolnshire, Rochdale, Milton 
Keynes and Middlesbrough. Each involves a different balance and range 
of services, but typically includes transformation, property, ICT, corporate 
services, highways, customer services and revenues and benefits. 

GBS is also transforming teaching and learning environments through 
our work with local government in the City Academy and Building 
Schools for the Future programmes. Here our combined expertise  
in property, educational services, ICT and programme management  
is what adds most value. 

Regulated Industries
The Regulated Industries business is focused on the water, waste, 
energy, and rail sectors. We work with every major water company  
in the UK, with Network Rail and with London Underground. We 
support waste disposal authorities and independent energy providers 
to introduce new, more sustainable technologies and processes.  
Our environmental planning and sustainability business, together with 
our land information management operations, continue to innovate  
in carbon management and in the improvement of land information 
resources for public sector users. 

In rail, we provide consulting and technology services ranging from 
structures examination work to signalling upgrades and passenger 
information systems.

Regulated Industries also incorporates Mouchel’s international 
operations. These are primarily centred on the Gulf States in the  
Middle East and involve a mix of infrastructure planning, design  
and project and programme management.
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Chairman’s  
Statement

In 2007/08 we have further strengthened  
our position in the consulting and business 
services sector. Mouchel is increasingly  
seen as one of the UK’s leading providers  
of professional services to the public sector 
and to industries regulated by government. 

Over the last few years we’ve enjoyed strong performance and steady 
financial growth in our core markets. In the last 12 months this has 
continued. But we have also taken steps during this period to diversify 
our activities, acquiring businesses that move us into related markets  
of business process outsourcing (BPO) and service transformation. 

The expanded Mouchel business is still positioned in public service 
markets that are relatively inelastic in the face of a general economic 
slowdown; working for clients who, we believe, will increasingly look  
to the private sector to help strengthen service efficiency and improve 
value for money for their end-users. We expect to maintain the growth 
rates we have achieved in the recent past and we believe our business 
model remains robust.

Performance
Revenue in 2007/08 reached a record level of £656.7 million  
and underlying operating profit increased by 27% to £41.7 million.  
Adjusted earnings per share was up by 22% to 25.7p. Operating 
margins fell, as expected, to 6.4% following the acquisition of HBS;  
but we are confident that, following the successful integration of that 
business into the Group, margins will resume their upward trend 
towards our 8% medium-term target.

At the end of July 2008, our forward order book and bidding pipeline 
stood at £2.1 billion and £2.2 billion respectively. At more than three 
times our 2007/08 revenue, this level of orders highlights the visibility  
of our future earnings, which provides great comfort to staff and 
shareholders alike, particularly in the current general economic climate. 

Strategy
Our investment in building a wider range of service offers, directed 
predominantly at the UK public sector and public service industries, 
has proved to be effective. Organisations in these sectors, faced by 
tighter budgetary constraints and under pressure to improve service 
efficiency, are turning to companies like Mouchel in still greater 
numbers. Our investment in highway technology skills places  
us at the heart of the debate on managing movement. 

Richard Benton
Chairman
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Our strengths in water and environment are valuable at a time when  
the water industry has published plans for higher levels of spending. 
Local authorities are continuing to outsource non-core services and  
the extension of our presence into the BPO realm has been timely.  
Our broadened management consulting offer opens new markets  
for Mouchel in central government, health and education and the  
reach of this business into many of our existing markets is also  
proving important. 

Investment in our operations in the Gulf – where revenues have grown 
by over 100% this year – gives us a new dimension to our consulting 
business and is beginning to present some important new opportunities 
in the longer-term, managed services arena. The Gulf economy  
remains strong and investment levels remain high, particularly in Dubai 
and Abu Dhabi.

Business environment
At a time when economic downturn is becoming a reality and the 
attention of the world is increasingly drawn to matters of sustainability 
and global warming, Mouchel is particularly well placed to offer more 
effective management and delivery of those services that form the fabric 
of modern society – transport, water and energy, local services, flood 
defence, health and education. 

The government continues to invest heavily in many of these areas. 
Spending in education and health remains high. The increasing use of 
technology to manage movement on our roads and railways presents 
continuing opportunity for us. As the climate changes, flooding has 
become a more regular occurrence so that investment in flood 
protection schemes will become an important area of investment  
for local authorities and the Environment Agency. 

The public has come to expect much more from local services provided 
by their councils and utility companies, and in a digital age the means  
of delivering those services has begun to change. Mouchel’s investment 
in the skills that can facilitate that sort of evolution is especially important 
and underpins our acquisition strategy during the past year.

Organic growth, alliances and acquisitions
Over the last five years we have achieved growth in the range of 20%  
to 25% per annum and this remains our target for the next five years. 
We expect organic growth to account for between 10% and 15% per 
annum, as a result of the further development of existing partnerships, 
new contract wins, inflation, and increasing market share across a 
broader range of services. Acquisitions will continue to account for  
the balance.

Current year and prior year acquisitions contributed £147 million to 
revenues in 2007/08. In August 2007 we acquired the BPO specialists 
HBS Business Services Group Limited (HBS). This move was intended 
to achieve lateral growth in the business, extending our services into 
many of the back-office processes that local authorities need to 
provide, not only for the community but also for their own employees.

Our second acquisition in 2007/08 was that of Hedra plc, a specialist 
management consulting business that operates exclusively in the public 
sector market. Hedra provided Mouchel with the chance to achieve 
rapid vertical integration in many of our existing markets, and access  
to new markets in which we had no prior position. In addition, Hedra 
offered a good fit with our existing management consulting and project 
management business and the combined new business now presents 
a very substantial force in its markets. 

The successful integration of both of these businesses is complete  
and we have realised total savings in annualised operating costs of 
around £4 million.

Brand
In December 2007 we gained the permission of the shareholders  
to rename the business as Mouchel Group plc, a change which  
allowed us to retain some of the history and heritage of the firm but to 
modernise our identity and clarify our positioning. The Mouchel brand 
now envelopes all of our activities, including those carried out by the 
former HBS and Hedra companies acquired during the year.

People
Our people have done a superb job for the business this year and we 
are proud of what we have achieved together. It is through their hard 
work, commitment, vision and ideas that we have been able to deliver 
these results – something we never lose sight of at the higher levels of 
the organisation.

In return, what we have been able to offer to our people are improvements 
in the working environment at our offices and sites, benefits packages 
that match the very best in our sector, and opportunities that will fulfil their 
own aspirations for challenge, enjoyment and security. Our success and 
our growing size and scale mean that we can attract really talented people 
to work for Mouchel; this is of crucial importance to the continuing 
development and prosperity of the Group. 

Mouchel employed 11,341 people at 31 July 2008, some 39% more 
than a year before. 

We were delighted, this year, to have gained a place in the Sunday 
Times ‘Best Big Companies to Work For’ league table. We believe  
this reflects the commitment we have made to our people but we are 
also using the feedback provided by this exercise to further improve  
the level of staff engagement across the Group.

Outlook
For some years now, clients in all of our markets have been looking 
to place contracts which offer more work to fewer suppliers for longer 
periods of time. With the advent of tougher economic and trading 
conditions in the UK, we expect this trend to gather pace. Our strategy, 
to focus principally on the UK public sector, has served us well and has 
positioned Mouchel well to withstand the impact of these conditions. 
The diversification that we have achieved this year through the 
acquisition of HBS and Hedra strengthens our position still further. 

Our resilience is also supported by the fact that most of our activities 
are connected with asset management and the maintenance of 
essential infrastructure and services, rather than investment in building 
new facilities and capital expenditure. We are operating in markets that 
generally still present us with opportunities. Our order book is close  
to its all-time high and provides excellent visibility of future earnings.

Looking to the future, many of our clients will continue to face challenges, 
including efficiency improvements, service level enhancements, effects  
of climate change and budget cuts. As a business we are well equipped 
with the professional knowledge and expertise needed to help them 
meet these challenges; our talent pool improves daily. As such we 
continue to remain confident in our future prospects. 

Richard Benton
Chairman
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Business Review
Overview

Our business, at the start of the new financial year, is well positioned  
to build on past successes. The shape of the business has evolved 
following the acquisition of HBS and Hedra; these are investments 
which have allowed us to extend our service portfolio both laterally in 
our current markets – for example, building our capability in Business 
Process Outsourcing (BPO) to local government – and vertically, 
through the introduction of more strategic consulting and project 
management skills. 

The Group’s new brand has been comprehensively embedded across 
the business, an exercise which has allowed us to re-examine our 
positioning and differentiation in our principal markets and to more 
quickly integrate our new acquisitions. We would regard this as a 
successful and worthwhile exercise which leaves us with an identity  
of which we are proud.

We have strengthened both the plc Board and our Group Management 
Board (GMB) through new appointments and have restructured the 
GMB to reflect the shape of the business going forward.

This year, too, we have expanded our leadership team to include  
those senior managers who represent the future of the Group.  
This team meets regularly to consider the direction and strategy  
of the business, giving an increased level of ‘ownership’ to those  
who are responsible for most of our day-to-day activities. 

Mouchel has had another outstanding year. 
Once again our performance has outstripped 
that of previous years in terms of revenue and 
profit. A combination of organic growth and 
acquisition through the year has allowed us  
to achieve a better mix of professional services, 
enabling us to gain wider access to the public 
service markets in which we operate.

Richard Cuthbert
Chief Executive

Kevin Young
Group Finance Director
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Business Review
Guiding Principles

We want working with Mouchel to be a positive and fulfilling experience. 
We want the services we provide, for our clients and the public, to meet 
and exceed expectations time after time. We want being employed by 
Mouchel to be an enriching part of our people’s careers. 

To achieve this we have developed a set of guiding principles –  
a measure of who and what we are now and the organisation we want 
to be. We’ve kept this simple, straightforward and motivational. We’ve 
reflected the aspirations of our clients, our people and our investors – 
and we’ve described a distinctive position that will continue to 
differentiate us as a company that’s great on relationships at every level. 

At Mouchel, above all else, we have a passion for success, believe 
in a spirit of adventure and have integrity at heart.

Group Management Board
From left: Piers Clark, Richard Cuthbert,  
Ruth Mundy, Kevin Young, Amanda Massie,  
Keith Jackson, Mark Campbell, Steve Morriss.

Our guiding principles
Passion for success

• striving for excellence in everything we do
• taking responsibility for our actions
• celebrating the achievements of our teams

Spirit of adventure

• having a sense of excitement and fun
• being inquisitive in nature, inventive in our approach
• embracing change as an opportunity

Integrity at heart

• keeping our promises and doing the right thing
• appreciating the diversity of our people
•  treating everyone with compassion  

and care
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Mouchel has achieved high levels of year-on-year growth and fully 
expects to continue to do so. We operate in sustainable markets  
which have become increasingly dependent on private sector support 
and which offer low risk, high volume and stable levels of demand.

Many of the markets in which Mouchel operates are specialist areas in 
which barriers to new competition are relatively high, making our position 
even more sustainable and the prospects for further growth good. 

Mouchel’s business model is based on:

•  maintaining a balanced portfolio of managed services and consultancy 
activities in public sector and public service industries: in highways,  
in water, environment and energy, in public sector property, in rail,  
in education and in BPO

•  continuing to achieve strong renewal and new win rates, combined 
with further market penetration, to provide our existing mix of services 
in partnership with new clients in our existing market sectors 

•  increased integration across our portfolio of services to develop  
new business combinations which will meet the wider needs of  
our current client base and the introduction, through acquisition  
and organic growth, of other new services and products to meet  
the broader needs of our current client base – for example, the  
move to acquire Traffic Support in 2006 in order to enter the parking 
enforcement market 

•  the extension of our existing portfolio of services into new, related 
markets – other public sector or public service markets which offer  
a similar profile of risk and return in the UK and overseas; for example 
to ‘blue-light’ organisations and second-tier councils.

This strategy – which has underpinned our approach to date –  
is designed to offer resilience to the cyclical nature of some existing 
markets, to achieve our commitments to revenue growth, and to 
provide our clients with an even more comprehensive range of services 
to reflect new priorities and needs. 

Business Review
Our Strategy for Growth

Mouchel will continue to provide consulting 
and business services, predominantly to the 
public sector and public service industries. 

46%
Revenue growth for  
the Group in 2007/08  
– taking us up to 
£656.7 million

A new learning experience
Mouchel has been involved  
in the project management  
of more than 30 Academies.



2008 Annual Report and Accounts
Mouchel Group plc09Business Review

Business Review
Market Development

In this present climate, we believe there is good evidence that local 
government will also look more and more to the private sector for 
support and partnership in order to improve the effectiveness of service 
delivery. The successful firms will be those that work with their clients in 
a collaborative spirit; responding to their changing needs, understanding 
their real priorities and constraints, and improving the value of outputs 
and outcomes rather than just reducing the cost of delivery.

Mouchel’s history of successful performance improvement on major 
public sector partnerships – for example, in Milton Keynes, Liverpool 
and Rochdale – provides a solid platform for continuing growth.  
The BPO market is expected to grow at around 14% per annum 
between now and 2012; competition in the local government sector  
is relatively low, and we expect further first- and second-tier local 
authorities to outsource professional, technical and support services  
in the coming years. 

The local government property services market is more mature,  
and many of the opportunities in the future will be second-generation 
outsourced service contracts. But this is a long-term and relatively 
stable market, albeit with a general trend towards more ‘bundling’  
of local authority property services with BPO services; a move which 
is advantageous to Mouchel. 

Education
In education, the Building Schools for the Future (BSF) programme,  
which seeks to modernise and improve the 3,500 secondary and primary 
schools in Britain and invests an average of £2.5 billion to £3 billion a year,  
is a major area of opportunity. The Comprehensive Spending Review 
settlement for 2008/11 has allocated £9.3 billion to this programme over 
the next three years. City Academies – independently managed schools 
funded in partnership by the private and public sectors – provide a new 
learning experience for children of secondary school age. In 2007 the 
government extended the Academies programme to a total of 400 
throughout the country and it is now an integral part of BSF. To date  
130 Academies have been opened, of which Mouchel has been involved 
in more than 30. 

Health
The government has recently completed the largest review of the National 
Health Service (NHS) in its 60-year history, resulting in the publication  
of the Lord Darzi Review: ‘High Quality Care for All – NHS Next Stage 
Review’. While the past 10 years of NHS reform have been designed to 
increase capacity across the service, the new challenges for the NHS are 
to improve quality and personalisation and to give more power to clinicians 
and patients. In support of the Darzi recommendations the Department 
of Health has set aside £550 million, to be invested between 2009 and 
2011. The 2008 Comprehensive Spending Review will increase spending 
on the NHS by 4% per year in real terms, taking its budget from £90 billion  
in 2007/08 to £110 billion by 2010/11.

These changes present a major area of opportunity for Mouchel  
as NHS organisations must be fit to operate as effective, efficient 
businesses in a competitive market environment. Commissioning 
organisations need a strong understanding of what and how they  
will procure in order to meet the needs of the local population. 
In partnering with the NHS we are able to define and implement their 
business strategies, structures and processes while supporting them 
with a full suite of consulting services across the business management 
lifecycle; one example is ‘Connecting for Health’, the UK government’s 
national programme to bring modern computer systems to the NHS.

Transport
Transport remains very much part of the current agenda, politically  
and economically. Current focus is on more sophisticated technological 
solutions to address rising demand as cost-effective and environmentally 
friendly alternatives to new construction in the highways and rail sectors. 

For Mouchel, whose focus has shifted over a number of years from 
design services to network operations, where higher and more 
sustained revenues could be generated, a further shift is now taking 
place towards technology-led services, which offer the prospect of 
higher margins in the future. This stems from increasing interest by  
our major clients in opportunities to squeeze greater capacity from 
the existing network without large-scale construction investment.

Our markets
As citizens, we are all users of the services that Mouchel provides:  
the roads we drive on, the railways we ride on, the schools we depend 
on, the airports we fly from, civic services and ‘blue-light’ operations – 
these are just some of the areas in which our people make an impact. 
There is little doubt that pressure on credit, sharply rising fuel prices  
and stagnation in economic growth present challenges for all sectors  
of the economy. As a society we are increasingly concerned about 
climate change, sustainability and personal security. In the sectors 
where Mouchel operates these pressures translate as a continuing drive 
towards greater efficiency, transparency, and value for money – and 
significant areas of opportunity for us to extend the breadth and depth 
of our support. 

Mouchel remains the force behind the delivery of many public services, 
applying private sector technical expertise and commercialism to 
transform and develop the way in which they are delivered – our influence 
ranging from strategic to operational support. The acquisition of Hedra, 
whose management consulting expertise is firmly fixed on public sector 
transformation, brings a new dimension to what we can offer, both to 
our existing clients and to other clients in the same sectors. 

Mouchel is one of the largest professional services organisations 
in its core sectors. Total fees rendered by UK engineering consultancy 
companies – according to leading trade journal, New Civil Engineer, 
which provides listings for nearly one hundred companies – amounted to 
£8.6 billion in 2007, up 17% on the previous year; the top 10 companies 
(Mouchel was ranked fifth, with a market share of nearly 6%) accounting 
for over 60% of this revenue. 

Mouchel is ranked by New Civil Engineer as one of the largest two 
companies in the highways sector – and its predominantly UK-based 
workload makes it the largest in Britain, we believe. It is also the second 
largest provider of technical services to the public sector and is ranked 
third in the water industry. 

Mouchel competes in the highways sector with companies like Atkins 
and Amey whilst in the water sector we compete with Mott MacDonald 
and global engineering consultancy MWH. In the overall provision of 
support services to local government, major competitors include Capita, 
Serco and BT, whilst in the management consulting arena we compete 
with major consultancy firms such as Accenture and PwC. The 
acquisition, in this financial year, of Hedra has transformed the market 
positioning of Mouchel in the management consulting field and has 
provided access to a number of new markets such as health and 
central government. 

Central and local government
The economic downturn will undoubtedly lead to a reduction in  
overall taxation revenue, placing government departments under  
further and increasing pressure to reduce the cost of service delivery 
and to improve value for money to their customers and citizens. Major 
technology investments need to deliver the improvements needed in 
service quality and there is an ongoing opportunity for private sector 
involvement in such projects, including the personalisation of public 
service delivery around specific customer service needs.

The pace of policy change in central government is unremitting,  
reflecting the need to engage with people in new and different ways  
on matters ranging from criminal justice and immigration to the effects  
of an ageing population. For Mouchel, there are opportunities to help 
government departments translate policy into action; such as improving 
the responsiveness of government contact centres, ensuring that major 
technology programmes deliver cashable and non-cashable benefits, 
and implementing shared services for government departments  
and agencies.
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in Britain is being promoted as part of a programme to generate at least 
20% of our energy in this way by 2020. Mouchel’s energy business has 
developed around the need for alternative methods of delivering power 
to the consumer, looking in particular at renewable sources and at the 
opportunities for ‘localisation’ of the energy supply market – a prospect 
that offers improved efficiencies over the current, more centralised model 
for generation. 

Gas and oil are amongst the most important commodities in the UK, 
providing energy and fuel for transport, industry and homes. Following 
the opening up of the electricity market, the generating sector has 
attracted a variety of new market entrants, including regional electricity 
companies, gas and oil companies and US and European operators.  
At present, electricity is generated from a variety of sources of which 
‘renewable’ sources account for only 5%. The government’s ‘Renewables 
Obligation’ sets new and more demanding targets for more sustainable 
forms of power generation, an area in which Mouchel expects rising 
levels of opportunity in the coming years. 

Water
The water sector continues to offer the prospect of significant  
growth for Mouchel. In August 2008 each water company in 
England and Wales submitted its proposals for investment for the 
period 2010 to 2015, the fifth cycle of investment since privatisation 
(AMP5). Investment will include base service maintenance, service 
enhancements (including capital investment in new facilities) and 
supply/demand management. The total projected value of expenditure 
for the AMP5 period is approximately £27 billion – an increase on the 
current AMP4 programme of approximately 40%. Mouchel, which has 
existing relationships with every major UK water company, is well placed 
to capture a significant proportion of the associated consultancy and 
asset delivery work.

Climate change
Climate change, and the increasing focus on carbon management, 
represents an opportunity for Mouchel to provide support to both public 
and private sector clients. The Climate Change Bill, which was presented 
to Parliament in November 2007 and commits Britain to a 60% reduction 
in carbon dioxide emissions by 2050, is forcing organisations to 
re-assess their activities and the concept of carbon pricing is becoming 
a reality. An emerging market exists for consultancy and managed 
services to those organisations affected most by the new legislation. 

In parallel, and perhaps as a consequence of climate change,  
the need for effective flood prevention has become self-evident  
in the last few years, and there is a continuing demand for services  
from the Environment Agency, local authorities and Network Rail.  
The recent Environment Agency report (the Pitt Report) on the summer 
floods of 2007 highlighted the need for an increase in flood defence  
and mitigation funding to £1 billion a year by 2011 rather than the  
£800 million per year currently proposed by the Government. The report 
also suggests that substantially more investment is required for flood 
prediction and forecasting. There is already a notable move by water 
companies to improve their understanding of the risk of flooding to their 
critical assets and we are already leading the way in regard to this work. 

Middle East
There remains substantial investment in the United Arab Emirates (UAE), 
driven by a number of government-backed developers and the private 
sector. The focus is on developing an economy that is independent of 
oil and gas, ensuring suitable governance arrangements for local and 
central government, and on taking the UAE’s development and tourism 
model to other locations around the world. The development boom  
in Dubai will continue for another 10 years or more and Abu Dhabi 
recently announced plans for another US$200 billion (£118 billion) 
spend on infrastructure projects. There is strong demand for portfolio 
and programme management as well as the project and engineering 
management of infrastructure developments. As whole new towns 
emerge there is, in parallel, a growing need for municipal management 
services commissioned by the developers themselves. This is currently 
an immature and evolving market but sits well with Mouchel’s business 
in the UK. Most of our competitors focus on construction rather than 
operation of the infrastructure, giving Mouchel a distinctive position in 
this emerging market.

Business Review
Market Development
(continued)

Transport (continued)
Road travel on trunk roads and motorways has increased by nearly 
15% over 10 years and the use of driver information and Active Traffic 
Management (ATM) to manage congestion is increasingly important. 
The M42 motorway ATM scheme, project-managed by Mouchel, has 
been heralded a success and the concept is now being rolled out 
around Birmingham, with plans for other congested sections of the 
national network, allowing Mouchel to gain further benefits from its 
pre-eminence in this area. In cities, the emphasis on controlling traffic 
movements through charging systems is gathering pace, offering 
increased opportunity to Mouchel’s parking and traffic congestion 
management business. 

In England and Wales, the construction of new roads and motorways  
is no longer a major part of the highways programme but still accounts 
for around £1.9 billion of expenditure per annum, mostly on widening 
and safety schemes. However, in Ireland further investment in the road 
infrastructure is still very much part of the equation with estimates 
placing expenditure on roads in Northern Ireland at around £3.1 billion 
over the next 10 years and approximately €33 billion (£26 billion) on 
roads and public transport in the Irish Republic over the period 2007 to 
2013. Mouchel is developing a multi-disciplinary business in Ireland to 
provide expertise in highway design, road maintenance management, 
water quality and leakage management, and consultancy to the health 
and education sectors. 

The highway network operations market, worth a combined £3.4 billion 
to the Highways Agency and local authorities, is relatively mature and 
has, in recent years, consolidated to the advantage of a relatively  
small number of operators capable of providing both management  
and operational expertise in so-called ‘Managing Agent Contractor’  
(MAC) contracts. Mouchel, through its partnership with Enterprise 
(and previously with Amey), is one of those experienced and 
well-proven providers able to offer this type of service. A continuing 
stream of large, long-term opportunities to provide such services  
is expected to continue as current contracts are renewed. 

Expenditure in the rail sector has fluctuated in past years following  
the privatisation of British Rail. However, the government has since 
2000 pledged record levels of investment in the rail network under  
its Ten-Year Plan for Transport. Recent reviews have also resulted  
in a shift in funding from renewal to maintenance with Network Rail’s 
overall expenditure in this area set at £23 billion over the next five  
years. Mouchel is taking a cautious approach to the rail market,  
with focus shifting towards asset management, design and project 
delivery and away from contracting services.

In July 2007, the government published its White Paper, ‘Delivering  
a Sustainable Railway’, which announced a programme of investment  
to increase the capacity of the network. Network Rail is now proposing 
expenditure of some £9.6 billion in expansion schemes, £11.4 billion  
in renewals, £10.4 billion in operations, and £156 million in station 
improvements – making this an active market for civil, structural and 
related engineering services. The continuing development of London’s 
Crossrail project, which received its Royal Assent in 2008 and in which 
Mouchel has been involved since 2002, provides another substantial 
source of investment between now and 2017. Mouchel is continuing  
to invest in consultancy services in this market – including signalling 
design, civil engineering and structural engineering. 

Energy
The government’s 2007 Energy White Paper highlighted the importance 
of providing sustainable energy at affordable prices. In this Paper, the 
role of renewable sources was highlighted and their more extensive use 
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Our journey 
Mouchel is on a journey: constantly searching out new and better ways 
to do the things we do, enquiring and challenging, listening and leading. 
We are united in our belief that ‘good’ is not good enough.

Pride is very much in evidence throughout the business. We’re a 
company with a sense of fun, a spirit of adventure and a passion for 
success. We provide challenging careers for the ambitious, security and 
stability for those who seek it, and a great place to work for everyone. 
We encourage selflessness, reward achievement, and outlaw apathy. 

We know that people are our most important asset and go out of  
our way to attract lively, free-thinking professionals, place them in  
a stimulating environment, and nurture their particular talents to help  
them grow as individuals and as part of the Mouchel team.

All shapes and sizes
Our new logo is an illustration of who we are as a company – an 
outward-looking collection of people with many perspectives, many 
faces and many skills. It’s no surprise, perhaps, that our clients come  
in all shapes and sizes too. We’re building great relationships through 
the range of people we employ, celebrating our diversity and focusing 
on our differences. Women account for 26% of our workforce and our 
ethnicity has broadened by 2% in the last year. Our diversity policy 
doesn’t create quotas; it builds awareness, provides choice and we 
strive for respect for every one of our people. 

The number of people working for Mouchel has grown by 39% this year. 
The people we employ have an extremely broad range of backgrounds 
and skills and our approach to recruitment has changed to reflect this 
more diverse pool of talent. Some 55% of our new recruits found the 
opportunity directly through our internet site, through our referral scheme 
and using other online media, and all our more senior appointments took 
part in aptitude and psychometric testing. We made over 1,900 offers of 
employment in the last year and 85% of these were accepted.

We recognise that for many, mobility and the chance to work in many 
different environments is attractive, and we accept a level of voluntary 
staff turnover that reflects this prevailing attitude. At 13%, voluntary staff 
turnover is close to our industry norm, but in order to retain those we 
most value our aim, always, is to provide the choices and opportunities 
to which an individual may aspire at every stage in their career.

Business Review
Managing Talent in Mouchel

The development of our employees at  
all levels is key to the success of Mouchel.  
We have implemented a broad range of 
training and assessment processes to ensure 
that we retain and motivate our people.

Staff numbers1

08

07

11,341

8,168

5,967

5,195

4,120

06

05

04

Breakdown of staff by business stream
1 Highways – 30%
2 Government Services – 43%
3 Regulated Industries – 24%
4 Group functions – 3%

1

2

3

4

1  Average staff numbers are reported for 2004. 
Thereafter figures show actual staff numbers as at 31 July. 

1  2008 staff survey.

Working for Mouchel
•  83% of our employees say Mouchel  

is a great place to work1

•  90% say team communications  
work well

• 26% of our people are women
•  10% of our people work  

part-time

Our logo, an illustration of who we are
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Raising the bar
Great talent is not in short supply at Mouchel and our selection 
processes ensure that we keep the bar at a level which continues to 
meet our business aspirations – and those of our clients. We’re getting 
better, year on year, and it is evident that more candidates think of 
Mouchel first when considering their next career move. 

Shaping those talented individuals to the varied and many needs  
of our clients is our challenge as an employer and service provider.  
So the journey of discovery, for an individual in Mouchel, is never  
really over; and as a company we are constantly seeking new ways  
to equip ourselves to meet the changing world in which we all work. 

In the last year 3,000 people – that’s over a quarter of all employees 
– have attended our corporate training programmes in management 
and leadership. Online training forms a significant element in our training 
programme; for example, every single member of staff receives a robust 
grounding in health, safety and welfare issues through a series of online 
modules, which in turn makes our workplace a better and more secure 
environment. 

As line managers, project managers and technical experts, our  
people are commonly called upon to take the lead. Leadership skills 
abound in the company, fostered by a programme of progressive 
training beginning at junior management level and extending to an 
executive coaching programme for our most senior people. Equipping 
our people to become effective, confident leaders at a variety of levels  
is essential to our continuing success and another way in which we 
support the ongoing development of our business; leadership and 
direction is part of the service we offer.

Added to this, our leadership team – a group comprising the 60 or  
so most senior managers in the business – is taking part in a bespoke 
coaching exercise to strengthen communication skills and to spearhead 
a company-wide engagement programme through 2008/09. 

A great way of life
Making the grade as one of the UK’s top 20 larger employers in the 
Sunday Times ‘Best Big Companies to Work For’ league table in 2008 
was a milestone for us, ranking us amongst the country’s elite in terms 
of our ability to provide fulfilling, worthwhile careers for our people. 
 
Now, building upon this success and capturing the passion of our 
people to do more, we have launched Mouchel Life, an employee 
engagement programme that works with staff across the business  
to help them gain more from their relationship with the company. 
Mouchel Life addresses a range of issues from personal growth,  
pay and conditions to team development, community engagement 
and personal health and well-being. 

Business Review
Managing Talent in Mouchel
(continued)  16th

Our position in the  
Sunday Times ‘Best Big 
Companies to Work  
For’ league table
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Mouchel has again delivered significant 
growth in both revenue and underlying  
profit for the year ended 31 July 2008. 

Business Review
Current and Future  
Development and Performance

Key performance indicators

  2008 2007 % change

Revenue (£m) 656.7 448.4 +46

Underlying operating profit (£m) 41.7 33.0 +27

Operating margins (%) 6.4 7.4 –

Operating cash flow (£m) 38.0 31.4 +21

Cash conversion (%) 91 95 –

Order book (£m)1 2,100 2,200 -5

Bidding pipeline (£m)2 2,200 2,500 -12

Contract win rate (%)3 33 46 –

Staff numbers (31 July) 11,341 8,168 +39

Staff turnover (voluntary) (%) 13 14 –

1 2007 figure includes HBS order book of £0.7 billion.
2 2007 figure includes HBS bidding pipeline of £1.1 billion.
3 Win rate is calculated by contract value.

Revenue increased by 46% to £656.7 million compared with last  
year. Excluding the acquisitions of HBS and Hedra, and the additional 
revenue from the acquisitions completed in the prior year, underlying 
revenue rose by 14%, which was in line with our targeted organic 
growth rate of between 10% and 15% a year.

Profit before tax and exceptional items increased by 20% from  
£32.4 million to £38.8 million. As expected, operating margins moved 
from 7.4% to 6.4%, reflecting the initial impact of the acquisition of 
HBS. Now that HBS has been successfully integrated, we expect 
margins to improve and our medium-term target for the Group’s  
overall operating margins continues to be 8%.

We have delivered these strong results notwithstanding the current 
economic difficulties. Our activities continue to be mainly focused on the 
UK public sector and regulated industries and, to a large extent, comprise 
the maintenance and management of existing infrastructure assets. The 
defensive nature of these activities and recent diversification, both within 
our existing markets and, by acquisition, into new markets, mean that  
we have been less affected than other businesses by the recent turmoil  
in financial markets and the related upheaval elsewhere in the economy.

The results for the year included exceptional costs of £12.5 million  
of which £5.7 million (2007: £2.4 million) related to the amortisation  
of intangible assets arising from business combinations. The increase 
compared to last year was due to the acquisitions of HBS and Hedra  
in the year under review as well as the acquisitions of Traffic Support, 
Ewan Group and Hornagold & Hills, all of which were completed 
part-way through the prior year. Other exceptional items totalled  
£6.8 million and mainly comprised £5.8 million for integration and 
transition costs associated with the acquisitions of HBS and Hedra  
and £0.8 million incurred in the rebranding of the acquired businesses, 
and the Group as a whole. As a result of this expenditure we were 
targeting annual cost savings of £3 million in HBS and £1 million in 
Hedra, all of which have now been secured in full. 

The accounts for the year ended 31 July 2007 had included an 
exceptional net gain of £18.2 million from the reduction in the Group’s 
pension liability following the move from a final salary arrangement to  
a career average revalued earnings basis for the Group’s two main 
defined benefit schemes.

Profit before tax but after exceptional items was £26.3 million  
(2007: £48.1 million).

£41.7m
 Our underlying operating 
profit in 2007/08 –  
up 27%



 27%
Improvement in journey 
time reliability thanks 
to ATM

...we’re working with the 
Highways Agency to manage 
traffic demand on the M42

Our success
In September 2006 hard shoulder 
running commenced along the 17km 
stretch between Junctions 3A and  
7 of the M42.

Two years into the scheme a study  
on the initial 12 months of operation 
found that journey time reliability had 
improved by 27% during weekdays,  
with 95% of motorists complying with 
the speed limits. 

The Highways Agency is now  
expanding the innovative scheme  
onto other sections of the  
motorway ‘box’ around 
Birmingham including  
other sections of the  
M42, the M6 and 
the M40.

The challenge
Congestion is an increasing problem  
for users of our motorway network  
– making journeys unpredictable  
and, at times, frustrating. In 2002,  
the Highways Agency appointed 
Mouchel as Managing Consultant 
to deliver a revolutionary congestion  
management pilot project on the  
M42 near Birmingham Airport. 

The solution
The pilot scheme on the M42 
implemented new and innovative 
measures to manage congested 
motorways, including the use of 
mandatory variable speed limits  
and the use of the hard shoulder  
as a running lane under controlled 
conditions during periods of 
congestion, and to assist with  
the management of incidents. This 
became Britain’s first ‘Active Traffic 
Management’ (ATM) scheme.



Hardeep Sandhu 
Commuter

95%
Motorists complying 
with speed limits on  
the scheme
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Business Review
Current and Future  
Development and Performance
Highways

Key performance indicators 
– Highways

  2008 2007 % change

Revenue (£m) 221.2 201.9 +10

Underlying operating profit (£m) 16.6 14.8 +12

Operating margins (%) 7.5 7.3 –

Order book (£m) 588 501 +17

Bidding pipeline (£m) 870 717 +21

Contract win rate (%)1 35 53 –

Staff numbers (31 July) 3,480 3,488 0

Staff turnover (voluntary) (%) 13 16 –

1 Win rate is calculated by contract value.

Revenue included an additional contribution of £2.0 million from  
Traffic Support, which was acquired part-way through the prior year,  
in November 2006.
 
Over the last year, we have seen a definite trend towards focusing 
government highways expenditure on maintenance and traffic 
management rather than the building of new road infrastructure. There 
has been an increase in the use of technology to manage traffic and the 
Highways Agency (HA) is committed to a network-wide programme of 
Active Traffic Management (ATM). The move towards larger integrated 
contracts continues and our relationship with Enterprise, who acquired 
our previous partner in this area, Accord plc, has been very successful 
in addressing this market development.

Technology
The use of technology to control traffic, manage road space and 
regulate parking is now regarded by highway authorities as offering  
an effective, sustainable form of investment in many situations.

The acquisition of Traffic Support in November 2006 has helped 
strengthen our position as one of the UK’s leaders in highway 
technology solutions. The decriminalisation of on-street parking 
offences places new responsibilities on local authorities for parking 
enforcement activities. Mouchel is emerging as one of a small number 
of companies able to provide a fully integrated service in this area and 
during the year we won our first commission with the London Borough 
of Hillingdon – offering, in addition to parking management, other civil 
enforcement activities and related expertise including back-office 
processing, IT hosting and further on-street services. 

Congestion charging as a mechanism for traffic management in city 
centres is attracting further interest in Britain as a small number of 
authorities consider congestion management schemes. Mouchel has 
successfully secured a position in the IBM-led team that will become 
responsible for London’s congestion charging scheme in 2009.

During the year, revenue increased from 
£201.9 million to £221.2 million. At the same 
time, margins improved from 7.3% to 7.5%. 
The year-end order book and bidding 
pipeline figures were £588 million  
(2007: £501 million) and £870 million  
(2007: £717 million) respectively.

 1,200km
Trunk roads and motorways 
in Southern England under 
Mouchel’s jurisdiction in  
the HA’s Super Agency  
contract (Area 3)

16
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The M42 ATM pilot scheme, between the M40 and the M6, which 
attracted much publicity in 2007 when sections of motorway 
hard-shoulder were opened as active ‘running’ lanes during periods  
of peak congestion, was designed and project-managed for the HA  
by Mouchel. This scheme is now acknowledged to have been a very 
successful pilot and a model for further schemes; leading to Mouchel’s 
re-appointment by the HA to rollout ATM on other sections of the 
motorway network in the West Midlands, with the potential to address 
other similar opportunities elsewhere in the country in due course. 

During the year, we started work on two TechMAC commissions – 
contracts comprising the design, management and maintenance  
of technology assets on the road network – for the HA, and delivered  
in a 50:50 joint venture with Peek Traffic Systems. These involve the 
management of the HA’s technology assets in the East Midlands and 
East of England. We also secured and began work on a further HA 
technology project consultancy framework commission.

Network management
During the year, we enjoyed further success through the EnterpriseMouchel 
joint venture (formerly AccordMP). We have a 50% shareholding in  
this arrangement, which was formed specifically to address the move 
towards vertically integrated supplier relationships in the highways 
network management market. This is a trend which we see continuing.

Our biggest achievement in this sector during the year was to secure  
the HA Super Agency contract in Area 3 (South of England). This is the 
second largest vertically integrated maintenance management contract  
in the country, covering 1,200km of trunk roads and motorways (including 
parts of the M3, A3, A303, M4, M27 and A34) in Hampshire, Berkshire, 
Surrey, Oxfordshire, Buckinghamshire, Wiltshire and Dorset. Mobilisation 
of the commission has gone very well and the contract commenced on  
1 September 2008 and runs for five years (extendable to seven).

17

“ Since implementation of  
the ATM scheme on the M42, 
we’ve seen a reduction in 
congestion, noise and vehicle 
emissions, as well as improved 
journey time reliability for 
travellers during the busiest 
periods.” 
 
Eloise Phillips 
Project Manager,  
Mouchel
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sustainable transport and traffic management services. The alliance  
was formed in 2002 and followed our initial appointment in 1997, when 
the professional services contract with Hertfordshire County Council 
became our first highways win in the local government marketplace.

Elsewhere, we have just been named as the sole partner for the  
new highways and transport partnership commission with Leeds City 
Council for a minimum of three years with potential extensions of  
up to 10 years. The contract follows on from our previous five-year 
commission which finished on 1 September 2008.

Capital projects
During the year, we were appointed as client advisor to the Northern 
Ireland Roads Service on the 88km A5 Western Transport Corridor 
improvement scheme, between Derry and Aughnacloy in Northern 
Ireland. This is a regeneration project, jointly funded by the British and 
Irish governments, to make businesses and communities in the far 
north-west of Ireland and in the border regions more accessible from 
other parts of the island. It is currently the UK’s largest road-building 
project and, whilst Mouchel’s current role only extends to the planning 
and feasibility stage, we hope to extend our involvement to subsequent 
phases of this project.

Business Review
Current and Future  
Development and Performance
Highways (continued)

The success in Area 3 followed our first HA contract win through  
the EnterpriseMouchel joint venture in HA Area 1, covering 320km  
of trunk roads in Devon and Cornwall including the A30 and A38.  
The results for the year benefited from the first full year of trading 
following commencement of the commission on 4 September 2006  
for four years (extendable to seven).

We are currently bidding the latest round of HA Super Agency 
contracts. Whilst we have learnt that, along with the M25 DBFO,  
we have not been successful in Area 7 (East Midlands) and Area 9 
(West Midlands), we are still in contention for Area 12 (Yorkshire  
and North Lincolnshire). We are also positioning ourselves for the next 
round of HA maintenance management tenders which are expected  
to include Area 13 (Cumbria), where we are currently part-incumbent 
through our AmeyMouchel joint venture, and Area 14 (North Yorkshire, 
Durham and Northumberland).

In the local government field, we benefited from the full-year impact  
of the road maintenance and improvement commission for Transport 
for London in South London. The contract, which is for six years 
(extendable to 10), commenced on 1 April 2007, covers 234km  
of the strategic road network in nine London boroughs and includes  
three of London’s most strategically important connections – the 
Blackwall, Rotherhithe and Eltham tunnels.

We also recently secured a three-year extension to our three-way 
strategic alliance with Hertfordshire County Council and the term 
contractor, AmeyLafarge, delivering maintenance, safety engineering, 9

Number of London 
boroughs covered under 
our road maintenance and 
improvement commission 
for TfL in South London
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Hertfordshire Highways
Mouchel has secured an extension  
to its highways contract with 
Hertfordshire County Council.

 £221.1m
Revenues for Highways  
in 2007/08



 18.5%
Rise in number  
of pupils attaining  
five A* to C grades  
at GCSE in North  
East Lincolnshire

...we’re helping to improve  
learning and social care services  
in North East Lincolnshire
The challenge
In June 2005, the Department for 
Children, Schools and Families (DCSF) 
appointed a Mouchel-led team to work 
with North East Lincolnshire Council  
to improve learning and social care in 
the authority. In doing so the council’s 
children’s department became the  
first in the UK to be managed through 
a strategic partnership with a private 
sector provider.

The solution
From the start of the contract Mouchel 
worked with the DCSF to redefine the 
contract’s original targets, balancing 
the emphasis on inclusion and 
educational attainment. Mouchel 
implemented a three-year plan to 
achieve continuous improvement, 
working to build capacity at all levels  
– from council directors to school 
headteachers. Through its partnership 
approach it aimed to deliver a 
sustainable service by the end  
of the contract.

Our success
By the end of the contract the number 
of pupils attaining five A* to C grades 
at GCSE rose by 18.5%.

In addition, exclusions were reduced 
by 50% and the number of teenage  
girl smokers in the region was  
also halved.

Ofsted recognised the children’s 
department’s progress by moving  
it from an ‘inadequate’ status  
to ‘good’.



50%
Reduction in permanent 
exclusions and number  
of teenage girl smokers

Students of The Lindsey School  
& Community Arts College
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Business Review
Current and Future  
Development and Performance
Government Services

Revenue for the year increased from £101.4 million to £267.1 million, 
largely reflecting the HBS and Hedra acquisitions during the year, and 
the full-year impact of the Hornagold & Hills acquisition in the prior year. 
Excluding the impact of the acquisitions, underlying revenue increased 
by 26%, mainly due to the impact of the contract wins last year in 
Oldham and, to a lesser extent, in Cambridge and Islington.

As expected, operating margins for the year reduced from 9.2% to 
5.4% following the acquisition of HBS, but we expect these to improve, 
partly due to the synergies identified as a result of the HBS and Hedra 
deals and partly due to a larger management consulting business where 
typically we achieve higher margins compared to our other activities.

Following the acquisitions of HBS and Hedra, we anticipated securing 
synergies with an annual benefit of £3 million and £1 million respectively. 
Integration of the two businesses has now been successfully completed 
and the anticipated synergies have been secured in full.

At the year end, the order book and bidding pipeline were £1,218 
million (2007: £670 million) and £1,129 million (2007: £493 million), 
largely reflecting the acquisitions during the year.

The acquisitions of HBS and Hedra were, in part, driven by the need to 
address changes in the marketplace. We are seeing continued pressure 
on local authorities to improve services and reduce costs. The trend 
towards the bundling of contracts comprising a broader range of 
services for longer periods of time is continuing and this is creating the 
scope for further partnerships between local authorities and the private 
sector. Opportunities in education continue through the Building 
Schools for the Future (BSF) programme.

Key performance indicators 
– Government Services  
 
  2008 2007 % change

Revenue (£m) 267.1 101.4 +163

Underlying operating profit (£m) 14.4 9.3 +55

Operating margins (%) 5.4 9.2 –

Order book (£m)1 1,218 1,370 +12

Bidding pipeline (£m)2 1,129 1,593 +41

Contract win rate (%)3 27 29 –

Staff numbers (31 July) 4,832 1,966 +146

Staff turnover (voluntary) (%) 11 10 –

1 2007 figure includes HBS order book of £0.7 billion.
2 2007 figure includes HBS bidding pipeline of £1.1 billion.
3 Win rate is calculated by contract value.

Government Services comprises Mouchel’s 
existing long-term contracts in property, 
education and regeneration, together with 
the business process outsourcing (BPO) 
contracts from the former HBS business  
which was acquired in August 2007.

It also encompasses our management 
consulting activities, including the 
Hornagold & Hills and Hedra businesses 
which were acquired in November 2006  
and March 2008 respectively.

30 
Number of City Academies 
Mouchel is involved in
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Property and business process outsourcing
Mouchel continues to work on major property commissions with Kent, 
Bedfordshire, Oxfordshire and Cambridgeshire County Councils and 
the London Boroughs of Lewisham and Islington, and this year we have 
expanded our portfolio with the extension of our Surrey County Council 
contract and new commissions with Northumberland County Council, 
the Environment Agency and the Metropolitan Police Authority.

Our BPO offer complements our property services offer and 
allows us to compete more effectively in the local authority market. 
The acquisition of HBS has allowed us to develop service streams 
in ICT, fi nance and administration, procurement, human resource 
management, pension administration, revenues and benefi ts 
management, and payroll services.

This year we have been able to extend our partnership with Lincolnshire 
County Council by one year to 2011, as a result of which we are now 
hopeful of also securing the remaining four years’ potential extension 
which would take the contract through to 2015. In addition, we have 
delivered organic growth in existing commissions with Middlesbrough, 
Milton Keynes and Oldham Councils. Other partnerships, including our 
2020 Liverpool joint venture and the Impact Partnership in Rochdale, 
continue to contribute strongly to our performance.

Educating young pedestrians 
A road safety project run by the 
Unity Partnership, our joint venture with 
Oldham Metropolitan Borough Council.

“ Our partnership in North 
East Lincolnshire is about 
improving young people’s 
lives and their prospects 
for the future. It’s been a 
privilege to be a part of it.”

Peter Newton
Principal Consultant, 
Mouchel



32,000
The number of homes 
protected by Liverpool’s 
football CPZ

...we’re making it easier for 
residents in Liverpool to park 
outside their homes on match days

Our success
One of the principal objectives  
of the scheme was to discuss the 
proposals with the local community 
to allay any fears or concerns they 
may have regarding the proposals. 
This consultation was successfully 
carried out at the start of the project.

When the scheme eventually goes  
live in November 2008 it will secure 
parking for all residents and place 
greater emphasis on football fans 
using alternative transport. 

The challenge
With two separate resident parking 
schemes operating around Anfield 
and Goodison Park football grounds, 
Liverpool City Council decided that it 
needed a single controlled parking 
zone (CPZ) that would improve 
parking conditions for residents when 
matches are being played at either 
club. The importance of the scheme 
was heightened by the proposals  
for a new 60,000 seater stadium 
for Liverpool Football Club.

The solution
2020 Liverpool – Mouchel’s joint 
venture partnership with the City 
Council – devised a scheme that 
provides parking for residents in an 
area covering 714 hectares. During 
the summer of 2008 a team of 
engineers and technicians laid 
thousands of metres of new yellow 
and white lines and put traffic calming 
measures in place.



 714
Area, in hectares,  
covering the scheme

Liverpool residents  
on match day 
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“ The controlled parking zone 
has been really well received 
by the residents in this part  
of Liverpool. I feel very lucky 
to work on a project that’s 
had such a positive impact!” 
 
Sonia Smith
 Project Manager,  
2020 Liverpool 

Business Review

Business Review
Current and Future  
Development and Performance
Government Services (continued)

The impact during the year of the Unity Partnership, our joint venture 
with Oldham Metropolitan Borough Council, has been particularly 
significant. The contract, which started towards the end of our last 
financial year in April 2007, is for 12 years (extendable to 15) and  
covers highways, property, customer, exchequer and ICT services.  
This commission was originally secured in a 50:50 joint venture with 
HBS prior to the acquisition of the HBS business by Mouchel.

Other related markets offer similar opportunities to the local government 
sector, albeit on a different scale and with a somewhat different service 
mix. Our attention has been on the development of a business in the 
so-called ‘blue-light’ sector comprising police, fire and rescue, and 
ambulance services. Our five-year commission to provide property 
services to the Metropolitan Police Authority, won earlier this year, 
represents an early success in this area.

We have also recently secured payroll commissions for the police 
authorities in Lincolnshire, Leicestershire, West Yorkshire and 
Nottinghamshire, all of which are for three years (extendable to seven). 
Earlier in the year, we won pensions administration contracts for the 
police forces in Cheshire and Merseyside, both for five years, with the 
latter including payroll.

Education 
Investment in the UK’s education infrastructure continues and 
Mouchel’s proven ability to design, project manage, and commission 
modern education facilities gives us a solid position in this market.  
We are market leaders in the City Academies sector, having been 
involved in the project management of more than 30 City Academies 
across the UK.

The BSF programme – the government’s initiative to improve the 
infrastructure and IT facilities at every secondary school in Britain –  
is continuing to gather pace. The procurement of packages of design, 
construction and project management work under this programme  
has proved to be a lengthy process. During the year, we were appointed 
preferred bidder for the Group’s first BSF commission in the London 
Borough of Hackney. Contract negotiations are currently being concluded 
and financial close is imminent. The learning associated with this 
demanding procurement process has placed Mouchel in a strong position 
to benefit from further, similar opportunities and we are now one of two 
short listed potential providers in the London Borough of Southwark.

In North Somerset, Mouchel has just been awarded an ICT contract  
on a BSF programme, beating traditional competitors in this market  
and raising our credentials in this area. Also, in Liverpool, our 2020  
joint venture with the council has recently undertaken the design of  
the city’s first BSF scheme, in Walton.
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Management consulting
Mouchel’s Management Consulting business has evolved significantly 
over the past two years, such that today we are one of the leading 
independent consulting firms in the public sector market.

The acquisition, in November 2006, of project management and 
management consulting firm Hornagold & Hills was the first stage in  
the growth of Mouchel’s consulting business, merging with the Group’s 
existing management consultants to improve our industry reach and 
capabilities. Subsequently, with the acquisition in March 2008 of Hedra, 
Mouchel has developed into one of the largest independent consulting 
practices shaped exclusively to operate in the public service marketplace.

The new Management Consulting business operates across a number 
of markets: central government, local government, health, utilities, 
education, aerospace and transport. Services include business change 
and transformation consulting, systems engineering and technology 
services, procurement, and project/programme management. We 
currently have a major long-term role supporting Computer Sciences 
Corporation providing change and transformation consulting services 
for the NHS ‘Connecting for Health’ programme. 

Our Management Consulting business now works with clients ranging 
from HM Treasury and the Cabinet Office to local authorities, education 
delivery agents, the NHS and, in the private sector, Thames Water and 
the supply chain for the defence industry. In addition, the broader 
consulting capability is already providing additional transformational 
services to our bundled services clients such as Oldham, Lincolnshire 
and Middlesbrough, and stronger propositions for our major bids.

The Management Consulting business has also secured some 
significant new commissions since the acquisition of Hedra, including 
an appointment to work with a group of seven local authorities to review 
the potential for a shared revenue and benefits service operation in the 
North of Scotland.

The blue light sector 
Mouchel has a five-year commission 
to provide property services to the 
Metropolitan Police Authority. It is an 
early success in developing our ‘blue 
light’ business with police, fire and 
rescue, and ambulance services.



£4.5m
Estimated flood damage 
costs that the scheme  
will help to prevent 

...we’re helping to maintain safe 
river levels with the Almondbank 
Flood Prevention Scheme

At the core of the team’s work was 
engaging with the local community  
in the scheme’s outline design, with 
special attention being given to the 
needs of local businesses. This led  
to a successful public consultation 
where over 100 residents of the  
village discussed the proposals for  
the scheme with representatives  
from Mouchel and the local council.

Our success
Following the consultation process,  
an outline design will be finalised  
that will secure all properties  
and local infrastructure from  
major flooding events. 

The challenge
In response to a series of large-scale 
localised flood events, Perth & Kinross 
Council appointed Mouchel to design 
flood prevention measures to protect 
the village of Almondbank, which is 
situated less than three kilometres 
north-west of Perth.

In the past, flooding had caused  
a twin-arched bridge to collapse  
and resulted in millions of pounds  
in damage to residents and local 
businesses, including an aviation 
business and a trout farm. Flooding 
had also significantly increased bank 
erosion along the River Almond’s 
channel, threatening a local playing 
field pavilion and road access to the 
town’s bowling green.

The solution
Mouchel’s scheme design proposes  
a series of flood walls, embankments, 
demountable defences, pumping 
stations and sluices, as well as  
flood storage and erosion  
protection. Mouchel also  
highlighted listed structures  
at risk from flooding.



150
Estimated number of people  
to be protected by the scheme

Andy Commins 
Trout farmer, Almondbank
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The increase in revenue partly reflects the full-year impact of the 
acquisition of Ewan Group in November 2006, as well as strong growth 
in the underlying businesses. The slight improvement in margins is due 
to the repositioning of our rail activities towards higher value consultancy 
activities. We would expect the bidding pipeline and order book to grow 
as we begin to bid for the forthcoming AMP5 water contracts.

The marketplace for our services in this area remains largely buoyant. 
The indications are that there will be an increase in expenditure under 
AMP5 compared to previous periods. We are also continuing to benefit 
from the strong demand for infrastructure-related services in the Gulf.  
In addition, the present climate change and sustainability agenda is 
providing important consultancy opportunities for us.

Water and energy
We have grown our water business to be ranked in the NCE Consultants 
File as the third largest provider of water-related consultancy services  
in the UK and the largest provider in Scotland. We deliver a full range of 
services to our water utility clients from provision of strategic consultancy 
advice and professional engineering services right through to operational 
asset management activities, and currently we work for all the UK water 
companies, providing services through more than 40 framework contracts.

Business Review
Current and Future  
Development and Performance
Regulated Industries

Key performance indicators 
– Regulated Industries 
  
   2008 2007 % change

Revenue (£m) 168.4 145.1 +16

Underlying operating profit (£m) 10.7 8.9 +21

Operating margins (%) 6.4 6.1 –

Order book (£m) 294 329 -11

Bidding pipeline (£m) 201 190 +6

Contract win rate (%)1 42 44 –

Staff numbers (31 July) 2,671 2,391 +12

Staff turnover (voluntary) (%) 16 15 –

1 Win rate is calculated by contract value.

Revenue for the year increased from  
£145.1 million to £168.4 million, while  
operating margins improved from 6.1%  
to 6.4%. Both the order book and bidding 
pipeline at £294 million and £201 million 
respectively were broadly comparable  
with last year (2007: £329 million and  
£190 million respectively).
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“ Floods can cause serious 
problems for a community.  
I’ve been proud to be involved 
in a scheme that will help to 
protect both the residents and 
the businesses of Almondbank.” 
 
Paul Lambert 
 Graduate Engineer,  
Mouchel
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In September 2008, Mouchel took control of leakage detection  
for all eight zones in Thames Water’s North East and North West  
areas, while also picking up trunk main leakage management in addition 
to seepage management, as a related activity. As part of the contract, 
Mouchel will carry out leakage detection and associated activities 
across North London, covering two of Thames Water’s four network 
areas. The commission is expected to run to 2010, with the potential  
to extend a further five years beyond this.

We have also been awarded a place on a design framework for  
Severn Trent Water to undertake up-front feasibility and preliminary 
design ahead of their AMP5 capital programme. Our first commission 
under this framework is to carry out works related to the flood 
protection of Mythe Water Treatment Works, which was threatened 
during the severe storm events of the last 12 months. This represents 
an early first success as part of the overall AMP5 process and also 
expands our client base for capital design activities.

During the year, we won a new two-year network modelling and 
drainage commission with Severn Trent Water and extended our 
existing leakage detection contract by one year. We also secured 
additional work through our current commission with Scottish Water.

As well as providing services to the water industry, we also have 
comprehensive expertise in designing and managing strategic flood 
alleviation projects for local authorities, government agencies and 
developers. We have refocused our efforts in this area by combining  
our existing activities in this sector to give us a much more holistic 
approach, covering coastal as well as fluvial issues. 

As one of the top providers of services to the environment industry  
we have continued to further enhance our growth in the sustainability 
market through being appointed to the London Development Agency 
(LDA) Environmental Sustainability Panel. Within this panel we will assist 
the LDA in delivering a diverse range of sustainable development 
consultancy services. LandAspects, Mouchel’s land information 
management business, was appointed earlier this year to provide  
land referencing services to the Cross London Rail Link project and  
on a waterways estates project in the Irish Republic.

With changes in the cost and in the supply and demand of energy, 
Mouchel continues to develop new services for this increasingly 
important market sector. Although currently relatively small, our energy 
business has been very successful, growing threefold over the last three 
years. This growth has been achieved by building upon our existing 
relationships within the UK energy sector and by extending our 
overseas activities. The extension of our work in the UK Liquefied 
Natural Gas (LNG) sector through to international LNG projects in 
Kuwait already illustrates the early success of this strategic growth.
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International
Mouchel has grown its international business to become one of  
the largest providers of infrastructure services in the Middle East.  
We will continue to focus our services in four main areas: infrastructure, 
programme and project management, managed services, and water. 
United Arab Emirates (UAE)-government-backed prime developers 
continue to invest in major infrastructure projects in the UAE and we 
anticipate that this will continue to be a growing market for Mouchel.

In Dubai, Mouchel is working on a four-year contract to design  
and supervise the infrastructure, marine and landscaping works  
for the Dubai Waterfront development, the world’s largest waterfront 
development, consisting of 440km2 of water and land developments.

We have also secured our first three major infrastructure design projects 
in Abu Dhabi, following on from several engineering masterplanning  
and concept design commissions. The new major developments in 
Dubai and Abu Dhabi will be run by private authorities on behalf of  
the developers themselves rather than the municipalities and we are 
positioning ourselves to help set up and run these authorities.

Business Review
Current and Future  
Development and Performance
Regulated Industries (continued)

Rail 
According to the NCE Consultants File we are one of the top  
five consultants providing services to the rail industry in the UK. 
Our business covers a diverse range of services and operates  
with both Network Rail and London Underground, providing  
services to infrastructure owners and to other clients interfacing  
with the rail environment.

During the year we repositioned our rail business, moving more  
towards consultancy-based contracts and programme management 
opportunities where we believe that the activities are more profitable  
and less risky. We are now concentrating on three main areas: asset 
management, design and project delivery. We have been awarded a 
professional services framework with Network Rail and a property help 
desk service contract that provides us with order book visibility to 2013.

We also continue to work extensively with London Underground, where 
we are continuing to roll out a digital advertising media programme 
in support of CBS Outdoor. Since the financial year end Mouchel has 
been named as one of the bidders for the Cross London Rail Link 
(Crossrail) design framework and programme management partner 
commissions.

Mouchel is also part of a framework developing ground-breaking 
designs to reduce the temperature on London Underground’s station 
platforms as well as on its trains. The ’Cooling the Tube’ programme 
aims to manage temperature on the underground through a combination 
of improved ventilation and air-cooling solutions, designed for each 
location, and we have undertaken scheme designs for eight stations  
on the Central and Jubilee lines.

 3rd
largest provider of water 
consultancy services  
in England (NCE 
Consultants File)

£168.4m 
Regulated Industries 
revenues for 2007/08
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Dubai, Abu Dhabi and Kuwait
Mouchel’s team in the Gulf is involved 
in the design, project and programme 
management of major infrastructure 
and building developments in Dubai, 
Abu Dhabi and Kuwait.
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Risks and Uncertainties

Managing risks
Reducing risk and uncertainty in our clients’ business activities is an 
integral part of the service we provide at Mouchel. But the effective 
management of risk and uncertainty in our own business is also 
important. We regularly assess, at Board level and at project level, the 
various strategic, market and operational risks we face as a company. 

Mouchel maintains a register of the risks and uncertainties faced  
by the business as a whole; these are reviewed quarterly by the Group 
Management Board and our ongoing business strategy is developed 
with this risk climate in mind. A similar exercise is undertaken at 
business stream level, looking more specifically at the risks and 
uncertainties relevant to the particular marketplace and the services  
we provide within it. At project level we prepare and maintain risk 
registers to identify, assess and ameliorate the risks faced by our  
clients, our people and our company. In 2008 we introduced the 
‘safeguard’ risk management system to provide a more uniform  
and structured approach to risk assessment in the business.

Our principal risks arise in a number of areas, described below.

Market and economic environment
The current slowdown in the economy of the UK has direct or indirect 
impacts for most companies. Mouchel’s business is, however, largely 
focused on providing and managing the essential infrastructure on 
which our society depends, working almost exclusively for public sector 
and public service organisations within the British Isles. Demand for 
‘commodities’ like transport, water, energy and citizen services is 
relatively inelastic and, as our direct clients come under increasing 
pressure to realise further organisational efficiencies, reliance on private 
sector providers like Mouchel is expected to increase. 

We anticipate that the segments that are least susceptible to changes 
in the macroeconomic environment will include health and education, 
water and energy supply. Sectors that could see a levelling-off in 
spending include highway construction and non-educational property 
development, though this would be counterbalanced by increased 
demand for maintenance and asset management.

Mouchel has broadened its portfolio of service propositions in the 
last 12 months to improve resilience to macroeconomic change and  
our wider service combinations mean we are now able to leverage  
new revenue streams from existing commissions.

Mouchel regularly reviews its corporate  
risks and maintains a risk register  
which considers strategic and structural  
risks affecting the industry; financial, 
commercial and legislative risks; safety,  
health, environmental and security  
risks; managerial and organisational  
risks; and Group-wide operational risks. 
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Health, safety and security
The health, safety and welfare of our employees, our clients, and others 
affected by our activities are absolutely paramount. We work in a range 
of business environments, many of which present particular hazards  
to our people: road and rail traffic, heights and confined spaces, the 
potential for assault or abuse. In the past year we have strengthened 
our health and safety management structure, introduced new systems 
to report and evaluate incidents and competencies, and improved 
training and awareness across the Group. 

People
Our ability to attract, recruit and retain sufficient numbers of people  
with the appropriate qualifications, experience and attitudes is critical  
to our capacity to provide services to our clients. The breadth of our 
service portfolio now means we target candidates from a wider range  
of backgrounds than ever before and work done in the past year to 
raise the visibility of our brand means that we are better known in  
our sectors than in the past. Our pay and benefits are benchmarked 
annually to ensure that they remain consistent with industry norms  
and our staff development programme is comparable with the very  
best in the industry. 

Company growth
The growth of Mouchel, which continues to expand by 20% to 25%  
per year, risks outpacing our management systems, organisational 
structure and leadership capabilities. Since 2007 we have been 
investing in a new, enterprise-wide management information system 
which will ‘go live’ in 2009; and a strengthened leadership team of 
around 60 directors and senior managers improves the resilience  
of our operations and back-office support.

Acquisition strategy
The success of any acquisition is dependent upon the company’s  
ability to integrate the new business within the wider Group, to  
identify appropriate synergies quickly, to instigate management and 
organisational changes over a short transition period, and to build upon 
the complementary skills and abilities of the combined team. This year 
Mouchel has successfully delivered two major acquisitions, applying  
a now well-proven transition plan to achieve integration in the shortest 
possible time.

Reputation
Design, management and communication errors, accidents and incidents 
and poor stakeholder relationships could all threaten the reputation of the 
business. To minimise this risk we have strengthened our management 
systems, focusing in particular on consistency and best practice through 
the wider adoption of ISO 9001 (quality management), ISO 14001 
(environmental management) and OHSAS 18001 (safety) across the 
Group. We have also strengthened our corporate communications and 
brand management teams, building upon the wider visibility of our new 
brand to reinforce perceptions of the company within our core sectors. 

Competitive position
Our record in winning work is excellent. Competition in our major 
markets is significant but there are complex barriers to entry in areas 
such as highway maintenance and business process outsourcing  
which limit our exposure to new competition. Mouchel’s focus over  
the past year has been on building and strengthening relationships  
with our principal clients; our account management processes are 
being strengthened and we have improved the quality of feedback  
we obtain, on an independent and regular basis, from our clients. 

Joint ventures
A considerable proportion of our work is carried out in joint venture with 
other organisations; sometimes with our public sector clients but more 
commonly with other service companies. Such joint ventures allow us 
to extend the breadth of our offer and are essential in areas like highway 
maintenance and water services delivery, but we choose our partners 
with care, building relationships over time and across many contracts, 
as joint ventures do bring some additional risks to the Group. Highway 
network management commissions are now undertaken in joint venture 
with Enterprise plc, and we are enjoying early success on our Highways 
Agency commissions in the South West and Southern England under 
the EnterpriseMouchel banner. Where possible, and where it is 
appropriate to do so, we seek to acquire complementary businesses 
that allow us to undertake a greater proportion of our work using 
in-house teams; the HBS acquisition is a good example of this.
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Corporate Responsibilities

A separate Report describes our approach to Corporate Responsibility 
in more detail, but the following paragraphs provide a brief overview  
of our approach and activities.

Building trust
We are committed to demonstrating our values and principles through 
our day-to-day behaviour, and to conducting ourselves in a way that is 
responsible and ethical. To this end, we have created three key policies 
covering our conduct and ethics, fraud and whistle-blowing. We also 
have a share-dealing code. That code and the procedures associated  
with it are the responsibility of the Company Secretary.

One of our strengths as a company is the diverse skills, abilities, 
attitudes and demographics that we embrace. Our aim is to  
ensure diversity works for us as a positive business driver. We have 
established a Diversity Steering Group – chaired by a member of  
our Group Management Board – to take the lead on change across the 
organisation. We also have a Diversity and Responsibility Manager  
to provide a central focus for managing the diversity agenda  
across Mouchel.

We are also keen to communicate our corporate responsibilities clearly  
to our stakeholders. A part of this is our Corporate Responsibility  
and Sustainability Report, which is available both in printed form and 
electronically via our website (www.mouchel.com). In the Report, we 
highlight key performance indicators for our Corporate Responsibility 
programme wherever possible.

Mouchel’s business model is centred on  
the development and improvement of  
the infrastructure and services needed  
by society, working through public sector  
and public service organisations to raise  
levels of efficiency and value for money.  
So it is perhaps no surprise that we take our 
responsibilities to society, to the environment, 
and to our people extremely seriously. 

Our approach
Our approach to Corporate Responsibility is  
based on a series of commitments to our key 
stakeholders. These are as follows:

1.  to build trust with all of our stakeholders
2.  to meet community and society expectations  

by having a positive impact on the world  
around us

3.  to be a trusted partner to our customers  
and suppliers

4.  to nurture an organisation that our employees 
feel is a great place to work and one that they 
take pride in
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Environment and community
Providing benefit to local communities and the environment – for 
example, through safer roads, better schools, cleaner water and  
less pollution – is central to the work that Mouchel does.

By working with our clients to develop solutions that incorporate  
sound and sustainable results, we can maximise the opportunities  
for environmental enhancement. By encouraging our employees to 
engage in a wide range of social, environmental and economic initiatives 
in the communities within which they work, we are bringing further 
benefits to our customers as well as our employees, shareholders, 
business partners and a range of voluntary and charity organisations. 

During the last year our approach to managing our environmental  
risks has ensured that we maintained another clean record in terms of 
environmental prosecutions and regulatory action. We have continued 
to improve the accuracy of our operations’ environmental performance 
data, and have focused on aligning our measurement and reporting 
processes with the most appropriate best practice guidelines. 

Customers and suppliers
Mouchel’s aim is to be seen by its clients and suppliers as a trusted 
partner that keeps its promises and is in tune with their needs and 
expectations.

We continued to strengthen our approach by implementing a system  
of account management and appointing a customer relationship 
management team, who manage a programme of independent 
feedback interviews with key clients. These surveys complement 
feedback we collect at a project level, which are governed by  
policies and procedures defined in our Group Quality Management 
System (QMS).

Our Group QMS also defines the processes for selecting and 
appointing key suppliers. These include a vetting process which, 
depending on the level of risk to our business and our customers,  
will include a review of the supplier’s financial, health and safety, 
environmental management and quality management systems.  
We build effective, efficient and collaborative long-term relationships 
with our joint venture partners and suppliers.

People
Mouchel expects to employ around 15,000 people by 2012. Growth  
on this scale will be the natural outcome of being good at what we do: 
providing our clients with innovative, effective services and maximising 
the potential of all of our employees. 

We want to nurture a lively working environment, where people enjoy 
coming to work, have a clear sense of pride in the company, have a 
healthy work-life balance and feel recognised, rewarded and cared  
for. A strong culture is a valuable asset that helps us to work effectively 
with clients, partners, communities and each other.

We never compromise on the health, safety and welfare of our people 
and we apply an equal standard of care to our clients’ and partners’ staff 
together with others affected by our activities. Our human resources and 
health and safety teams work closely together on issues affecting the 
health and wellbeing of our employees and to provide guidance and 
support to our staff on work-life quality issues. 

We always consider requests for individuals to work flexibly to combine 
their needs with the needs of the business. Our flexible benefits scheme 
offers childcare vouchers and the opportunity to extend a number of 
healthcare benefits to employees’ families. We also have an employee 
assistance programme, which provides unlimited access to a free 
24-hour helpdesk offering independent advice, information and support 
on a wide range of work, personal and health matters.

In terms of health and safety, no enforcement actions were taken 
against the company in 2007/08 and the severity of accident-related 
injuries and work-related ill-health has remained low. We continue to 
investigate all accidents in order to continuously improve our safety 
behaviours and performance. So, for example, our accident incidence 
rate (AIR) is 206, which is significantly less than the industry average  
for the construction sector. There were 17 reportable accidents under 
the Health and Safety Executive’s Reporting of Injuries, Diseases and 
Dangerous Occurrences Regulations (RIDDOR) during the year, also 
well below the industry average.

 27%
of employees support 
their communities  
by volunteering
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Other Financial Matters  
and Business Outlook

Order book and pipeline
The bidding pipeline of potential contract extensions and other 
near-term opportunities was £2.2 billion at 31 July 2008, versus  
£2.5 billion at 31 July 2007 and £2.1 billion at the half year. Although  
we now expect the pipeline to reduce following the year-end and the 
determination of the latest round of HA maintenance management 
commissions, we would expect it to grow again in the near future 
through inclusion of the next round of HA contracts, several bundled 
service BPO contracts and the AMP5 opportunities in water.

Our contract win rate for the year was still within, albeit at the bottom 
end of, our target range of 33% to 40% of contracts tendered by value.

Cash flow and working capital
Cash generated from operations before exceptional costs was  
£38.0 million for the year ended 31 July 2008, compared with  
£31.4 million for last year. At 31 July 2008, net bank borrowings totalled 
£81.9 million, compared with a net cash and cash equivalents balance 
of £2.8 million positive at 31 July 2007 and net bank borrowings of 
£51.2 million at the half year. 

Cash conversion for the year was again excellent, with 91% of the 
Group’s underlying operating profit being converted into operating  
cash flow (i.e. cash generated from operations per note 33) versus 95% 
last year. Working capital management continued to be satisfactory, 
with the overall investment in unbilled revenue and trade receivables 
maintained at approximately two-and-a-half months’ revenues.

The overall cash performance for the period reflected the acquisitions  
of HBS and Hedra, the investment in working capital associated with 
recently secured commissions, additional pension contributions and 
exceptional integration and rebranding costs. 

On 1 August 2007, an unsecured revolving credit facility of £125 million 
was put in place jointly with Royal Bank of Scotland and Lloyds TSB  
to finance the acquisition of HBS, fund existing working capital 
requirements and provide capacity for the future growth and development 
of the business. On 4 March 2008 the Group extended this facility to  
£185 million, following the decision to acquire Hedra, the acquisition  
of which was completed on 5 March 2008, for a total consideration of 
£50 million, comprising £42 million in cash and £8 million in new Mouchel 
Group shares. Of the total facility, the original £125 million matures in 
August 2012 with the other £60 million maturing in September 2009.

At 31 July 2008, the Group’s forward order 
book stood at £2.1 billion, compared with  
£2.2 billion at 31 July 2007.  This represents 
more than three years’ revenues, meaning  
that we continue to have outstanding visibility 
of our future earnings. The contract wins  
in HA Area 3 and the BSF preferred bidder 
appointment in Hackney, together with the 
contract extensions in Hertfordshire and 
Lincolnshire, ensured that we were able to 
maintain the order book above £2 billion.
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Business Review

Taxation
The effective rate of tax on profits before tax and exceptional items 
was 26.7%, compared with 29.0% for the year ended 31 July 2007. 
The difference between the effective rate of tax and the statutory rate, 
which was 30% until it reduced to 28% in April this year, again reflected 
the benefit of additional reliefs, partly offset by the normal level of 
disallowable expenditure.

Pensions
Following the acquisition of HBS, the Group now operates three  
main defined benefit pension schemes: the Mouchel Superannuation 
Fund (MSF), the Mouchel Staff Pension Scheme (MSPS) and the  
HBS Business Services Group Limited Pension Scheme and also  
has admitted body status in the Teesside pre-funded defined benefit 
scheme. The Group accounts for all four schemes under IAS 19 
Employee Benefits. The IAS 19 charge for the year was £5.2 million for 
the four schemes, compared with £7.2 million in the same period last 
year for the two pre-existing schemes. The reduction in the charge 
partly reflects the changes to the MSF and MSPS schemes, whereby 
most members in the non-public sector sections of the two schemes 
moved from a final salary arrangement to a career average revalued 
earnings (CARE) basis for the calculation of their pension benefits.  
On this basis, the link to final salary was effectively removed for 
both past and future service.

At 31 July 2008, the total deficit under IAS 19 was £34.6 million  
before tax for the four schemes compared with £32.3 million for the  
four schemes at the half year and only £18.0 million at 31 July 2007 for 
the two pre-existing schemes. The movement in the deficit compared 
with a year ago reflects actuarial experience in the intervening period 
and inclusion of the deficits in the two HBS schemes, both of which 
served to increase the overall deficit. This was only partly offset by  
the additional company contributions during the year and the benefit  
of moving to the CARE basis referred to above for the two original 
Mouchel schemes.

From a funding point of view, the last actuarial valuations of all three 
main defined benefit schemes were undertaken at 31 March 2007. 
These have only recently been finalised, following which funding targets 
and related recovery plans have just been agreed with the relevant 
trustees. The next valuations fall due in March 2009 for the two original 
Mouchel schemes and March 2010 for the HBS scheme.

Earnings per share
Adjusted earnings per share increased 22% from 21.0p to 25.7p. 
Adjusted earnings per share is calculated after adding back shares  
held by the employee share trusts to the weighted average number  
of shares. Earnings are adjusted to exclude amortisation of intangible 
assets arising from business combinations and other exceptional items 
(net of taxation). Basic earnings per share was 17.9p (2007: 31.5p).

Dividends
It is proposed that a final dividend of 4.25p (2007: 3.45p) per ordinary 
share will be paid on 19 December 2008 to shareholders on the register 
as at 24 October 2008. Taken together with the interim dividend of 
1.85p, this gives a total dividend of 6.1p for the year, an increase of 
22% on last year.

Outlook
We have significantly strengthened the foundations for our continuing 
growth through the two acquisitions completed during the year. 
Between them, they open up a whole range of opportunities in both  
our existing and potentially new markets. The integration of both  
is complete and we have secured the synergies we were targeting.

We are very pleased with our progress over the last year. We have 
reported another outstanding set of results. Our profits have continued 
to grow strongly and our cash performance has again been excellent. 
We continue to have good visibility of our future income.

On behalf of the Board.

Richard Cuthbert
Chief Executive

Kevin Young
Group Finance Director
28 October 2008

£2.1bn
Forward order book – 
representing nearly  
three years’ revenues
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Board of Directors

1. Richard Benton n

Chairman (51)
Richard was appointed a Non-Executive Director of Mouchel in 1998, 
and was made Chairman in 2001. He remained Chairman following  
the merger of Mouchel plc and Parkman Group plc in September 2003.  
He is Chairman of the Nomination Committee. Richard is also Chairman 
of the Board of Trustees of the Foundation for Social Entrepreneurs  
and a Director of FSE World Limited. He was previously Non-Executive 
Chairman of Public Recruitment Group plc and a founder director  
of Capita Group in 1987, where as sales director until 1998 he was 
responsible for much of Capita’s early rapid growth and diversification.

2. Richard Cuthbert 
Chief Executive (55) 
Richard joined Parkman Group as Chief Executive in April 2002 and 
continued in this role following the merger of Mouchel plc and Parkman 
Group plc in September 2003. Prior to joining Parkman Group plc in 
2002 he was a senior director and a member of the Group Executive  
at WS Atkins plc. Richard is a Chartered Civil Engineer with extensive 
experience in the management of consultancy and outsourcing 
businesses in the UK and overseas.

3. Kevin Young
Finance Director (49)
Kevin joined Mouchel as Finance Director in 1998 and continued in 
this role following the merger of Mouchel plc and Parkman Group plc  
in September 2003. Prior to joining Mouchel plc, he was Group 
Financial Controller and Finance Director of the Consumer Logistics 
Division of Transport Development Group. Kevin is a Chartered 
Accountant who qualified and trained with Price Waterhouse.

4. Lynton Barker n

Non-Executive Director (60)
Lynton was formerly a director of Hedra Limited (formerly Hedra plc) 
from 2003 to 2008, and latterly Hedra’s Chairman before it was 
acquired by Mouchel on 5 March 2008. Prior to joining Hedra, Lynton 
was Head of UK Consultancy for PricewaterhouseCoopers and a 
member of their UK Main Board and of their European Consultancy 
Board. He was a Member of the Public Services Productivity Panel from 
2002 to 2007 and Chairman of the Scientific Services Agencies Board 
from 2004 to 2007.

5. Debbie Hewitt ♦ n •
Non-Executive Director (45)
Debbie joined Mouchel as an Advisor to the Board in April 2007 and  
was appointed a Director in September 2007. She is Managing Director 
of the RAC Automotive Group where she has worked since 1987. Prior 
to joining the RAC she held various commercial and HR management 
positions at Marks & Spencer. She is also a Non-Executive Director  
of Luminar plc, Domestic and General plc, NCC plc, the Office of 
Government Commerce, a Director of the Recovery Industry Support 
Charity and a Non-Executive Member of the Board of Communities & 
Local Government. Debbie has previously been a Non-Executive 
Director of De Vere plc and Alumasc plc. She has an MBA with 
distinction, is a Fellow of the Chartered Institute of Personnel 
Development and a Parish Councillor.

6. Ian Knight ♦ n

Non-Executive Director (57)
Ian joined the Mouchel Board as a Non-Executive Director in 2001.  
He is Chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the 
Nomination Committee. lan is also Non-Executive Chairman of QDS 
Environmental Limited and Delta Simons Environmental Consultants 
Limited, and Non-Executive Director of Morson Group plc, Elco Motors 
Limited and Physiocall Limited. He was previously Group Treasurer  
of the Yorkshire Water Group from privatisation in 1989 until 1998, 
when he became Finance and Strategic Development Director for its 
non-water subsidiaries, helping to grow these infrastructure businesses 
both organically and by acquisition.

7. Sir Michael Lyons n •
Non-Executive Director (59)
Sir Michael joined the Board of Parkman Group in June 2001.  
He was appointed a Non-Executive Director following the merger 
of Mouchel plc and Parkman Group plc in September 2003.  
He is Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member  
of the Nomination Committee. Sir Michael is Chairman of the BBC  
and his other appointments include Chairman of the English Cities 
Fund. He is also a Non-Executive Director of Wragge & Co and SQW 
Group Limited. He has undertaken a series of independent reviews  
for government, including the Lyons Review (2004 to 2007) into the 
future role and funding of local government. Previous appointments 
include: Acting Chairman of the Audit Commission (former Deputy 
Chairman), Non-Executive Director of Central Independent Television Ltd, 
Chief Executive of Birmingham City Council, Chief Executive of 
Nottinghamshire County Council, Chief Executive of Wolverhampton 
Metropolitan Borough Council.

8. Rodney Westhead ♦ n •
Senior Independent Director (64)
Rodney joined the Board of Parkman Group in June 2001. 
He was appointed a Non-Executive Director following the merger  
of Mouchel plc and Parkman Group plc in September 2003. He is  
a member of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and 
Nomination Committee and is the Senior Independent Director.  
Rodney is a Non-Executive Director of AEA Technology plc and 
Transense Technologies plc. He is also Non-Executive Chairman of 
Clean Air Power Ltd. Rodney was formerly Chairman of Carter and 
Carter plc, Group Chief Executive of Ricardo plc for nine years and  
a partner at Grant Thornton. Rodney is a fellow of the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants in England and Wales.

9. Amanda Massie 
Group Company Secretary (38)
Amanda joined the Group in October 2004. She was previously Group 
Company Secretary of WS Atkins plc and a member of their Group 
Management Board. Prior to WS Atkins, she worked in the City as 
Company Secretary for a group of insurance companies. Amanda is  
a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators.

♦ Member of the Audit Committee
n Member of the Nomination Committee
 • Member of the Remuneration Committee
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Share capital and change of control
The authorised share capital of the Company as at 31 July 2008 
together with details of shares issued during the financial year is shown 
in note 28 of the Notes to the Financial Statements on page 88. During 
the year, the Company’s ordinary share capital increased by 2,350,547 
as a result of the issue of shares to satisfy exercises under employee 
share plans and as part-consideration in respect of the acquisition of 
Hedra. The ordinary share capital as at 31 July 2008 consisted of 
112,088,261 ordinary shares of 0.25p each.

The rights and obligations attached to the Company’s ordinary shares 
are contained in the Company’s Articles of Association, a copy of which 
can be obtained on request from the Company Secretary. The Articles 
of Association can only be changed by a special resolution passed in 
general meeting of the shareholders. There are no special control rights 
or restrictions on transfer or limitations on the holding of ordinary shares 
and no requirements for the prior approval of any transfers. No person 
holds securities in the Company carrying special rights with regard to 
control of the Company. The Company is not aware of any agreements 
between holders of securities that may result in restrictions on the 
transfer of securities or on voting rights.

Each ordinary share (other than treasury shares, which have no voting 
rights) carries the right to vote at a general meeting of the Company.  
At any general meeting, a resolution put to the vote of the meeting shall 
be decided on a show of hands unless a poll is duly demanded. On a 
show of hands, every member who is present in person or by proxy at  
a general meeting of the Company shall have one vote. On a poll, every 
member who is present in person or by proxy shall have one vote for 
every share of which they are a holder. 

The Trustees of the Company’s Employee Share Ownership Plan Trusts 
(ESOPs) have waived their rights to dividends in respect of 1,925,304 
shares and do not exercise their right to vote in respect of such shares. 
The Company’s employee share schemes contain provisions relating to 
a change of control of the Company. Under these provisions, a change 
of control of the Company would normally be a vesting event, subject  
to any relevant performance conditions being satisfied. The Company is 
not a party to any other significant agreements that take effect, alter or 
terminate upon a change of control nor is it party to any agreement with 
the directors or employees providing for compensation or loss of office 
or employment that occurs as a result of a takeover bid.

Purchase of own shares 
The Company has authority from shareholders to purchase up to 10%  
of its own ordinary shares in the market. This authority was not used 
during the year nor in the period to 21 October 2008. The Board 
intends to seek shareholder approval to renew the authority at this 
year’s Annual General Meeting (AGM).

In accordance with the Companies (Acquisition of Own Shares) 
(Treasury Shares) Regulations 2003, companies are permitted to  
hold purchased shares rather than cancelling them. The Board has  
no current intention to purchase shares as treasury shares, other  
than as required for employee share schemes.

Directors’ Report 

The Directors present their Annual Report and the audited Financial 
Statements of Mouchel Group plc (the Company) and the  
Mouchel Group for the year ended 31 July 2008. 

Principal activities 
The Company is a consulting and business services group supporting 
clients in developing and managing their infrastructure assets. Services 
are delivered through three main businesses: Highways, Government 
Services and Regulated Industries.

Business review
The progress of the business during the year and anticipated future 
developments are discussed in the Chairman’s Statement and Business 
Review on pages 4 to 39 and provide information about the Group’s 
strategy, its business, its financial performance, key performance 
indicators, the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group  
and likely developments. 

Acquisitions
On 6 August 2007, the Group acquired the entire share capital  
of HBS Business Services Group Limited (subsequently renamed 
Mouchel Business Services Limited (MBS)), a business process 
outsourcing company with whom the Group was already working in 
partnership for Oldham Metropolitan Borough Council. On 5 March 
2008 the Group acquired Hedra plc (Hedra), a solutions and services 
business which provides advice and support to clients within the UK 
public sector.

Further details relating to the acquisitions can be found in note 35  
of the Notes to the Financial Statements.

Results and dividends 
The Group profit for the financial year after taxation and exceptional 
items amounted to £19.6 million (2007: £34.0 million). An interim 
dividend of 1.85p per share was paid on 30 May 2008. 

The Directors recommend a final dividend of 4.25p per ordinary  
share (2007: 3.45p) to be paid on 19 December 2008 to ordinary 
shareholders on the register at the close of business on 24 October 
2008. Total dividends relating to the year will amount to 6.10p per 
share. 

Financial instruments
The Group’s financial risk management objectives and policies can be 
found in note v of the Accounting policies on page 66 and note 24 of 
the Notes to the Financial Statements on page 84.

Directors 
Biographical details of the Directors who served on the Board during  
the year and their share interests can be found on pages 41 and 55 
respectively. On 3 September 2007, Debbie Hewitt was appointed  
as a Non-Executive Director, and on 1 April 2008 Lynton Barker was 
appointed as a Non-Executive Director. Rules about the appointment  
of Directors are contained in the Company’s Articles of Association.

Details of the remuneration of all Directors who served during  
the financial year and their service contracts are included in the 
Remuneration Report on pages 51 and 55. No Director was materially 
interested in any contract of significance to the Company’s business  
or the Group. 

During the year, the Group has maintained cover for its Directors  
and officers and those of its subsidiary companies under a directors’  
and officers’ liability insurance policy, as permitted by the Companies  
Act 2006.
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Directors’ Report 
(continued)

Substantial shareholders 
As at 7 October 2008, the Company had been notified of the following 
voting interests in its ordinary share capital, disclosable under the 
Financial Services Authority’s Disclosure and Transparency Rules:
  
  No. of % of issued 
Name of holder ordinary shares  share capital

BlackRock Investment Management Ltd 11,116,432 9.9%
Schroder Investment Management Ltd 7,664,861 6.8%
Aegon Asset Management 5,872,001 5.2%
Legal & General Investment Management Ltd 5,498,210 4.9%
Old Mutual Asset Managers 4,626,932 4.1%
Threadneedle Asset Management Ltd 3,874,600 3.5%
Invesco Perpetual 3,816,373 3.4%

Corporate governance 
A report on corporate governance can be found on pages 46 to 50. 

Corporate Responsibility 
A summary of the Group’s Corporate Responsibility activities can be 
found in the Business Review on pages 36 and 37. In addition, the 
Group has produced a separate Corporate Responsibility Report, which 
provides more detailed information with respect to the environment, 
health and safety and employees. A copy of the Report is available  
on the Company’s website.

Employees 
As at 31 July 2008, there were 11,341 employees working for  
the Group. The acquisition of MBS in August 2007 and Hedra in  
March 2008 increased the employee numbers by 2,700 and 600 
respectively. The Group’s policy is to provide an environment for 
all employees to fully develop their individual potential and thereby 
encourage their contribution to the success of Mouchel. The Group 
places considerable value on the involvement of its employees and 
has Investors in People accreditation for all its UK offices and sites.

Internal communication is a high priority within the Group and  
employees are kept informed on matters affecting them as employees 
and on the Group’s financial performance. This is achieved through  
informal and formal meetings and various communications. Following the 
announcement of the Group’s final and interim results, staff presentations 
are made in various locations across the Group by the senior management 
team. The Group uses its intranet to communicate job vacancies, Group 
policies and other Company news.

Staff opinions are sought annually via a confidential staff survey.  
The results of the survey are communicated to staff and action  
plans are implemented to make improvements.

Employees are encouraged to own shares in the Company and  
this is actively promoted via the Sharesave scheme.

The Group has a diversity and equal opportunities policy and is 
committed to providing equal opportunities to all employees and 
job applicants irrespective of gender, race, age, religion, disability  
or sexual orientation.

The Group’s policy and practice in respect of disabled persons  
is to encourage the recruitment and subsequent training, career 
development and promotion of disabled persons and the retention  
and retraining of employees who become disabled, on the basis  
of their aptitude and abilities.

The Group also has a policy of ensuring it offers family-friendly working 
arrangements. We consider requests for individuals to work flexibly  
to meet their needs and the needs of the business. Some people also 
have more formal arrangements in place such as part-time working  
and job-sharing. Our flexible benefits scheme offers childcare vouchers  
and the opportunity to extend a number of healthcare benefits  
to employees’ families.

Learning and development is critical to the success of Mouchel and  
we have a performance management system that provides a bi-annual 
opportunity for employees to discuss their progress and identify training 
needs. We provide our employees with a wide range of resources to 
assist with their personal development, which includes a mix of formal 
training and online self-learning.

Charitable and political donations
During the financial year 2007/08, the Group made charitable donations 
of £62,431 to a range of charities, matching an equal amount raised 
by staff. A further £17,986 was donated to other charities, making total 
charitable donations for the year of £80,417 (2007: £41,689).

We have developed a new community involvement policy, encouraging 
our employees to form long-term relationships with local charities, by 
focusing on volunteer work and fundraising which benefits the local 
community. We believe that these efforts will now have a significant 
impact and will build on the benefits we are already providing through  
the Group’s contracts with local authorities. The Group will match both 
time volunteered and funds raised and we aspire to devote time and 
resources to the community equivalent to 1% of pre-tax profits.

It is the Group’s policy not to make political donations in the UK  
or overseas and the Group has no intention of making any political 
donations or incurring such expenditure in the future. However, the 
Political Parties, Elections and Referendum Act (the PPER Act) and  
part 14 of the Companies Act 2006 (the 2006 Act) define political 
parties, other political organisations or independent election candidates 
very widely. The Board will therefore seek authority at the forthcoming 
AGM for the Company and any company that is or becomes a 
subsidiary during the period ending on the date of the AGM 2009 to 
incur such political expenditure up to £100,000 in aggregate in order  
to prevent an inadvertent breach of the PPER Act and the 2006 Act. 

Freehold land and buildings
The market value of freehold land and buildings is estimated at  
£9.5 million and its carrying value is £4.0 million.

Research and development
During the year, the Group incurred research costs of £352,000 relating 
to a Group-wide business transformation system project. The system 
will be introduced in phases over the course of the next two years, with 
phase 1 scheduled for implementation in 2008.

Supplier payment policy
Mouchel Group plc is a holding company and has no trade creditors. 
Group companies aim to adhere to the payment terms agreed with 
suppliers. Payments are contingent on the supplier providing goods  
or services to the required standard, and purchasing is sometimes 
co-ordinated between Group undertakings.

As at 31 July 2008, the Group had an average of 42 days purchases 
owed to trade creditors (2007: 54 days). This represents the ratio, 
expressed in days, between the amounts invoiced to the Group by  
its suppliers in the year to the trade creditors at year-end.
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Statement of Directors’ responsibilities
The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report,  
the Directors’ Remuneration Report and the Financial Statements  
in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare Financial Statements  
for each financial year. Under that law the Directors have prepared the 
Group and Parent Company Financial Statements in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the 
European Union. The Financial Statements are required by law to give  
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and the Group 
and of the profit or loss of the Company and the Group for that period.

In preparing those Financial Statements, the Directors are required to:

•	 	select	suitable	accounting	policies	and	then	apply	them	consistently;
•	 	make	judgements	and	estimates	that	are	reasonable	and	prudent;
•	 	state	that	the	Financial	Statements	comply	with	IFRSs	as	adopted	 

by	the	European	Union;
•	 	prepare	the	Financial	Statements	on	the	going	concern	basis,	 

unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Group will continue  
in business, in which case there should be supporting assumptions  
or qualifications as necessary.

The Directors confirm that they have complied with the above 
requirements in preparing the Financial Statements.

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records  
that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position 
of the Company and the Group and to enable them to ensure that the 
Financial Statements and the Directors’ Remuneration Report comply  
with the Companies Act 1985 and, as regards the Group Financial 
Statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation. They are also responsible  
for safeguarding the assets of the Company and the Group and hence  
for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud  
and other irregularities.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the 
Company’s website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the 
preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from 
legislation in other jurisdictions.

Going concern
The Financial Statements have been prepared on a going concern basis 
as, after making appropriate enquiries, the Directors have a reasonable 
expectation that the Group has adequate resources to continue in 
operational existence for the foreseeable future.

Auditors
Having made enquiries of fellow Directors, each of the Directors who  
was a member of the Board at the time of approving the Directors’ 
Report confirms that to the best of each Director’s knowledge and 
belief, there is no relevant audit information (i.e. information needed by 
the Company and Group’s Auditors in connection with preparing their 
Report) of which the Company and Group’s Auditors are unaware and 
that each Director has taken all steps that they ought to have taken as  
a Director to be aware of any relevant audit information and to establish 
that the Company and Group’s Auditors are aware of that information.

Resolutions to re-appoint PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as Auditors 
of the Company and to authorise the Audit Committee to determine  
their remuneration will be put to the members at the AGM.

Annual General Meeting
The AGM of the Company will be held at the offices of RBS,  
3rd Floor Conference Centre, 250 Bishopsgate, London EC2M 4AA  
on 11 December 2008 at 10.30 a.m. The business to be put to  
the shareholders is detailed in the separate Notice of Meeting 
accompanying this Report.

Approved by the Board of Directors and signed on its behalf

Amanda Massie
Group Company Secretary 
28 October 2008
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Corporate Governance Report

The Board is committed to the principles of good corporate governance 
set out in the Combined Code on Corporate Governance adopted by  
the Financial Reporting Council in July 2006 (the Code). This Report 
sets out the Company’s compliance with the Code. The Company also 
seeks to comply with various corporate governance guidelines such  
as those issued by the Association of British Insurers and the National 
Association of Pension Funds. 

Statement of compliance with the Combined Code 
During the year the Company conducted a review of corporate 
governance and has complied with the provisions set out in  
section 1 of the Code except in respect of the number of independent 
Non-Executive Directors appointed to the Audit and Remuneration 
Committees for the first three months of the financial year. Debbie 
Hewitt was appointed to the Audit, Remuneration and Nomination 
Committees in October 2007 and since then the Company has been 
fully compliant with the provisions of the Code. 

The Board 
The Board comprises the Non-Executive Chairman, two Executive 
Directors and five Non-Executive Directors. The Board believes that  
all Non-Executive Directors are independent of management and have  
no business or other relationships which could materially interfere with  
the exercise of their independent judgement. The roles of the Chairman 
and Chief Executive are separate and clearly defined. Lynton Barker  
was appointed as Non-Executive Director in April 2008 and deemed  
by the Board to be independent on his appointment. It is acknowledged 
however, that Mr Barker’s previous position as Chairman of Hedra, a 
company acquired by the Group in March 2008, means that by strict 
definition of the Code, he is not deemed to be independent. Mr Barker 
plays a non-executive role within the Group and does not have  
any executive responsibilities.

The Board annually reviews the composition of the Board and is  
aware that as the Company grows there may be the need for additional 
Non-Executive Directors to be appointed. Directors’ biographical  
details are set out on page 41, together with details of Board 
Committee memberships.

The role of the Board 
The Board’s principal responsibility is to deliver shareholder value  
and provide an overall vision and leadership for the Group. It also has 
an oversight role, monitoring operational plans and ensuring internal 
controls and risk management are effective. There is a formal schedule 
of matters reserved for the Board, which provides a framework for the 
Board to oversee the control of the Group’s direction and affairs. These 
include the approval of the Financial Statements and dividends, strategy, 
acquisitions and disposals, major projects, contracts, delegated 
authorities, major capital expenditure, risk management strategies, 
health and safety and succession planning. Whilst the Board is 
responsible for the overall strategy of the Group, and meets at least 
once a year to review strategy and the future of the business, the 
implementation of the strategy is delegated to the Chief Executive.  
The Board is assisted in carrying out its duties by the Board 
Committees which are described on pages 47 to 49. The Directors  
are satisfied that the Board continues to deliver a strategic vision  
and effective leadership for the Group. 

Board processes 
The Board is scheduled to meet monthly and no less than 10 times  
a year. In the year under review, the Board met 13 times. The Board 
also meets at least once a year to review the strategic direction of the 
Group. In addition to normal scheduled meetings, the Board convenes 
to deal with urgent matters. A table showing attendance of the main 
Committees and the Board is on page 49. Comprehensive papers are 
circulated to Directors in advance of Board meetings and presentations 
made at meetings where appropriate.

The Chairman and Non-Executive Directors meet annually without  
the Executive Directors present. The Senior Independent Director is 
responsible for leading the appraisal of the Chairman’s performance  
with the other Non-Executive Directors. 

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, one-third  
of the Board is required to retire by rotation each year, but if any Director 
has, at the start of the AGM, been in office for three years or more since 
his or her last appointment or re-appointment, he or she shall retire at 
the AGM. In addition, any Director appointed during the year is subject 
to election at the AGM after their appointment. The Non-Executive 
Directors are appointed for an initial three-year term after which they  
are subject to annual re-appointment. 

Chairman 
Richard Benton became Chairman of Mouchel in 2001 and of the 
combined Group in 2003. He also chairs the Nomination Committee.  
The Chairman carries responsibility for ensuring the efficient operation  
of the Board and its Committees, for ensuring that corporate 
governance matters are addressed, and for representing the Group 
externally and communicating with shareholders when required. 

Chief Executive 
The Chief Executive, Richard Cuthbert, is responsible for the executive 
management of the Group. He is responsible for leading the development 
and implementation of the Group’s strategy following its approval  
by the Board. The Chief Executive is also responsible for chairing the 
Group Management Board, and leading and motivating the senior 
management team, ensuring that their interests are aligned with the 
shareholders’. The Chief Executive leads the communication programme 
with analysts and potential investors, providing feedback to the Board 
on a regular basis.

Senior Independent Director
The Senior Independent Director, Rodney Westhead, is available to 
shareholders should they have concerns which contact through the 
normal channels of Chairman, Chief Executive or Finance Director  
have failed to resolve or for which such contact is inappropriate.  
He is responsible for leading the meeting of the Non-Executive Directors 
at least once a year, without the Chairman present, to appraise the 
Chairman’s performance, and on such other occasions as are  
deemed appropriate.
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Company Secretary
All Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company 
Secretary and may, in furtherance of their duties, seek independent 
professional advice, including legal advice at the Company’s expense. 
The Company Secretary is responsible for ensuring that Board 
procedures and applicable rules and regulations are followed.  
The Company Secretary, in consultation with the Chairman, ensures 
that the information presented to the Board is not only timely but of 
sufficient quality to enable members to make informed decisions. 

Board performance and evaluation 
The Board is committed to evaluating its own performance. This year,  
the Board undertook a formal and thorough evaluation of its own 
performance and that of its Committees. The evaluation was conducted 
in accordance with suggestions for good practice contained in the  
Higgs Report. Each Board member completed a detailed questionnaire, 
the responses to which were all reviewed by the Chairman and 
discussed with the entire Board. In 2008, the Board considered the 
merit of using an external body to manage the performance evaluation 
process and concluded that it remained appropriate for the Board to 
evaluate its own performance.

The evaluation covered areas such as the Board’s role and culture, 
strategy, current issues and performance, investors, risk management  
and controls, individual Board member contributions, knowledge and skills, 
Board structure, succession planning, Board meetings and Committees 
(including the Audit, Remuneration and Nomination Committees). The 
outcome of the evaluation was positive and a number of actions have 
already been taken. The outcome of the evaluations undertaken over the 
past four years was also reviewed and the progress on any actions noted. 
There has been an increase in the availability of continued professional 
development for the Directors. Succession planning throughout the Group 
and up to Board level has also been improved. 

Directors’ induction and training 
The Board meets regularly with key senior managers in order to gain  
a better understanding of the businesses. A formal schedule of annual 
updates on legislative and regulatory changes with respect to Directors’ 
duties, listing rules, health and safety and corporate governance is  
built in to the Board agenda when required. These presentations are 
provided, where relevant, by the Company’s Corporate Lawyers, 
Brokers, Health and Safety Director or Company Secretary. External 
training is also made available where appropriate. Board members are 
able to attend external courses where they feel that these will keep 
them updated or will improve their effectiveness as a Director. 

On appointment, new Directors undertake a wide-ranging induction 
programme. This programme includes an introductory pack prepared  
by the Company Secretary, providing information on the Company,  
such as terms of reference, Board processes, compliance, governance 
and business area reviews. Site visits and meetings with key senior 
management, the Group’s Auditors, Lawyers, Brokers and Remuneration 
Consultants are also arranged. The Directors also attend external courses 
where necessary. 

The aim of the induction programme is to equip the Directors with 
up-to-date knowledge of their duties, and on the Company and its 
businesses to enable them to participate fully at Board meetings. Both 
Lynton Barker and Debbie Hewitt undertook the induction programme 
on joining as Non-Executive Directors and found their induction 
programmes informative and appropriate.

Board Committees 
The Board is assisted in discharging its responsibilities through the  
Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee, 
Banking Committee, General Business Committee, Disclosure Committee 
and Shares Committee. Membership of the Audit, Remuneration and 
Nomination Committees consists wholly of Non-Executive Directors.  
In addition to the Board Committees, the Group Management Board 
assists the Chief Executive in implementing the day-to-day 
management responsibilities of the Group.

Each Committee has clearly defined terms of reference which  
are reviewed annually. The terms of reference are available on the 
Company’s website. The Board is kept fully informed of the decisions  
of its Committees and the minutes are circulated with the Board papers. 
A summary of the Committees of the Board and their membership is 
provided below. 

Group Management Board
The Group Management Board (GMB) supports the Chief Executive 
and other Executive Directors in the performance of their duties, including:

•	 	the	development	and	implementation	of	strategy,	the	Group	
corporate plan and operational plans, policies, procedures  
and	budgets;

•	 	the	monitoring	of	operating	and	financial	performance	on	a	 
day-to-day	basis;

•	 the	assessment	and	control	of	risk;
•	 the	prioritisation	and	allocation	of	resources;
•	 	ensuring	active	co-operation	and	communication	between	all	parts	 

of	the	business;
•	 monitoring	of	competitors;	and	
•	 leading	and	facilitating	change	and	learning	in	the	organisation.

The GMB is chaired by the Chief Executive, and comprises the Group 
Finance Director, the Company Secretary, the HR Director and the 
Managing Directors of the principal businesses. 

Audit Committee 
The Audit Committee, chaired by Ian Knight, assists the Board 
in discharging its responsibilities regarding the Group’s Financial 
Statements and associated announcements, the adequacy of internal 
control and risk management systems and the work of the external 
Auditors. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee were reviewed 
during the year, and a copy of the current terms of reference is available 
on the Company’s website. The Committee’s other members are Debbie 
Hewitt and Rodney Westhead. The Board believes that Ian Knight and 
Rodney Westhead have recent and relevant financial experience.
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The external Auditors, the Group Finance Director, the Group Financial 
Controllers and the Chief Executive regularly attend meetings at the 
invitation of the Committee. The Audit Committee is scheduled to meet 
no less than three times a year and met three times during the year under 
review. At the beginning of each meeting, the Committee meets the Auditors 
without the presence of the Executive Directors, and then separately 
with the Executive Directors without the presence of the Auditors. 

The Audit Committee is responsible for the integrity of the Financial 
Statements and the Group’s internal controls and risk management 
structure. During the year, the Committee’s deliberations included the 
following matters: 

•	 	the	review	of	Half-Year	and	Full-Year	financial	results	in	advance	 
of their consideration by the Board, paying particular attention to 
significant financial reporting judgements, any changes in accounting 
policies	and	practices	and	any	findings	post	audit;	

•	 	the	review	of	the	nature	and	scope	of	the	external	audit	and	the	
findings	of	the	Auditors	in	respect	of	Annual	and	Half-Year	Reports;	

•	 	the	review	of	the	Auditors’	independence	and	the	policy	on	the	
provision	of	non-audit	services;

•	 	the	recommendation	of	the	re-appointment	of	PricewaterhouseCoopers	
LLP	as	Auditors	and	the	setting	of	their	remuneration;

•	 	the	monitoring	of	the	Group’s	financial	and	non-financial	risk	and	
internal	controls;	

•	 	the	review	of	the	effectiveness	of	the	internal	systems	with	respect	 
to	financial	control	and	Group	risk;	

•	 a	review	of	the	necessity	for	an	internal	audit	function;	
•	 	a	review	of	the	means	by	which	employees	may	raise	concerns	

regarding	the	systems	of	internal	financial	control;	and	
•	 a	review	of	the	whistle-blowing	policy	and	the	fraud	policy.	

In the absence of an internal audit function, the Audit Committee 
reviewed the necessity for such a function. An internal independent 
Business Review Function was introduced in 2007 and provides further 
rigour to the internal control and risk management process. The Audit 
Committee reviewed the effectiveness of the independent Business 
Review Function in conjunction with the other risk management and 
control processes throughout the Group and concluded that the 
controls and wider business review processes in place were robust  
and sufficient to meet the needs of the Group without an internal audit 
function. The internal control and risk management processes are 
discussed in more detail on pages 49 and 50. 

Prior to the award of non-audit work, the Audit Committee reviews  
and determines which firm is able to offer the most appropriate  
advice which is in the best interests of the Company, its shareholders 
and stakeholders.

During the year, non-audit services have been provided by 
PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC) covering pensions advice, tax advice 
and acquisition due diligence. On pensions, a beauty parade of five 
advisors was undertaken before appointing PwC as pensions advisor  
to the Company. On tax advice, given its working knowledge of the 
Group and its structure, the Audit Committee deemed it appropriate to 
use PwC as another firm would have to spend considerably more time, 
and therefore incur cost, in understanding the structure and workings  
of the Group. On acquisition advice, it was judged that PwC’s working 
knowledge of the Group was essential to due diligence work and 
without that knowledge, additional costs would have been incurred.

In each case, where non-audit services are used, a separate Partner 
who is independent of the Audit Engagement Partner is appointed  
to manage and sign off that work to ensure that there is no question  
of conflict or independence. The Audit Committee debates the 
appropriateness of appointing PwC and weighs up the benefit of PwC’s 
working knowledge of the Group against other firms to consider which 
firm will provide the most appropriate and cost-effective services. 

A breakdown of audit and non-audit fees can be found in note 4 of the 
Notes to the Financial Statements on page 71.

Banking Committee
The Banking Committee comprises any two Directors and is authorised, 
amongst other things, to carry out administrative matters relating to the 
Group’s bank accounts, to approve agreements relating to loans and 
other facilities, to approve changes to authorised instruments, to enter 
into any corporate treasury transactions up to a maximum amount  
of £25 million in respect of finance leases, debentures, bonds, loan  
notes and other securities, to approve any transactions under the 
Company’s credit facility and to approve any documents amending  
the Company’s banking facilities provided that the amendments are  
not material. The minutes are circulated and noted by the Board at 
subsequent Board meetings.

Disclosure Committee
The Disclosure Committee assists and informs the Chief Executive on  
his decisions concerning the identification of inside information and its 
disclosure. The Disclosure Committee comprises the Chief Executive 
and the Group Finance Director and/or any other Director of the 
Company and meets as and when required. The Disclosure Committee 
also	reviews	the	Company’s	Annual	Reports,	Half-Year	Results	
announcements and all other material disseminated to shareholders. 
The minutes are circulated and noted by the Board at subsequent 
Board meetings.

General Business Committee 
The General Business Committee enables the Board to deal with 
time-critical issues that arise between Board meetings that are within  
the ordinary course of business. Its membership consists of any two 
Directors. The minutes are circulated and noted by the Board at 
subsequent Board meetings. 

Nomination Committee 
The Nomination Committee is chaired by Richard Benton. Its members 
comprise Ian Knight, Sir Michael Lyons, Rodney Westhead, Debbie 
Hewitt and Lynton Barker. The Chief Executive attends by invitation  
of the Committee. The Committee is responsible for reviewing the 
structure, size, composition and skills of the Board, presenting suitable 
candidates to fill Board vacancies, reviewing succession planning for 
the Board and senior managers, evaluating the time commitment of the 
Chairman and Non-Executive Directors, undertaking the performance 
evaluation of the Board and reviewing the re-appointment of 
Non-Executive Directors. 

The Committee’s performance was evaluated as part of the overall  
Board evaluation exercise. The Committee is responsible for assessing 
the composition, diversity and skill set of the Board and is aware that  
as the Company grows there may be a future need to expand the size 
of the Board. The Committee will regularly review this need. There is a 
robust procedure for selecting candidates for vacancies. An external 
executive search consultant is used to identify and recommend suitable 
candidates who are shortlisted by the Remuneration Committee. 
Candidates then undergo a rigorous interview process and references 
are taken from Advisors and other companies to whom the candidates 
are known. The whole Board will meet the candidates before an 
appointment is made.  
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Remuneration Committee 
The Remuneration Committee is chaired by Sir Michael Lyons. Its other 
members are Rodney Westhead and Debbie Hewitt. The Chief Executive, 
Group Finance Director, Company Secretary and HR Director attend by 
invitation. The Committee met five times during the year under review. The 
report of the Remuneration Committee can be found on pages 51 to 55. 

Shares Committee 
The Shares Committee facilitates the exercise of awards under the 
Company’s various share schemes. Its membership consists of any  
two directors. Its terms of reference are narrowly defined and limited to 
the allotment of new shares and transfer of shares from the employee 
benefit trusts with respect to satisfying awards under all or any of the 
Company’s Sharesave schemes, approved and unapproved share 
option schemes, the Co-Investment Plan, Performance Share Plan, 
Restricted Share Plan and any other long-term incentive plans. 
Following recommendation by the Board, it may also authorise  
the grant of options under the Company’s share schemes. 

Board attendance table 
Directors’ attendance of both Board and Committee meetings during  
the year ended 31 July 2008 was as follows: 

  Board Audit Remuneration Nomination

Number of meetings held 13 3 5 5

Non-Executive Directors    
Lynton Barker 3 – – 1
Richard Benton 11 11 21 4
Debbie Hewitt 11 3 5 4
Ian Knight 12 3 11 5
Sir Michael Lyons 12 11 5 4
Rodney Westhead 13 2 4 5

Executive Directors    
Richard Cuthbert 13 31 51 51

Kevin	Young	 12	 31 11 51

1 Attendance at the meeting was by invitation from the Committee.

Internal control and risk management 
The Board is responsible for establishing, reviewing and maintaining the 
Group’s systems of internal control and risk management and ensuring 
that these systems are effective for managing the business risk within  
the Group. 

The Group has established a framework for identifying, evaluating and 
managing significant risks faced by the Group. The framework of risk 
management and internal control operating within the Group has been  
in place throughout the year and is in accordance with the Turnbull 
Guidance. The framework is reviewed annually and is designed to 
safeguard shareholders’ investments and the Group’s assets whilst 
ensuring that proper accounting records are maintained. 

It is the responsibility of management to ensure that the controls and 
procedures that operate within the framework are followed and that  
the Board is kept fully appraised of any risks and control issues, both 
operational and financial, that arise from the reporting structures which 
exist within the Group. The Board recognises that any system of internal 
control exists to minimise the risk of failure rather than to eliminate it, 
and that any system of internal control can only provide reasonable,  
not absolute, assurance against material mis-statement or loss. 

The risk management of joint ventures and strategic partnerships  
is agreed between the parties and periodic reviews are carried out 
where appropriate. 

The Audit Committee annually reviews the effectiveness of the risk 
management system and its internal controls and reports its findings  
to the Board. 

The framework through which the Group mitigates both operational  
and financial risk is described below. The Group continually looks  
for ways to improve these processes and this year there have been  
a number of initiatives designed to reduce the commercial exposure  
of the Group and further embed a risk management culture within  
the Group. 

Strategic control 
The Board reviews the Group’s strategic plans annually. Progress  
against the strategic plan is monitored at Board and GMB meetings.  
The GMB is responsible for monitoring the Group’s strategic progress 
and is accountable to the Board in this regard.

Delegated authorities 
The Board has set clear terms of reference for its Committees,  
all of which were reviewed during the financial year. The Group has  
an organisational reporting structure with clearly defined delegated 
authorities to executive management and reporting systems for  
financial results, risk exposure and control assessment. 

Financial control 
The Group has a comprehensive system for reporting financial results  
to the Board. Each business stream prepares monthly results with  
a comparison against budget and forecast. The Chief Executive and 
Group Finance Director hold monthly review meetings with each of  
the Managing Directors of the individual business streams. Actions  
are identified and a financial report prepared for the GMB and Board  
for review of the Group as a whole. 

IT systems 
The Group has established controls and procedures over the security  
of data held on IT systems and has put in place disaster recovery 
arrangements. 

Business stream controls 
Each business stream is responsible for identifying, evaluating  
and managing major business risks. Procedures are in place to  
ensure that risks are identified from project bidding stage through  
to project completion stage and include reviews against key 
performance indicators. 
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Risk management 
The Board has overall responsibility for identifying, evaluating and 
managing major business risks facing the Group. It regularly reviews 
business assessments of risk exposure and control and determines 
appropriate action. There is an ongoing process for identifying, 
evaluating and managing the significant risks faced by the business. 
The process involves monthly reports, by management, of the risk and 
internal control issues faced by their business. These risks are then 
reported to the GMB and the Audit Committee and the Board is kept 
fully appraised of any risks and internal control issues arising from these 
reports. A Bid Committee meets fortnightly and reviews all material bids. 
The Board also receives monthly reports and key performance 
measures on health, safety and environmental matters. 

Internal audit 
In the absence of an internal audit function, a Business Review Function, 
an internal independent review function, was introduced in 2007 in order 
to provide further rigour to the internal control and risk management 
process. It reports to the GMB, Audit Committee and the main Board. 
The Business Review Function’s remit is to review, as part of the Group’s 
risk management, the performance and conduct of the Group’s projects, 
contracts, joint ventures and partnerships, examining any relevant 
components of performance, including financial and commercial 
matters, risks and exposures, resourcing issues, client relationships, 
progress and performance against programme. It also reviews and 
reports on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal controls including 
systems and processes. 

Relations with shareholders 
The Board is committed to a continuing dialogue with its institutional 
shareholders. Following the announcement and presentation of the 
interim and year-end results, there are a series of formal meetings with 
institutional shareholders. These meetings are a two-way dialogue 
whereby the Executive Directors can appraise the investors of the Group’s 
business and future plans and the shareholders can communicate any 
concerns they may have. The Non-Executive Directors and Chairman 
are available to attend these meetings if requested. The Company’s 
brokers and financial PR advisors provide feedback from the 
shareholder and analyst meetings and present the results to the Board. 

The Group’s investor relations section on its website contains 
information on the Group’s financial results, its corporate policies,  
its stock exchange announcements, analysts’ presentations and the 
terms of reference for each of the Board Committees. Additionally,  
the AGM provides a useful interface with shareholders. All shareholders 
are invited to attend the AGM and all members of the Board will be 
available at the meeting to answer questions.

The Company seeks to promote the use of e-communications and 
encourages its shareholders to sign up to receive Company circulars  
by email. 

Approved by the Board of Directors and signed on its behalf 

Amanda Massie 
Group Company Secretary 
28 October 2008 
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Introduction 
This Report sets out the Company’s remuneration policy and details  
the remuneration of each of the Directors for the financial year ended  
31 July 2008 and, as far as practicable, for subsequent years. It complies 
with Schedule 7A to the Companies Act 1985, which incorporates the 
Directors’ Remuneration Report Regulations 2002 (the Regulations), 
and also with the 2006 Combined Code. In accordance with the 
Regulations, a resolution to approve the Report will be proposed at  
the Company’s AGM on 11 December 2008, at which the Financial 
Statements will be presented for approval. 

The Regulations require the Auditors to report to the shareholders on 
certain sections of this Report and to state whether those sections have 
been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985  
(as amended by the Regulations). The Report has therefore been 
divided into separate sections for audited and unaudited information.

Unaudited information
Remuneration Committee 
The Remuneration Committee determines and keeps under review  
the overall remuneration policy for the Chairman, Executive Directors 
and key senior managers and the general remuneration policy of the 
Group. The Committee determines the level of remuneration, incentives, 
benefits and terms of employment of the Chairman, Executive 
Directors, Company Secretary, members of the Group Management 
Board and other direct reports to the Chief Executive. When necessary, 
the Committee agrees the level of any compensation payments to be  
made and mitigates losses arising. 

The Committee operates under formal terms of reference and under the 
powers delegated to it by the Board. Its terms of reference are reviewed 
annually as part of the Group’s annual corporate governance review 
and are available on the Company’s website. The Committee met five 
times during the year under review. 

Sir Michael Lyons is the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee  
and its other members are Rodney Westhead and Debbie Hewitt,  
both of whom are independent Non-Executive Directors. The Company 
Secretary attends all meetings and the Chief Executive, HR Director  
and Finance Director attend as required, by invitation, to provide advice  
to the Committee to enable it to make informed decisions.

No individual is present when his or her own remuneration is under 
consideration. The Committee does not determine the fees payable  
to Non-Executive Directors, which are determined by the Board within 
limits set out in the Articles of Association. 

The Committee has appointed Hewitt New Bridge Street Consultants 
LLP (HNBS) as its independent remuneration advisor. HNBS was 
appointed by the Committee in 2005 following a competitive tendering 
process. HNBS does not provide any other services to the Company. 

Remuneration policy 
Recognising that the Group is fast growing, the objective of the 
remuneration policy is to attract, retain and motivate Executive Directors 
and senior managers with the relevant expertise, skills and qualities to 
achieve the Company’s strategic ambitions, business objectives and  
to align their interests with those of the shareholders. It is designed to 
reward performance and to maintain a high-performance culture within 
the Company. The interests of our senior management and our shareholders 
are also aligned through share incentives and share ownership.

Remuneration Composition
The remuneration package for Executive Directors is made up of  
a mix of fixed and variable elements which consist of base salary, 
annual bonus (under which payment can be deferred by participation  
in a co-investment plan), awards under the performance share plan,  
a savings-related share option scheme, pension, private medical 
insurance and a car or car allowance. 

The relative proportion of performance-related and 
non-performance-related remuneration for an Executive Director’s 
‘on-target’ remuneration is shown below: 

  1 Base salary – 38%
  2 Performance-related bonus target – 23%
  3  Performance-related long-term incentives  

(expected values) – 39%

Basic salary and other benefits 
The Committee’s objective is to ensure that the basic salary for 
Executive Directors and key senior management is appropriate  
and competitive for the responsibilities involved. Salaries are  
reviewed annually, with changes normally taking effect from 1 August.  
Any increases are awarded only after taking into account individual 
performance, changes in responsibility, the Company’s performance, 
market conditions and external advice as to appropriate salary levels  
for each position. The Company has a rigorous personal performance 
appraisal process against which personal, business and Group-related 
targets are set and reviewed in line with the Company’s drive to be a 
fast-growing energetic company.

The Committee’s policy is to set base salaries at the median level  
of a comparator group of companies in the FTSE 250 Index of broadly 
similar size and business fit.

Richard Cuthbert’s base salary was increased by 21% from  
£310,000 to £375,000 on 1 August 2007, and by 9% to £410,000  
on	1	August	2008.	Kevin	Young’s	base	salary	was	increased	by	 
18% from £194,000 to £230,000 on 1 August 2007, and by 9%  
to £250,000 on 1 August 2008.

For each salary review, the Committee takes into account a range  
of factors as listed above, together with independent market reviews 
undertaken by HNBS and Deloitte & Touche LLP, and an analysis of 
Executive Directors’ remuneration in comparator companies across  
the FTSE 250. The salary increases also reflect the increase in growth of 
the Company, and the move from the FTSE Small Cap to the FTSE 250  
in September 2006. Pay conditions elsewhere within the Group are  
also taken into account when setting base salary increases.
 
Annual bonus scheme 
The Executive Directors participate in the Annual Bonus Scheme which 
rewards performance against challenging short-term targets. During the 
year under review, the maximum bonus available to Executive Directors 
was 60% of basic salary and for members of the Group Management 
Board (GMB), the maximum bonus available was 50% of basic salary. 

1

23
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Executive Directors and around 300 key senior managers are also 
eligible to participate in the Co-Investment Plan under which they are  
invited to invest all or part of their annual bonus in shares. The Plan  
is described in further detail below. 

The targets against which bonuses are paid are based on a 
combination of financial and personal objectives. Two-thirds of the 
bonus for the Executive Directors is based on Group profit against 
financial targets and one-third is based on individual non-financial 
targets. For members of the GMB who have responsibility for operating 
profit, one-third of bonus is based on profit against financial targets  
at the individual’s operating business, one-third based on the financial 
performance of the Group and one-third based on personal 
non-financial targets. For members of the GMB with no individual 
responsibility for operating profit, one-third is based on Group profit 
against financial targets and two-thirds of bonus is attributable to 
personal non-financial targets. 

The targets are set annually and the achievement against these targets 
by the Executive Directors and senior management must be reviewed 
and agreed by the Remuneration Committee in order for any bonus  
to be payable. Bonus awards to the Executive Directors are 
discretionary, non-pensionable and non-contractual, and awards  
made during the year can be found on page 54.

Share Incentive Schemes 
Co-Investment Plan 
The Co-Investment Plan (CIP) is a discretionary plan in which 
participants are invited to invest either all or a proportion of their annual 
bonus in ordinary shares in the Company. Provided these shares are 
retained by the participants for three years, they will be matched by the 
Company on a one-for-one basis dependent on the extent to which the 
performance conditions set out below are met. If the participant withdraws 
all or part of their invested shares during the three-year period, their 
entitlement to matching shares will be reduced on a pro-rata basis. 

The performance conditions for the matching shares are based on 
Group performance as measured by growth in earnings per share 
(EPS). The maximum number of shares will be delivered if EPS growth 
reaches Retail Prices Index (RPI) +12% per annum over the three-year 
period. Matching awards will not vest if EPS growth is RPI +5% per 
annum or less and for EPS growth between RPI +5% per annum and 
RPI +12% per annum a straight-line relationship applies. No retesting  
of performance is permitted if the performance condition is not met at the 
end of the three-year period. 

The Executive Directors and senior managers are eligible to participate  
in this plan and participation in this plan is reviewed annually. 

Performance Share Plan 
The Performance Share Plan (PSP) is a long-term incentive plan  
under which Executive Directors and other members of the senior 
management team may annually receive a conditional right to acquire 
shares, the vesting of which depends on the satisfaction of demanding 
performance conditions. During the year, the Committee made PSP 
awards at 60% of salary to the Executive Directors. 

Under the terms of the PSP, conditional awards of the Company’s shares 
worth up to 100% of salary may be awarded each year, the vesting of 
which is dependent on the Company’s relative Total Shareholder Return 
(TSR) performance over a fixed three-year period. TSR will be measured 
against the constituents of the FTSE All-Share Support Services Sector, 
with the performance period commencing on the first day of the financial 
year in which the award is made. 25% of the awards will vest if the 
Company’s TSR performance ranks at the median of the comparator 
group, with full vesting for performance at or above the upper quartile. 
Between these points, awards will vest on a pro-rata basis. 

In addition, in order for shares to vest, the Company’s EPS must exceed 
the growth in RPI by an average of at least 3% per annum over the 
performance period. Participation in this scheme is reviewed annually. 

Review of performance conditions under the PSP and CIP
In early 2008, HNBS was engaged by the Remuneration Committee  
to undertake an independent review of the performance criteria 
attached to the CIP and PSP to ensure their appropriateness in respect 
of future awards. The outcome of the review was debated at length by 
the Remuneration Committee. 

With regards to the CIP, the Remuneration Committee concluded  
that the performance criteria attached to the CIP were challenging and 
appropriate for the future needs of the business and should therefore 
remain unchanged for future awards. This conclusion was based upon  
a number of factors. The fact that the maximum award will only be 
made if full bonus has been achieved and the Executive chooses to 
invest their full bonus, thereby aligning themselves with shareholders, 
was an important consideration. Further, the Remuneration Committee 
considers that if sustained performance at stretch level were achieved, 
this would represent the creation of excellent shareholder value. The 
relatively modest reward available (i.e. a maximum of 60% of salary 
under the CIP, when compared to other plans where 100% is not 
uncommon) and the fact that the matching ratio of 1:1 is not excessive 
for voluntary Co-Investment Plans were also important factors. Finally,  
it was noted that, because of the CIP’s inherent linkage to the annual 
bonus, any future increases to bonus potential would have a knock-on 
effect to the potential available under the CIP. Therefore, should any 
material increases be made to the potential quantum of awards 
available under the CIP, this could be a more appropriate time to 
consider introducing a greater degree of stretch to the targets. 

With regards to the PSP, the Remuneration Committee debated the 
appropriateness of the performance conditions attached to it, the 
relevance of the TSR comparator group, and whether the vesting 
schedule was appropriate. The Company currently uses the FTSE 
All-Share Support Services Sector as its comparator group. After 
consideration of the alternatives, it was agreed that the continued  
use of this comparator group remained appropriate, as it would reduce 
volatility and also any potential criticism of hand-picking. It was also 
agreed that the Company’s EPS underpin is operated in line with best 
practice and in line with market practice for those companies which use 
formulaic underpins. It was therefore concluded that the performance 
criteria attached to the PSP were challenging and appropriate for the 
future needs of the business, and should therefore remain unchanged for 
future awards and, further, that the use of the FTSE All-Share Support 
Services Sector as a TSR comparator group should continue.

The Remuneration Committee will continue to review the 
appropriateness of the performance targets attached to its share schemes 
on a regular basis.

Savings-related share option scheme 
The Company operates an all-employee HMRC-approved 
savings-related	share	option	scheme	(SAYE).	The	Executive	Directors,	
whilst eligible, do not currently participate in this scheme. 
During the year, the Company has remained within its headroom  
limits for the issue of new shares under share incentive schemes.  
The Company’s position under the Association of British Insurers’ 
guidelines (that dilution under discretionary schemes should not exceed 
5% in 10 years) was that shares equivalent to only 0.5% of ordinary 
share capital had been allocated. Against the guideline that overall 
dilution under all schemes should not exceed 10% in 10 years, the 
Company had allocated only 2.7%. These figures exclude obligations 
which are to be settled with shares purchased in the market.
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Restricted Share Plan
The Restricted Share Plan (RSP) was adopted by the Remuneration 
Committee on 1 February 2008 and its primary objective is to assist  
in the retention of key individuals who join the Company through 
acquisition. It is used where the CIP and PSP are not considered 
appropriate vehicles. Executive Directors, members of the GMB,  
and key senior managers are not eligible to participate in the RSP.

The RSP allows for the grant of conditional awards or nil-cost options 
over shares held in trust (through market purchase by the employee 
benefit trust) for a tie-in period, normally three years. At the end of the 
three-year period, shares are transferred to the individuals subject to 
them still being an employee. The individuals have no voting rights and 
are not the beneficial owners of the shares until they are transferred to 
them at the end of the three-year period. Whilst there are no performance 
criteria attached to the RSP, the Remuneration Committee has the 
discretion to attach performance criteria to individual grants as appropriate. 

Legacy executive share options 
The Company has a number of legacy executive share option plans.  
It has two approved schemes: The Mouchel Approved Executive Share 
Option Scheme and The Parkman Group 2001 Approved Share Option 
Plan;	and	two	unapproved	schemes:	The	Mouchel	Unapproved	
Executive Share Option Plan and the Parkman Group 2001 Executive 
Share Option Plan. There have been no option grants under any of  
these plans since 2003.

Share ownership guidelines 
To further align the interests of the Executive Directors with those  
of the shareholders, Executive Directors are required to build a 
shareholding of at least 100% of annual salary, which can also be 
acquired from the retention of vested shares (net of tax and financing 
costs) under the Company’s share plans. Members of the GMB and 
other senior managers are required to build and maintain a holding  
of 50% of annual salary which can also be acquired from the retention  
of vested shares (net of tax and financing costs). No time limit has been 
placed on reaching this target. 

The Non-Executive Directors are expected to achieve a share interest  
in the Company amounting to 100% of their annual fee. 

Pensions 
Executive Directors are members of HMRC-registered defined benefit 
pension schemes administered by boards of trustees. The schemes are 
contracted out of the State Second Pension scheme. Richard Cuthbert 
and	Kevin	Young	contribute	7.75%	of	their	pensionable	earnings.	The	
normal retirement age is 65 for Richard Cuthbert and 60 for Kevin 
Young;	both	accrue	benefits	on	a	career	average	revalued	earnings	(CARE)	
basis. Under CARE, their pensionable earnings are averaged over their 
pensionable service with the pensionable earnings revalued in line with 
the Retail Prices Index, limited to a maximum uplift of 5% per annum. 

The schemes provide lump sum death-in-service benefits of four times 
pensionable earnings in the case of Richard Cuthbert and three times 
pensionable	earnings	in	the	case	of	Kevin	Young.	In	addition,	in	the	 
event of their death in service widow’s pensions based upon 50%  
of their expected pensions (on a final salary, not CARE, basis) at their 
normal retirement age would be payable.

All Executive Directors’ benefits under the registered pension schemes 
are subject to the notional HMRC Earnings Cap. 

Performance graph 
The graph shows the Company’s TSR performance to 31 July 2008, 
measured against the FTSE All-Share Support Services Index, 
excluding investment trusts over the past five years. This is considered 
the most appropriate index. 
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TSR is defined as the return shareholders would receive if they held  
a notional number of shares and received dividends on those shares  
over a period of time, assuming dividends are reinvested. The graph 
measures the percentage growth in the Group’s share price. 

Executive Directors’ service contracts 
It is the Company’s policy to include a rolling notice period by either party 
of no more than 12 months and a clause to that effect is included in the 
Executive Directors’ service contracts. The appointment date, notice 
period and re-election date of the Executive Directors are provided below:
   
    Date of 
    last re-election 
  Effective date Notice period for under the 
Name of Director of appointment Executive Directors Articles of Association

Richard Cuthbert 19.09.2003 12 months 08.12.2006
Kevin	Young	 28.06.2002	 6	months	 07.12.2007

 
The service agreements for the Executive Directors do not provide for 
specific payments of compensation in the event of early termination  
of their service contracts. The Remuneration Committee aims to deal 
fairly with cases of termination, whilst attempting to limit compensation. 
The Committee has given due consideration to the recommendations  
of the Combined Code and will always seek to mitigate loss. 

Copies of each Director’s service agreement will be available for 
inspection prior to and during the AGM. 

External appointments 
Whilst the Executive Directors do not currently hold any Non-Executive 
Directorships, the Board believes that there are benefits from extending 
the range and experience of the Executive Directors by allowing them to 
accept a Non-Executive Directorship elsewhere. The Company has in place 
a policy which states that, with Board approval, the Executive Directors 
can hold one external Non-Executive directorship and that the time 
commitment to any external Non-Executive directorship will be annually 
reviewed by the Committee. Any fees earned in connection with an 
external Non-Executive directorship will be retained by the Executive Directors. 
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Non-Executive Directors 
The Non-Executive Directors have letters of appointment stating their annual fee payable and their time commitment required. All Non-Executive 
Directors (excluding the Chairman) are appointed for an initial term of three years subject to satisfactory performance and re-election by 
shareholders at the AGM. After the initial three-year term their appointment is subject to annual re-election. Their appointment can be terminated 
at any time without any damages or compensation for loss of office. Non-Executive Directors’ fees are determined by the Board within the limits 
set out in the Articles of Association and with reference to payments made by comparator companies. 

None of the Non-Executive Directors are eligible to participate in the Company’s pension schemes, share incentive schemes or receive an annual 
bonus or any payments other than fees and expenses. 
 
The Non-Executive Directors’ appointment and re-election dates are provided below: 
         Date of last
         re-election 
          under the 
        Effective date Articles of 
Name of Director       of appointment Association 

Lynton Barker        01.04.2008 –
Richard Benton       28.06.2002 07.12.2007
Debbie Hewitt       03.09.2007 07.12.2007
Ian Knight       28.06.2002 07.12.2007
Sir Michael Lyons       19.09.2003 07.12.2007
Rodney Westhead       19.09.2003 07.12.2007

Audited information
Directors’ emoluments 
The aggregate emoluments in respect of their roles as Directors, excluding pensions, of the Directors of the Company who served during the year,  
are shown in the table below:
 Salary/fees1 Bonus2 Other benefits3  Total4

     2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Executive Directors         
Richard Cuthbert 375 310 53 124 16 13 444 447
Kevin	Young	 230 194 32 74 14 14 276 282

Total Executive Directors  605 504 85 198 30 27 720  729

Non-Executive Directors        
Lynton Barker 235 – – – – – 23 –
Richard Benton 90 70 – – 26 26 92 72
Debbie Hewitt  327 – – – – – 32 –
Ian Knight 35 33 – – – – 35 33
Sir Michael Lyons 35 33 – – – – 35 33
Rodney Westhead  35 33 – – – – 35 33

Total Non-Executive Directors 250 169 –  – 2 2  252 171

1	 	Base	salaries	are	reviewed	annually	in	July	to	take	effect	from	1	August.	Effective	1	August	2008,	Richard	Cuthbert	and	Kevin	Young’s	basic	annual	salaries	increased	to	£410,000	 
and £250,000 respectively.

2	 Richard	Cuthbert	and	Kevin	Young	each	received	23%	of	their	bonus	targets	based	on	the	financial	performance	of	the	Group,	and	on	their	performance	against	non	financial	targets,		
	 particularly	business	development.	Richard	Cuthbert	and	Kevin	Young	have	opted	to	take	100%	of	their	bonus	in	the	form	of	shares	under	the	terms	of	the	CIP.
3 Other benefits include such items as company cars, fuel, car allowance and medical insurance.
4 Total excludes pension contributions, which are shown separately.
5  Lynton Barker was appointed Non-Executive Director on 1 April 2008. He is paid an annual fee of £35,000 plus an additional fee of £35,000 to maintain a relationship with  

CSC Computer Services Limited in a strictly non-executive capacity. The amount shown in the table reflects fees paid from Lynton Barker’s date of appointment.
6 Richard Benton is paid an annual travel allowance of £2,000.
7 Debbie Hewitt was appointed Non-Executive Director on 3 September 2007. She is paid an annual fee of £35,000 and the amount shown reflects fees paid from her date of appointment.

Directors’ pensions
    Increase
    in accrued Transfer Transfer Director Total change Transfer
    pension during value of value of contributions in value value of 
  Accrued Accrued 07/08 excluding accrued accrued during the during 07/08 increase less 
  pension pension any increase pension pension period 31/07/07 net of Director’s Director’s 
  at 31/07/07 at 31/07/08 for inflation at 31/07/07 at 31/07/08 to 31/07/08 contributions contributions 
  £000 pa £000 pa £000 £000 £000 £000 £0001 £000

Richard Cuthbert 9 12 2 110 96 9 (23) 7
Kevin	Young	 16	 19	 2	 169	 237	 9	 59	 22

1	 	Richard	Cuthbert	and	Kevin	Young	are	participants	of	different	pension	schemes	which	have	differing	transfer	value	bases.	Owing	to	the	fall	in	world	stock	markets	which	increases	 
the dividend return on equities, the transfer value of Richard Cuthbert’s pension has decreased. This reflects the high equity content of the investment of the pension scheme of  
which he is a participant.
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Directors’ interests in the Co-Investment and Performance Share Plans
The awards over Mouchel Group plc shares held by the Executive Directors under the Company’s Co-Investment and Performance Share Plans 
are detailed below:
     Awards Awards Awards
    No. of made exercised lapsed Market No. of
    shares held at during during during price on shares at
  Scheme name Date of award 1 August 2007 the year the year the year award date (p) 31 July 2008 Vesting date 

Richard Cuthbert CIP 29.11.2005 22,264 – – – 273.83 22,264 29.11.2008
  CIP 23.11.2006 15,889 – – – 395.00 15,889 23.11.2009
  CIP 23.11.2007 – 16,980 – – 427.63 16,980 23.11.2010
  PSP 26.04.2006 43,093 – – – 338.80 43,093 26.04.2009
  PSP 23.11.2006 39,215 – – – 395.00 39,215 23.11.2009
  PSP 23.11.2007 – 53,718 – – 427.63 53,718 23.11.2010

    120,461 70,698 – –   191,159  

Kevin	Young	 CIP	 29.11.2005	 14,249	 –	 –	 –	 273.83	 14,249	 29.11.2008
  CIP 23.11.2006 9,958 – – – 395.00 9,958 23.11.2009
  CIP 23.11.2007 – 10,183 – – 427.63 10,183 23.11.2010
  PSP 26.04.2006 27,007 – – – 338.80 27,007 26.04.2009
  PSP 23.11.2006 24,541 – – – 395.00 24,541 23.11.2009
  PSP 23.11.2007 – 32,947 – – 427.63 32,947 23.11.2010

Total   75,755 43,130 – –   118,885  

Notes
1  The awards made under the terms of the CIP are made as matching awards, which vest on the third anniversary of grant, subject to performance conditions being met and the bonus 

shares being retained by participants for three years. For CIP awards made on 29 November 2005, the performance conditions have been met in full and accordingly, 100% of the award  
will vest on 29 November 2008. A summary of the CIP can be found on page 52 of the Remuneration Report. 

2  Vesting of awards made under the terms of the PSP is dependent on the Company’s relative TSR performance over a three-year period (with an EPS underpin) and the participants’ 
continued employment within the Group on the vesting date. For PSP awards made on 26 April 2006, the Company’s TSR over the performance period was 77.6% ranking the Company 
14th out of 52 companies in the comparator group. In accordance with the terms of the PSP, 97.12% of the award will vest on 26 April 2009. A summary of the PSP can be found  
on page 52 of the Remuneration Report.

Directors’ beneficial interests
The beneficial interests of the Directors and their families in the ordinary shares of 0.25p each in the Company as at 31 July 2008 were as follows:

        2008 2007 
        No. of shares  No. of shares

Executive Directors   
Richard Cuthbert       242,005 225,025
Kevin	Young	 	 	 	 	 	 	 722,870 912,687

          964,875 1,137,712

Non-Executive Directors  
Lynton Barker       605,800 –
Richard Benton       700,000 700,000
Debbie Hewitt        – –
Ian Knight       200,000 200,000
Sir Michael Lyons       9,709 8,709
Rodney Westhead       9,844 9,844

          1,525,353 918,553

Total        2,490,228 2,056,265

Notes
1  The mid-market closing share price of Mouchel Group plc shares at 31 July 2008 was 395.25p and the lowest and highest mid-market share prices during the financial year were 475.25p  

and 357.50p per share respectively.
2  At 31 July 2008, the Executive Directors of the Company, as potential beneficiaries under the Company’s Employee Benefit Trusts (the Trusts), were each technically deemed to be 

interested in 1,925,304 unallocated Mouchel Group plc shares held by the Trusts (note 32 of the Notes to the Financial Statements provides further information in relation to the Employee 
Benefit Trusts).

3 These shareholdings are all beneficial interests and include shares held by Directors’ spouses and other connected persons.
4	 Richard	Cuthbert	and	Kevin	Young’s	beneficial	interests	include	Bonus	Awards	held	under	the	terms	of	the	CIP.

Approved by the Board of Directors and signed on its behalf 

Sir Michael Lyons
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
28 October 2008 
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    Results    Results  
    before   before   
    exceptional Exceptional   exceptional  Exceptional 
    items items1 Total  items items1 Total 
    2008 2008 2008 2007 2007 2007
   Notes £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Continuing operations       
Revenue  2 656,743 – 656,743 448,381 – 448,381
Cost of sales  4 (542,379) – (542,379) (364,626) 16,168 (348,458)

Gross profit   114,364 – 114,364 83,755 16,168 99,923
Administrative expenses  4 (72,649) (12,450) (85,099) (50,781) (426) (51,207)

Operating profit   2 41,715 (12,450) 29,265 32,974 15,742 48,716
Interest receivable   5 4,756 – 4,756 631 – 631
Finance costs  5 (7,708) – (7,708) (1,215) – (1,215)

Profit before tax   38,763 (12,450) 26,313 32,390 15,742 48,132
Taxation  7 (10,338) 3,577 (6,761) (9,404) (4,723) (14,127)

Profit for the year    28,425 (8,873) 19,552 22,986 11,019 34,005

       
Basic earnings per share  10   17.9p   31.5p
Diluted earnings per share  10   17.7p   31.3p

1  Exceptional items include amortisation of intangible assets arising from business combinations of £5,651,000 (2007: £2,448,000) and other items detailed in note 3 of £6,799,000  
(2007: net gain of £18,190,000). 

Consolidated Income Statement 
for the year ended 31 July 2008
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 Group Company
      2008 2007 2008 2007
     Notes £000 £000 £000 £000

ASSETS     
Non-current assets     
Goodwill    11 118,121 48,691 – –
Other intangible assets    12 71,488 34,293 – –
Property, plant and equipment    13 18,094 16,517 – 3,999
Investments in subsidiaries    14 – – 322,736 322,736
Deferred tax assets    16 21,926 8,018 183 117
Loan notes    23 – – 39,814 330,852
Financial instruments    22, 24 337 – – –

      229,966 107,519 362,733 657,704

Current assets     
Unbilled revenue     17 52,633 50,079 – –
Trade and other receivables    18 110,767 72,278 38,308 43,184
Assets held for sale    19 3,984 – 3,984 –
Cash and cash equivalents    34 51,792 19,007 – –

      219,176 141,364 42,292 43,184

LIABILITIES     
Current liabilities     
Bank overdraft    20 – (16,176) – –
Borrowings    22 (1,165) – – –
Trade and other payables    21 (119,061) (85,036) (6,333) (6,705)
Current tax liabilities     (12,857) (9,358) – –
Retirement benefit obligations    36 (636) (487) – –

      (133,719) (111,057) (6,333) (6,705)

     
Net current assets     85,457 30,307 35,959 36,479

     
Non-current liabilities     
Borrowings    22 (134,827) – – –
Loan notes    23 – – (51,852)  (350,890)
Trade and other payables    26 (2,126) (622) – –
Provisions for liabilities and charges    27 (10,533) – – –
Deferred tax liabilities    16 (15,122) (9,379) (541) (580)
Retirement benefit obligations    36 (33,925) (17,517) – –

      (196,533) (27,518) (52,393) (351,470)

Net assets     118,890 110,308 346,299 342,713

     
EQUITY     
Share capital    28 279 274 279 274
Share premium    29 27,180 26,464 27,180 26,464
Other reserves    31 22,379 12,845 12,975 4,689
Retained earnings    31 69,052 70,725 305,865 311,286

Total equity    31 118,890 110,308 346,299 342,713

The Financial Statements on pages 56 to 103 were approved by the Board of Directors on 28 October 2008 and were signed on its behalf by:

Richard Cuthbert Kevin Young
Director Director

Group and Company Balance Sheets 
as at 31 July 2008
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        2008 2007
       Notes £000 £000

Cash flows from operating activities   
Cash generated from operations before exceptional costs     33 37,995 31,407
Exceptional costs      3 (6,799) (340)

Cash generated from operations      33 31,196 31,067
Interest element of finance lease payments       (70) –
Interest element of other loan repayments       (276) –
Taxation paid       (1,804) (4,755)

Net cash from operating activities       29,046 26,312

Cash flows from investing activities   
Investment in joint venture entities       (250) –
Acquisition of subsidiaries (net of cash acquired)     35 (71,770) (31,436)
Payments to acquire unincorporated business      35 – (11,382)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment      412 25
Purchase of property, plant and equipment       (9,590) (8,374)
Purchase of intangible assets – software       (4,744) (1,655)
Special contributions to defined benefit pension schemes      (20,250) –
Interest received       2,430 631
Finance costs paid       (3,707) (990)

Net cash used in investing activities       (107,469) (53,181)

Cash flows from financing activities   
Net proceeds from issue of ordinary share capital     31 716 1,000
Sale of own shares by employee share trusts       309 13
Dividends paid to shareholders      9 (5,766) (4,537)
Loan facility drawn down net of loan issue costs      132,647 –
Other loan payments       (806) –
Loan repaid by related party       321 –
Finance lease principal payments       (159) (71)

Net cash generated from/(used in) financing activities       127,262 (3,595)

   
Effects of exchange rate changes       122 (71)
   
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents net of bank overdrafts    48,961 (30,535)

Cash and cash equivalents net of bank overdrafts at 1 August      2,831 33,366

Cash and cash equivalents net of bank overdrafts at 31 July     34 51,792 2,831

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement 
for the year ended 31 July 2008
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        2008 2007
       Notes £000 £000

Profit for the year       19,552 34,005

Differences on exchange      31 318 (364)
(Loss)/profit on sale of own shares held in employee share trusts    31 (284) 11
Tax relief on shares issued to employees       196 140
Changes in fair value of cash flow hedges      22 337 –
Deferred tax on movement in pension scheme valuations     16 6,586 (3,704)
Actuarial (loss)/gain on pension scheme valuations     36 (23,372) 12,346

Net (losses)/gains not recognised in Income Statement      (16,219) 8,429

Total recognised income for the year       3,333 42,434

Consolidated Statement of  
Recognised Income and Expense
for the year ended 31 July 2008
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        2008 2007
       Notes £000 £000

Profit for the year      8 71 299,032

Tax relief on shares issued to employees       – –

Net gains not recognised in Income Statement      – –

Total recognised income for the year      31 71 299,032

Company Statement of  
Recognised Income and Expense
for the year ended 31 July 2008
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We read other information contained in the Annual Report and consider 
whether it is consistent with the audited Financial Statements. The other 
information comprises only the Highlights, Mouchel at a Glance, the 
Directors’ Report, the unaudited part of the Remuneration Report,  
the Chairman’s Statement, the Business Review, the Corporate 
Governance Report and the Five-year Financial Summary. We consider 
the implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent 
mis-statements or material inconsistencies with the Financial Statements. 
Our responsibilities do not extend to any other information.

Basis of audit opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards  
on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing Practices Board.  
An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant  
to the amounts and disclosures in the Financial Statements and the part 
of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited. It also includes an 
assessment of the significant estimates and judgements made by the 
Directors in the preparation of the Financial Statements, and of whether 
the accounting policies are appropriate to the Group’s and Company’s 
circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information 
and explanations which we considered necessary in order to provide us 
with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the Financial 
Statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be 
audited are free from material mis-statement, whether caused by fraud  
or other irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we also evaluated  
the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the Financial 
Statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to  
be audited.

Opinion
In our opinion:

•	 	the	Group	Financial	Statements	give	a	true	and	fair	view,	in	accordance	
with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, of the state of the 
Group’s affairs as at 31 July 2008 and of its profit and cash flows  
for the year then ended;

•			the	Company	Financial	Statements	give	a	true	and	fair	view,	in	
accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union as applied 
in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 1985 and  
of the state of the Company’s affairs as at 31 July 2008;

•			the	Financial	Statements	and	the	part	of	the	Directors’	Remuneration	
Report to be audited have been properly prepared in accordance  
with the Companies Act 1985 and, as regards the Group Financial 
Statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation; and

•			the	information	given	in	the	Directors’	Report	is	consistent	with	 
the Financial Statements.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors
London
28 October 2008

We have audited the Group and Company Financial Statements  
(the Financial Statements) of Mouchel Group plc for the year ended  
31 July 2008 which comprise the Group Income Statement, the Group 
and Company Balance Sheets, the Group Cash Flow Statement, the 
Group and Company Statements of Recognised Income and Expense 
and the related notes. These Financial Statements have been prepared 
under the accounting policies set out therein. We have also audited the 
information in the Directors’ Remuneration Report that is described as 
having been audited.

Respective responsibilities of Directors and Auditors  
The Directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report,  
the Directors’ Remuneration Report and the Financial Statements  
in accordance with applicable law and International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union are set out in the 
Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities.

Our responsibility is to audit the Financial Statements and the part  
of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited in accordance with 
relevant legal and regulatory requirements and International Standards  
on Auditing (UK and Ireland). This report, including the opinion, has  
been prepared for and only for the Company’s members as a body in 
accordance with section 235 of the Companies Act 1985 and for no 
other purpose. We do not, in giving this opinion, accept or assume 
responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this 
report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly 
agreed by our prior consent in writing.

We report to you our opinion as to whether the Financial Statements  
give a true and fair view and whether the Financial Statements and  
the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited have been 
properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985 and,  
as regards the Group Financial Statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation. 
We also report to you whether in our opinion the information given in  
the Directors’ Report is consistent with the Financial Statements.  
The information given in the Directors’ Report includes that specific 
information presented in the Business Review that is cross-referred  
from the business review section of the Directors’ Report.

In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, the Company has  
not kept proper accounting records, if we have not received all the 
information and explanations we require for our audit, or if information 
specified by law regarding Directors’ remuneration and other 
transactions is not disclosed.

We review whether the Corporate Governance Report reflects  
the Company’s compliance with the nine provisions of the Combined 
Code (2006) specified for our review by the Listing Rules of the Financial 
Services Authority, and we report if it does not. We are not required to 
consider whether the Board’s statements on internal control cover all 
risks and controls, or form an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s 
corporate governance procedures or its risk and control procedures.

Independent Auditors’ Report to  
the Members of Mouchel Group plc



62 2008 Annual Report and Accounts
Mouchel Group plc

Group Financial Statements

d Business combinations
The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the purchase 
method. The cost of the acquisition is measured at the aggregate  
of the fair values, at the date control passes, of assets given, less 
liabilities incurred or assumed and equity instruments issued by the 
Group in exchange for control of the acquiree, plus any costs directly 
attributable to the business combination. The acquiree’s identifiable 
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for 
recognition under IFRS 3, Business Combinations are recognised at 
their fair values at the acquisition date. 

e Interests in joint ventures
A joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby the Group  
and one or more other parties undertake an economic activity that  
is subject to joint control. Joint control is when the strategic, financial 
and operating policy decisions relating to the activity require the 
unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group conducts its joint venture arrangements through both jointly 
controlled entities and jointly controlled operations. In both cases, the 
Group reports its interests using proportional consolidation. The Group’s 
share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenses are combined  
with the equivalent items in the consolidated Financial Statements  
on a line-by-line basis.

f Goodwill
Goodwill arising on consolidation represents the excess of the cost  
of acquisition over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the 
identifiable assets and liabilities of the subsidiary recognised at the date  
of acquisition. Goodwill is initially recognised as an asset at cost and is 
subsequently measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.

On disposal of a subsidiary, the attributable amount of goodwill is 
included in the determination of the profit or loss on disposal.

Goodwill arising on acquisitions before the date of transition to IFRS  
was tested for impairment at the transition date and was retained at its 
previous UK GAAP value. Positive goodwill arising on acquisitions prior 
to 1998 that was written off against reserves under UK GAAP has not 
been reinstated and is not included in determining any subsequent 
profit or loss on disposal. 

g Foreign currencies
The individual Financial Statements of each Group entity are presented  
in the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity 
operates (its functional currency). For the purpose of the consolidated 
Financial Statements, the results and financial position of each entity  
are expressed in pounds sterling, which is the functional currency  
of the Company and the presentation currency for the consolidated 
Financial Statements.

1 Accounting policies
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation  
of these Financial Statements are set out below. These policies  
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, except  
for changes arising on the adoption of new accounting standards  
as described below.

a Basis of preparation 
These Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance  
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as  
adopted by the European Union, International Financial Reporting 
Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) interpretations and with those  
parts of the Companies Act 1985 applicable to companies reporting 
under IFRS. The Financial Statements have been prepared under  
the historical cost convention except for the following items: land  
and buildings are valued at deemed cost and share-based payments, 
cash flow hedges and retirement benefit obligations are fair valued.  
A summary of the more important Group accounting policies is set  
out below.

The preparation of Financial Statements in conformity with generally 
accepted accounting principles requires the use of estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities  
at the date of the Financial Statements and the reported amounts  
of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Although  
these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of the 
amount, event or actions, actual results ultimately may differ from  
those estimates.

The Company has not presented its own cash flow statement as the 
Company does not maintain its own bank account. All transactions 
such as dividends and share issues are dealt with through subsidiary 
companies and settled via intercompany accounts.

b Changes in accounting policies
The accounting standard IFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures, is 
mandatory for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2007. 
Adoption of this standard did not have any effect on the reported  
profits but gave rise to additional disclosures. The disclosures evaluate 
the significance of the Group’s financial instruments and the nature  
and extent of the risks arising from them.

c Basis of consolidation
The consolidated Financial Statements incorporate the Financial 
Statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company  
(its subsidiaries). Control is achieved where the Company has the power 
to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain 
benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are 
included in the Consolidated Income Statement from the effective date  
of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.

On acquisition, adjustments are made to the Financial Statements  
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with those  
used by other members of the Group.

All intra-Group transactions, balances, income and expenses are 
eliminated on consolidation.

Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the year ended 31 July 2008
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Where revenue that has been recognised is found to not be recoverable 
due to a dispute with the client, these amounts are charged against  
the revenue recognised. Where non-recovery is as a result of inability  
of a client to meets its obligations, these amounts are charged to 
administrative expenses.

i Unbilled revenue 
As described in note 1h, revenue represents the fair value of services 
provided as a proportion of the total value of the contract. Unbilled 
revenue is the difference between the revenue recognised and the 
amounts actually invoiced to customers. Where invoicing exceeds  
the amount of revenue recognised, these amounts are included in  
trade and other payables.

Consumables are stated at cost. When consumables are used,  
a charge is made to cost of sales. 

j Pre-contract costs
The Group accounts for pre-contract costs in accordance with IAS 11 
Construction Contracts. Costs incurred before it becomes probable  
that the contract will be awarded are charged directly to the Income 
Statement. Costs incurred after that point are recognised as an asset  
in the balance sheet and charged to the Income Statement over the 
duration of the contract.

k Employee benefits
The Group operates several occupational pension schemes, of both  
the defined contribution and defined benefit type.

(i) Defined contribution pension schemes
Contributions to the Group’s defined contribution schemes are 
recognised as an employee benefit expense when they fall due.  
Employer pension contributions in respect of employees who transferred 
under TUPE to Mouchel, but who remain members of their respective 
councils’ defined benefit pension scheme are treated as being made  
to defined contribution schemes where under the terms of the contract 
the defined benefit liability remains with the relevant council.

Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that  
they result in either a cash refund or a reduction in future payments. 

(ii) Defined benefit pension schemes
The liability recognised in the balance sheet for the Group’s defined 
benefit pension schemes is the present value of the defined benefit 
obligation at the balance sheet date as adjusted for unrecognised past 
service cost, less the fair value of scheme assets. The defined benefit 
obligation is calculated by independent actuaries using the projected 
unit credit method and by discounting the estimated future cash flows 
using interest rates on high-quality corporate bonds that have terms to 
maturity approximating the terms of the related pension liability. Any asset 
resulting from this calculation is limited to unrecognised past service 
costs plus the present value of available refunds and reductions in 
future contributions to the scheme.

The pension expense for the Group’s defined benefit schemes  
is recognised as follows:

Within operating profit
Current service cost – representing the increase in the present value  
of the defined benefit obligation resulting from employee service  
in the current period.

1 Accounting policies (continued)
(i) Individual entity Financial Statements 
Transactions in currencies other than the entity’s functional currency 
(foreign currencies) are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing  
on the dates of the transactions. At each balance sheet date, monetary 
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates 
prevailing at the balance sheet date. Non-monetary items carried at  
fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated  
at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. 
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost  
in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement or retranslation  
of monetary items are included in the Income Statement for the year. 
Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items 
carried at fair value are included in the Income Statement for the period 
except for differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items 
in respect of which gains and losses are recognised directly in equity.  
For such non-monetary items, any exchange component of that gain  
or loss is also recognised directly in equity.

(ii) Consolidated Financial Statements 
The assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations are  
expressed in pounds sterling using exchange rates prevailing at the 
balance sheet date. Income and expense items are translated at the 
average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuated 
significantly during that period, in which case the exchange rates at the 
dates of the transactions are used. Any exchange differences arising are 
classified as equity and transferred to the Group’s translation reserve. 
Such translation differences are recognised in the Income Statement  
in the period in which the foreign operation is disposed of.

h Revenue recognition
Revenue represents the fair value of services provided in the case  
of time charge work and the value of services provided as a proportion  
of the total value of the contract in the case of fixed fee contracts. 
Revenue is net of value added tax. Under certain services contracts,  
the Group manages customer expenditure and is obliged to purchase 
goods and services from third-party contractors and recharge them  
on to the customer at cost. The amounts charged by contractors and 
recharged to customers are excluded from revenue and cost of sales. 
Receivables, payables and cash relating to these transactions are 
included in the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

Revenue recognition on outsourcing contracts is determined by 
reference to the proportion of the annual service delivered to date. 
Where the costs of obligations in relation to the non-renewal or 
termination of a contract are higher in the final period of the contract,  
a proportion of revenue is deferred each period to meet these 
anticipated costs.

Provision is made in full for estimated losses, if the costs of fulfilling the 
contract exceed the recoverable amount. Revenue is only recognised  
to the extent that it is probable that it will be recoverable. Where the 
outcome cannot be measured reliably, revenue is recognised to the 
extent of costs incurred to date where it is probable that costs will  
be recoverable.
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Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities in the Financial Statements and the corresponding 
tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted  
for using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are 
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred 
tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable 
profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences 
can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the 
temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition 
(other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a 
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences 
arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates, and interests in 
joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of 
the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference 
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance 
sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that 
sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset  
to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply  
in the year when the liability is settled or the asset is realised. Deferred 
tax is charged or credited to the Income Statement, except when it 
relates to items charged or credited directly to equity, in which case the 
deferred tax is also dealt with in equity. Examples of items charged to 
equity are gains or losses in relation to pension scheme valuations and 
actual amounts received in respect of relief obtained in granting options 
to employees under share incentive schemes.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally 
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax 
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same 
taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax  
assets and liabilities on a net basis.

m Intangible assets 
(i) Computer software costs
The cost or valuation of assets acquired or created to fulfil customer 
contracts, less their estimated residual value, is written down in equal 
instalments over the life of the contract to which the assets relate.

Acquired computer software licences and software development  
costs are capitalised and amortised over their estimated useful lives  
of between three and five years.

(ii) Customer relationships
Customer relationships are measured as the present value of cash  
flows attributable to the relationship after deduction of appropriate 
contributory assets charges. The relationship is amortised over its 
expected useful life.

(iii) Assets in the course of construction
Capital software projects which are incomplete at the balance sheet 
date are included within this category of intangible assets until the 
projects are commissioned and transferred to computer software costs.

(iv) Other intangible assets
Other intangible assets are acquired assets comprising trade names, 
non-compete agreements and specialist software and licences. The 
values of these assets are individually determined using appropriate 
valuation methods and deducting contributory assets charges as 
required. Further detail is given in note 12 of the Financial Statements.

1 Accounting policies (continued)
k Employee benefits (continued)
(ii) Defined benefit pension schemes (continued)
Past service cost – representing the increase in the present value  
of the defined benefit obligation resulting from employee service  
in prior periods, which arises from changes made to the benefits  
under the scheme in the current period. To the extent that the changes  
to benefits vest immediately, past service costs are recognised 
immediately; otherwise they are recognised on a straight-line basis  
over the vesting period.

Gains and losses arising on settlements and curtailments – where  
the item that gave rise to the settlement or curtailment is recognised 
within operating profit.

Within finance costs
Interest cost on the liabilities of the scheme – calculated by reference  
to the scheme liabilities and discount rate at the beginning of the year  
and allowing for changes during the year.

Expected return on the assets of the scheme – calculated by reference  
to the scheme assets and long-term expected rate of return at the 
beginning of the year and allowing for changes during the year.

Within the Statement of Recognised Income and Expense
Actuarial gains and losses arising on the assets and liabilities  
of the scheme.

When a curtailment (reducing future obligations as a result of  
a material reduction in the scheme membership or a reduction  
in future entitlement) occurs, the obligation and related plan assets  
are re-measured using current actuarial assumptions and the resultant 
gain or loss is recognised in the Income Statement during the period  
in which the curtailment occurs.

(iii) Share-based payments
The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to certain 
employees. Equity-settled share-based payments are measured  
at fair value (excluding the effect of non-market-based vesting 
conditions) at the date of grant. The fair value determined at the grant 
date of the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on a 
straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s 
estimate of the shares that will eventually vest.

For share options where there are no market-based vesting conditions, 
fair value is measured using the Black-Scholes pricing model.  
For share options where there are market-based vesting conditions,  
the Monte Carlo simulation model is used for fair value measurement. 

l Taxation
Taxation in the Income Statement represents the sum of the tax  
currently payable and deferred tax on items charged or credited  
to the Income Statement.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.  
Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in the Income Statement 
because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or 
deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never 
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated 
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the 
balance sheet date.

Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the year ended 31 July 2008
(continued)
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(ii) Other tangible and intangible assets
At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews the carrying amount  
of its tangible and intangible assets to determine whether there is  
any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss.  
If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is 
estimated in order to determine the extent, if any, of the impairment  
loss. Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount  
of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount  
of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An intangible asset with an indefinite life is tested annually for 
impairment and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be 
impaired an impairment loss is recognised immediately in the Income 
Statement unless the relevant asset is carried at the revalued amount. 

A reversal of an impairment loss for tangible and intangible assets  
other than goodwill is recognised immediately in the Income Statement  
to the extent that the original impairment loss was recognised in the 
Income Statement.

(iii) Assets in the course of construction
As stated in note 1m (iii) incomplete capital projects are included within 
other intangible assets. They are not amortised. Once the project is 
complete and transferred to software it will be amortised in accordance 
with note 1m (i).

p Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease 
transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. 
All other leases are classified as operating leases.

(i) Finance leases
Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of the  
Group at their fair value at the inception of the lease or, if lower, at the 
present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding 
liability to the lessor is included in the balance sheet as a finance lease 
obligation. Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges 
and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate  
of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are 
charged to the Income Statement.

(ii) Operating leases
Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to the Income 
Statement on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. 
Benefits received and receivable as an incentive to enter into an 
operating lease are also spread on a straight-line basis over the  
lease term.

A provision is made for all unavoidable costs arising on an onerous 
contract, where such costs exceed the economic benefits expected  
to be generated over the remaining life. Any such value ascribed is 
disclosed within provisions for liabilities and charges.

q Financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are recognised on the Group’s balance 
sheet when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions  
of the instrument. There are no assets classified as at fair value through 
profit or loss.

(i) Trade receivables
Trade receivables are initially measured at fair value, do not carry  
any interest, and are reduced by appropriate provisions for estimated 
irrecoverable amounts. A provision for impairment of trade receivables  
is established when there is objective evidence that the Group will  
not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms  
of the receivables. Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability 
that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation,  

1 Accounting policies (continued)
n Property, plant and equipment
The cost or valuation of assets acquired or created to fulfil customer 
contracts, less their estimated residual value, is written down in equal 
instalments over the life of the contract to which the assets relate.

Freehold buildings are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation. As 
allowed by IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting 
Standards, the Group has used the UK GAAP revalued carrying amount 
of its freehold land and buildings as its deemed cost at 31 July 2004. 

Other assets are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation  
and accumulated impairment losses.

Subsequent costs are capitalised only when it is probable that they will 
result in future economic benefits flowing to the Group and when they 
can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance expenditure 
is charged to the Income Statement in the year in which it is incurred.

Freehold land is carried at cost and is not depreciated as it has an 
indefinite life.

Depreciation on other assets is calculated using the straight-line method 
to write off their cost less their residual value over their estimated useful 
lives as follows:

Freehold property up to 50 years
Leasehold improvements over the expected term of the lease
Plant and office equipment 3-10 years
Vehicles 3-5 years

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected 
useful lives on the same basis as owned assets. Residual values and 
estimated useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least  
at each financial year-end.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable 
amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated 
recoverable amount.

Gains and losses arising on disposals are determined by comparing net 
sales proceeds with carrying amounts and are recognised in the Income 
Statement in the period of the disposal.

o Impairment of tangible and intangible assets
(i) Goodwill
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to the 
cash-generating units expected to benefit from the combination. 
Cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated are  
tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when there  
is an indication that the unit may be impaired.

If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than  
the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated first  
to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and 
then to the other assets of the unit pro rata on the basis of the carrying 
amount of each asset in the unit.

An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed  
in a subsequent period.
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that the relationship between the hedged item and the hedging 
instrument will be highly effective. The effectiveness test is re-performed 
at each period end to ensure that the hedge remained and will continue 
to remain highly effective.

r Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation  
as a result of a past event, and it is probable that the Group will be 
required to settle that obligation. Provisions are measured at the 
Directors’ best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the 
obligation at the balance sheet date, and are discounted to present  
value where the effect is material.

s Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations
Non-current assets classified as held for sale and discontinued 
operations are measured at the lower of the carrying amount and  
fair value less costs to sell. The assets are not depreciated.

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for  
sale if their carrying amount will be recovered through a sale transaction 
rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded as having 
been met only when the sale is highly probable and the asset (or disposal 
group) is available for immediate sale in its present condition. The 
Directors must be committed to the sale, which should be expected to 
qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one year from the date 
of classification.

t Segmental reporting
A business segment is an operation engaged in providing services that 
are subject to a different risk, regulatory or economic environment from 
those of other business segments. A geographical segment is engaged 
in providing services within a particular world location.
 
The three business segments used by management to review the 
business are defined at the front of this report. These segments form  
the basis for reporting the Group’s primary segment information as they 
are the main determinants of the Group’s risks and returns.

u Investments in subsidiaries
Investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less accumulated 
impairment losses.

v Financial risk management
The Group has a limited number of overseas operations, significant cash 
balances and a revolving credit facility which exposes the Group to the 
effects of changes in foreign currency exchange rates, changes in 
interest rates and credit risk. The Group finance department manages 
these risks within a defined set of policies and procedures laid down  
by the Board. The Board has identified that the Group is exposed to 
foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and 
price risk in varying degrees. The Group’s policy for managing these 
risks is set out in note 24. In 2008 the Group entered into agreements 
to hedge against interest rate risk on bank borrowings.

w Key accounting estimates
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies which are 
described above, management has made the following judgements 
which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised  
in the Financial Statements: 

(i) Retirement benefit obligations
The Group has retirement benefit obligations for which management 
have made judgements in arriving at their value. The key assumptions 
made and the sensitivity to these judgements are shown in note 36. 

1 Accounting policies (continued)
q Financial instruments (continued)
(i) Trade receivables (continued) 
and default may be considered indicators that the trade receivable may 
be impaired. Delinquency of payments is an indicator that we should 
consider whether the asset needs to be impaired, not that it actually  
is. The amount of the provision is the difference between the asset’s  
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, 
discounted at the original effective interest rate. The carrying amount  
of the asset is reduced through the use of a provisions account, and  
the amount of the loss is recognised in the Income Statement within 
administrative expenses. When a trade receivable is uncollectable,  
it is written off against the provisions account for trade receivables.

(ii) Cash and cash equivalents 
These comprise cash in hand and on demand deposits, and other 
short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three 
months or less that are readily convertible to a known amount of  
cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

(iii) Trade payables
Trade payables are not interest-bearing and are initially measured  
at their fair value. 

(iv) Assets held for sale
Non-current assets held for sale are classified as held for sale if their 
carrying amounts will be recovered principally through a sale transaction, 
not through continuing use. They are included in current assets as 
management intends to dispose of them within 12 months of the 
balance sheet date.

(v) Borrowings
Bank overdrafts and interest-bearing loans are initially measured  
at fair value, and obligations under finance leases are dealt with in 
accordance with the Group’s policy on leases (note 1p). After initial 
recognition loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost, taking into account issue costs.

(vi) Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued are recorded at the proceeds received,  
net of direct issue costs.
 
(vii) Financial liabilities and equity
Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according  
to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into. 

(viii) Derivative financial instruments
The derivative instruments used by the Group, which are used solely  
for hedging purposes (i.e to offset interest rate risks) comprise interest 
rate swaps. Such derivative instruments are used to alter the risk profile 
of an existing underlying exposure of the Group, in line with the Group’s 
risk management policies.

The Group has designated these derivatives as cash flow hedges.  
The effective portion of changes in the fair value of the derivative that  
is designated and qualifies for hedge accounting is recognised as a 
separate component of equity. The ineffective portion is recognised 
immediately in the Income Statement. Amounts accumulated in equity 
are recycled to the Income Statement in the period in which the hedged 
item affects profit and loss.

In order to qualify for hedge accounting, the Group is required to 
document the relationship between the hedged item and the hedging 
instrument. The Group is also required to document and demonstrate 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the year ended 31 July 2008
(continued)
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IFRS 8, Operating Segments (effective for accounting periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2009) replaces IAS 14 and aligns segment reporting 
with the requirements of the US standard SFAS 131 – Disclosures About 
Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information. The new standard 
uses a ‘management approach’ under which segment information is 
presented on the same basis as that used for internal reporting purposes.

IFRS 2, Share-based Payments – clarification of share vesting conditions 
(effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009), is 
not expected to have any significant impact on the results of the Group.

IFRS 3 (revised), Business Combinations (effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 July 2009) will impact the calculation of 
consideration and goodwill for future acquisitions, as transaction costs 
will be expensed and some contingent payments will be re-measured  
at fair value through the Income Statement. If this had been early-adopted, 
£2.2 million of goodwill currently capitalised would have been expensed 
through the Income Statement in the period.

IAS 1 (revised), Presentation of Financial Statements (effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009) is not expected to have 
any significant impact on the results of the Group.

IAS 23, Borrowing Costs (effective from 1 January 2009). The  
amendment to the standard is still subject to endorsement by the EU.  
It requires an entity to capitalise borrowing costs directly attributable  
to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset  
(one that takes a substantial period of time to get ready for use or sale)  
as part of the cost of that asset. The option of immediately expensing 
those borrowing costs will be removed. This is not expected to have  
a material effect on the results of the Group.

IAS 27 (revised), Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements 
(effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009)  
is not expected to have any significant impact on the results of  
the Group.

IAS 32, Financial Instruments and IAS 1, Presentation of Financial 
Statements, (effective from 1 January 2009). The amendments  
require entities to classify certain types of financial instruments  
as equity, provided they have particular features and meet  
specified conditions. The Group will apply these amendments  
from 1 August 2009 but they are not expected to have a significant  
impact on the Group’s accounts.

(ii) Interpretations to existing standards that are not yet effective  
and have not been adopted early by the Group:

The following interpretations to existing standards have been  
published that are mandatory for later accounting periods and  
the Group has not adopted them early:

IFRIC 14, IAS 19 The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum  
Funding Requirements and Their Interaction (effective for accounting 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2008). IFRIC 14 provides 
guidance on assessing the limit in IAS 19 on the amount of the surplus 
that can be recognised as an asset. It also explains how the pension 
asset or liability may be affected by a statutory or contractual minimum 
funding requirement. The Group will apply IFRIC 14 from 1 August 
2008, but it is not expected to have any impact on the Group’s or 
Company’s accounts based on current IAS 19 assumptions.

1 Accounting policies (continued)
(ii) Intangible assets 
As described in note 1m, the Group recognises certain intangible 
assets on acquisition. Judgements in respect of useful lives, discount 
rates and valuation methods affect the carrying value and amortisation 
charges in respect of these assets. These judgements are shown in 
note 12.

(iii) Goodwill
An annual impairment review of goodwill is undertaken in accordance 
with note 1o. The Group performs these reviews by estimating  
the future cash flows for the appropriate cash-generating units. 

(iv) Revenue recognition
The Group’s revenue recognition policy is stated in note 1h. In some 
cases, judgement is required to determine the appropriate proportion  
of the value delivered on the contract and the extent to which fees will  
be recoverable. 

(v) Deferred tax
Management has estimated the likely value of deferred tax assets  
in respect of trading losses.

(vi) Share-based payment estimates
The Group’s accounting policy for share-based payments is stated  
in note 1k. The fair value of equity settled share-based payments  
is partly determined from estimates of factors such as lapse rates  
and achievement of performance conditions.

x Research and development
Expenditure on research is recognised as an expense in the period  
in which it is incurred. Development costs are expensed in the period  
in which the costs are incurred unless the criteria for capitalisation  
are met (see intangible assets policy in note 1m).

y Dividends
Final dividends are recorded in the Group’s Consolidated Financial 
Statements in the period in which they are approved by the Group’s 
shareholders. Interim dividends are recognised when paid.

z Exceptional items
Material and non-recurring items of income and expense are disclosed  
in the Income Statement as exceptional items. Examples of items which 
may give rise to disclosure as exceptional items include gains or losses 
on the disposal of businesses, costs of restructuring and reorganisation 
of existing businesses, integration of newly acquired businesses, asset 
impairments and pension fund settlements and curtailments.

Amortisation of acquired intangible assets is also treated as an 
exceptional item so that the underlying profit of the Group can be 
measured from year to year. Underlying operating profit is one  
of the key measures used by the Board to monitor the Group’s 
performance.

aa New IFRS standards not applied 
(i) Standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards  
that have been published as mandatory for later accounting periods  
but are not yet effective and have not been adopted early by the Group:

IFRIC 12, Service Concession Arrangements (effective for accounting 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2008), where a private sector 
operator participates in providing services to the public sector, for 
example under PFI contracts.
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2 Segmental analysis 
Primary segment information – business segments
The Group’s operations are organised and managed separately, according to the nature of services provided. A description of each of the primary 
segments can be found in the Business Review on pages 6 to 39.

Analysis of results by business segment is as follows:
 Group
       Government Regulated Total
      Highways Services Industries Group
2008     £000 £000 £000 £000

Total revenue     255,971 273,635 192,148 721,754
Inter-segment revenue     (34,733) (6,563) (23,715) (65,011)

Total external revenue     221,238 267,072 168,433 656,743

         
Underlying operating profit1      16,567 14,428 10,720 41,715
Amortisation of intangible assets arising from business combinations   (2,107) (1,876) (1,668) (5,651)
Other exceptional items        (6,799)

Operating profit        29,265
Interest receivable        4,756
Finance costs        (7,708)

Profit before tax        26,313
Taxation        (6,761)

Profit for the year        19,552

         
Assets by segment         

Goodwill and other intangibles     33,574 117,915 38,120 189,609
Unbilled revenue      18,493 16,104 18,036 52,633
Trade receivables     28,257 32,879 29,635 90,771
Other segment assets      15,732 49,176 21,578 86,486
Unallocated assets:        
– deferred tax assets        21,926
– other unallocated assets        7,717

Total assets         449,142

Liabilities by segment        

Trade payables – current     (16,377) (24,536) (6,697) (47,610) 
Other segment liabilities     (60,076) (107,282) (51,050) (218,408) 
Unallocated liabilities:        
– current tax liabilities        (12,857)
– deferred tax liabilities        (15,122)
– retirement benefit obligations        (34,561)
– other unallocated liabilities        (1,694)

Total liabilities        (330,252)

Total net assets        118,890

Inter-segment revenue is charged at market rate, based on hours worked.

1  Underlying operating profit is before amortisation of intangible assets arising from business combinations of £5,651,000 (2007: £2,448,000) and other exceptional items detailed in note 3  
of £6,799,000 (2007: net gain of £18,190,000).

 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the year ended 31 July 2008
(continued)
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2 Segmental analysis (continued)
 Group
       Government Regulated Total
      Highways Services Industries Group
2008     £000 £000 £000 £000

Other segment items        
Capital expenditure (intangible and tangible assets)    3,512 36,115 3,077 42,704
Depreciation charge     1,144 5,853 734 7,731
Amortisation of intangible assets – software     548 3,083 408 4,039
Amortisation of intangible assets arising from business combinations   2,107 1,876 1,668 5,651

The financing of the Group’s activities is undertaken centrally and consequently net financing costs cannot be analysed segmentally. 

The unallocated net assets principally comprise items relating to the captive insurance company and the Parent Company.

All operations in 2008 and 2007 are continuing.
 Group
       Government Regulated Total
      Highways Services Industries Group
2007     £000 £000 £000 £000

Total revenue     228,211 104,653 158,627 491,491
Inter-segment revenue     (26,303) (3,263) (13,544) (43,110)

Total external revenue     201,908 101,390 145,083 448,381

    
Underlying operating profit1      14,812 9,304 8,858 32,974
Amortisation of intangible assets arising from business combinations   (1,148) (333) (967) (2,448)
Net gain arising on retirement benefit plan changes       18,190

Operating profit        48,716
Interest receivable        631
Finance costs        (1,215)

Profit before tax        48,132
Taxation        (14,127)

Profit for the year        34,005

Assets by segment    

Goodwill and other intangibles     32,916 12,433 37,635 82,984 
Unbilled revenue      23,079 11,170 15,830 50,079
Trade receivables     21,008 16,154 22,285 59,447
Other segment assets     14,214 10,353 16,857 41,424 
Unallocated assets:    
– deferred tax assets        8,018
– other unallocated assets        6,931

Total assets         248,883

Liabilities by segment    

Trade payables – current     (19,093) (13,259) (9,658) (42,010)
Other segment liabilities     (23,596) (10,583) (23,806) (57,985)
Unallocated liabilities:    
– current tax liabilities        (9,358)
– deferred tax liabilities        (9,379)
– retirement benefit obligations        (18,004)
– other unallocated liabilities        (1,839)

Total liabilities        (138,575)

Total net assets        110,308

1  Underlying operating profit is before amortisation of intangible assets arising from business combinations of £5,651,000 (2007: £2,448,000) and other exceptional items detailed in note 3  
of £6,799,000 (2007: net gain of £18,190,000).
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2 Segmental analysis (continued)
Primary segment information – business segments (continued) Group
       Government Regulated Total
      Highways Services Industries Group
2007     £000 £000 £000 £000

Other segment items     
Capital expenditure (intangible and tangible assets)    18,066 6,484 8,689 33,239
Depreciation charge     1,629 1,044 1,246 3,919
Amortisation of intangible assets – software     506 239 352 1,097
Amortisation of intangible assets arising from business combinations   1,148 333 967 2,448

Secondary segment information – geographical segments
The table below represents revenue by geographical origin (the analysis by geographical destination is not materially different to that by origin) and 
the carrying amount of net assets and capital expenditure by the location of those assets.

  Group  
 Revenue Segment net assets Capital expenditure
    2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
    £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

United Kingdom   621,271 430,663 108,060 106,593 41,856 32,935
Middle East   32,084 15,907 7,770 1,899 845 293
Other overseas   3,388 1,811 3,060 1,816 3 11

    656,743 448,381 118,890 110,308 42,704 33,239

Company
The Company’s business is to invest in its subsidiaries and therefore it operates in a single segment.

3 Exceptional items 
 Group
        2008 2007
        £000 £000

Reduction in retirement benefit obligations1       – 18,530
Costs associated with change in benefits        (150) (340)

Net (loss)/gain arising on retirement benefit plan changes      (150) 18,190
Integration and transition costs2       (5,811) –
Rebrand costs3       (838) –

Other exceptional items       (6,799) 18,190 
Amortisation of intangible assets arising from business combinations4     (5,651) (2,448)

Exceptional items       (12,450) 15,742

1  During the year ended 31 July 2007 the Group conducted a review of the benefits provided under the Mouchel Superannuation Fund (MSF) and the Mouchel Staff Pension Scheme (MSPS) 
(‘the Schemes’). Following consultation with members of the main sections of the Schemes, the pension ultimately payable to an individual will be based on their average earnings, calculated 
over the period of pensionable service (career average revalued earnings or CARE) rather than their salary in the period immediately preceding retirement (final salary). The averaging of salary 
described above will take place only for future periods of service. The pension built up to 31 July 2007 will be calculated on final pensionable salary and will increase in line with inflation, 
capped at 5% per annum, up to retirement date. As a result of this change the retirement benefit obligation was reduced by £18,190,000 net of costs in the year to 31 July 2007.

2  The integration and transition costs have arisen as a result of the acquisitions of HBS Business Services Group Limited (renamed Mouchel Business Services Limited (MBS)) and Hedra plc 
(renamed Mouchel Management Consulting Limited (MCL)). The integration of MBS and MCL has resulted in a small number of staff redundancies, the closure of a loss-making business 
and other transition costs.

3  Rebrand costs are the costs associated with the change in name for the Group from Mouchel Parkman plc to Mouchel Group plc in December 2007. 
4 The Group treats the amortisation of intangible assets arising from business combinations as exceptional costs.

Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the year ended 31 July 2008
(continued)
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4 Analysis by nature of expense 
The following items have been included in arriving at profit before taxation:
 Group
        2008 2007
        £000 £000

Staff costs (note 6)       345,691 249,016
Subconsultants       166,734 103,110
Cost of sales on outsourced contracts       12,638 –
Other exceptional items (note 3)       6,799 –
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment: 
– owned assets       7,485 3,909
– held under finance leases       246 10
Amortisation of intangible assets arising from business combinations     5,651 2,448
Amortisation of software       4,039 1,097
Loss/(profit) on disposal of fixed assets       4 (14)
Net gain arising on retirement benefit plan changes      – (18,190)
Travel and subsistence       14,585 12,662
Legal and professional fees       2,356 1,503
Insurance       5,472 5,151
Rates and premises maintenance       8,448 7,366
Amortisation of bank facility fees (note 22)       170 –
Other operating lease rentals payable:  
– plant and machinery       5,547 3,864
– property       12,538 7,178
Repairs and maintenance expenditure on property, plant and equipment     644 489
Trade receivables and unbilled revenue impairment      882 –
Loss on foreign exchange       55 147
Research and development costs       – 750
Other expenses       27,494 19,169

Total cost of sales, distribution and administrative expenses     627,478 399,665

 
Auditor remuneration   
Services provided by the Group’s Auditors and its network firms were as follows:
        2008 2007
        £000 £000

Audit services  
Fees payable to the Company’s Auditor for the statutory audit of the Company’s and Group’s
consolidated annual Financial Statements1       452 245
  
Non-audit fees  
Fees payable to the Company’s Auditor and its associates for the statutory audits of the Company’s 
associates and for other services:  
– the auditing of Financial Statements of the Company’s associates pursuant to legislation    117 100
– other services supplied pursuant to legislation       95 –
– other services relating to taxation        202 150
– actuarial services       178 120
– all other services2       299 242

        1,343 857

1  The fees payable in respect of the statutory audit of the Company were £20,000 (2007: £20,000).
2 Other services include acquisition due diligence costs of £287,000 (2007: £192,000).
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5 Finance (costs)/income
 Group
        2008 2007
        £000 £000

Interest income       1,838 631
Net interest receivable on retirement benefit obligations (note 36)     2,918 –

Interest receivable        4,756 631

Interest expense:  
– interest payable on bank facilities       (487) (1,045)
– interest payable on finance leases       (63) (10)
– interest payable on other loans       (258) –
– interest payable on revolving credit facility       (6,900) –
– net interest payable on retirement benefit obligations (note 36)     – (160)

Finance costs       (7,708) (1,215)

Net finance costs       (2,952) (584)

6 Employees and Directors
Staff costs during the year were as follows:
 Group Company
      2008 2007 2008 2007
      £000 £000 £000 £000

Wages and salaries     304,221 219,533 3,716 3,725
Social security costs     23,407 16,657 434 358
Other pension costs (note 36)     16,833 12,260 382 455
Share-based payments (note 30)     1,230 566 235 57

      345,691 249,016 4,767 4,595

Staff costs include temporary staff, but exclude the gain in the year to 31 July 2007 of £18,530,000 arising on retirement benefit plan changes 
which has been shown as an exceptional credit.

The number of people (including Executive Directors and temporary staff) employed at the year end was as follows:

       Group
      Government Regulated Group
     Highways Services Industries Functions  Total
2008    No. No. No. No. No.

Total staff     3,480 4,832 2,671 358 11,341

       Group
      Government Regulated Group 
     Highways Services Industries Functions Total
2007    No. No. No. No. No.

Total staff    3,488  1,966 2,391 323 8,168

At the year end the Company had two staff (2007: two), both of whom were involved in the administration of Group activities.

The Company is recharged by a subsidiary company for staff costs associated with Group reporting and administration.

    
 Group Company
      2008 2007 2008 2007
Key management compensation     £000 £000 £000 £000

Salaries and short-term employee benefits     1,897 2,011 972 900
Post-employment benefits      120 385 29 27
Share-based payments     180 343 85 198

Key management comprises Executive and Non-Executive Directors and members of the Group Management Board. There were no other 
transactions with key management personnel during the year ended 31 July 2008 (2007: £nil).

More detailed information on the emoluments, pensions, option holdings and shareholdings for each Director is shown in the Remuneration Report  
on pages 51 to 55.
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7 Taxation 
a Analysis of tax charge for the year
   
 Group
        2008 2007
        £000 £000

Current tax       (5,246) (9,783)
Deferred tax       (1,515) (4,344)

Tax charge for the year       (6,761) (14,127)

b Factors affecting the tax charge for the year
The tax charge for each year is different to the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 29.33%1 (2007: 30%). The differences are explained below:

 Group
        2008 2007
        £000 £000

Profit before tax       26,313 48,132

Profit multiplied by the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 29.33%1 (2007: 30%)   (7,718) (14,440)
Effects of:  
– permanent differences       1,070 702
– change in tax rate       213 –
– adjustment in respect of prior years       (21) (276)
– losses        (305) (113)

Tax charge for the year        (6,761) (14,127)

1 Due to the change in tax rate in the year, the blended rate for the financial year is 29.33%. The rate to 31 March 2008 was 30% and from 1 April 2008 the rate was 28%.

c Tax on items charged to equity
 Group
        2008 2007
        £000 £000

Movement in pension scheme valuations       6,586 (3,704)
Adjustments to estimated recoverable deferred tax assets      75 (312)

Deferred tax on items credited/(charged) to equity      6,661 (4,016)
Deferred tax on items charged to the Income Statement      (1,515) (4,344)

Total deferred tax credit/(charge)       5,146 (8,360)

Unrecognised deferred tax assets in relation to trading losses total £17,000,000 (2007: £nil). In addition there are unrecognised deferred tax assets  
in respect of non-trading losses of £1,890,000 (2007: £nil).

8 Profit of the Parent Company
The Group Income Statement consolidates the Income Statement of the Parent Company and subsidiary undertakings. As permitted by section 
230 of the Companies Act 1985, the Income Statement of the Parent Company is not presented as part of these accounts. The Parent 
Company’s result for the financial year amounted to a profit of £71,000 (2007: £299,032,000).

During the year ended 31 July 2007 the Group was restructured to simplify its organisational structure through the creation of divisional holding 
companies for the trading, financing, overseas and dormant companies. The simplified structure realigned the legal and beneficial interests of 
companies within the Group. The Parent Company disposed of investments in trading subsidiaries to the new holding companies at market value 
resulting in a large profit in 2007.

9 Dividends
 Group and Company
        2008 2007
        £000 £000

Final paid in respect of the previous year 3.45p (2007: 2.70p)     3,796 2,926
Interim paid in respect of the current year 1.85p (2007: 1.55p)     2,074 1,701
Less: dividend on own shares       – (21)
Less: dividend waived by employee share ownership trusts      (104) (69)

Total dividends paid       5,766 4,537

In addition, the Directors are proposing a final dividend for the financial year ended 31 July 2008 of 4.25p (2007: 3.45p) per share which will absorb  
an estimated £4,700,000 (2007: £3,800,000) of shareholders’ funds. It will be paid on 19 December 2008 to shareholders who are on the register  
of members as at 24 October 2008.
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10 Earnings per share
 Group
        2008 2007
        £000 £000

Basic earnings per share       17.9p 31.5p
Diluted earnings per share       17.7p 31.3p
Adjusted earnings per share       25.7p 21.0p

  
        2008 2007
        £000 £000

Profit for the year       19,552 34,005

Earnings for basic and diluted earnings per share      19,552 34,005

Adjustments:  
– other exceptional costs (net of taxation)       4,804 –
– amortisation of intangible assets arising from business combinations (net of taxation)    4,069 1,714
– gain arising on retirement benefit plan changes (net of taxation)     – (12,733)

Earnings for adjusted earnings per share       28,425 22,986

         2008 2007
        000s 000s

Weighted average number of ordinary shares       109,418 107,964 
Dilutive share options       620 463
Dilutive Save As You Earn schemes       233 350 

Diluted weighted average number of ordinary shares      110,271 108,777

  
Weighted average number of ordinary shares       109,418 107,964
Average number of shares held by the employee share trusts     1,953 2,113
Share options (shares held in the employee share trusts) matured in respect of executive share option schemes  (559) (606)

Adjusted weighted average number of ordinary shares      110,812 109,471 

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders by the weighted average number of shares  
during the year.

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue on the assumption of conversion  
of all dilutive share options in issue and shares under Save As You Earn schemes. The share price used to calculate diluted earnings per share  
is based on a weighted average price of 428.13p (31 July 2007: 407.05p).

Adjusted earnings per share is calculated after adding back shares held by the employee share trusts to the weighted average number of shares. 
Earnings are adjusted to exclude amortisation of intangible assets arising from business combinations and other exceptional items (net of taxation). 
The Directors believe that this additional measure provides a better indicator of the underlying trends in the business.

11 Goodwill
         Group

         Cost and 
         net book value
2008        £000

At 1 August 2007        48,691 
Additions – business combinations (note 35)        69,379
Adjustment to fair values        51

At 31 July 2008        118,121

Adjustment was made to the value of goodwill associated with the purchase of Hornagold & Hills following a review of the value of net assets acquired.

         Group

         Cost and 
         net book value
2007        £000

At 1 August 2006        22,569
Additions – business combinations (note 35)        26,122

At 31 July 2007        48,691
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11 Goodwill (continued)
Impairment tests for goodwill         
Goodwill is allocated to the Group’s cash-generating units (CGUs) identified according to the business segment.
  
A segment-level summary of the goodwill allocation is presented below:        

 2008 2007
   Government Regulated   Government  Regulated
  Highways Services  Industries Total Highways Services  Industries Total 
  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

United Kingdom 17,905 76,895 23,321 118,121  18,176  7,013   23,502  48,691 

The recoverable amount of a CGU is determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations use conservative pre-tax cash flow 
projections based on financial budgets, extrapolated using estimated prudent growth rates stated below. The growth rate does not exceed the 
long-term average for the business in which the CGU operates. 
   
The key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations are as follows:
        Government Regulated
       Highways Services Industries
       % % %

Budgeted net margin      8.0-14.0 4.0-10.0 4.0-13.0
Growth rate for the first five years      5.0-8.0 5.0 5.0
Long-term average growth rate       2.3 2.3 2.3
Discount rate (pre-tax)      10.2 10.2 10.2

These assumptions have been used for the analysis of each CGU within the business segment.

Budgeted net margin is based on past performance and its expectations of market development. The weighted average growth rates used are 
consistent with the forecasts in industry reports. The discount rates used are pre-tax and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant segments. 
There were no impairments identified during the year.

12 Other intangible assets
 Group
    Assets in  Other   
    the course of Customer acquired  Other 
    construction relationships intangibles Software intangibles Total
2008   £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Cost    
At 1 August 2007   2,744 29,255 – 4,994 3,360 40,353
Acquisitions (note 35)   – 27,400 4,063 9,708 1,000 42,171
Additions   2,951 – – 1,763 – 4,714
Transferred to software   (795) – – 795 – –

At 31 July 2008   4,900 56,655 4,063 17,260 4,360 87,238

Accumulated amortisation     
At 1 August 2007   – 3,293 – 2,236 531 6,060
Charge for the year   – 4,796 100 3,939 855 9,690

At 31 July 2008   – 8,089 100 6,175 1,386 15,750

Net book value
At 31 July 2008   4,900 48,566 3,963 11,085 2,974 71,488

At 31 July 2007    2,744 25,962 – 2,758 2,829 34,293

Assets in the course of construction and software are internally generated.
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12 Other intangible assets (continued)
 Group
     Assets in    
     the course of Customer  Other 
     construction relationships Software intangibles Total
2007    £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Cost    
At 1 August 2006    – 9,245 3,339 160 12,744
Acquisitions (note 35)    – 20,010 – 3,200 23,210
Additions    2,744 – 1,655 – 4,399

At 31 July 2007    2,744 29,255 4,994 3,360 40,353

Accumulated amortisation     
At 1 August 2006    – 1,376 1,139 – 2,515
Charge for the year    – 1,917 1,097 531 3,545

At 31 July 2007    – 3,293 2,236 531 6,060

Net book value
At 31 July 2007    2,744 25,962 2,758 2,829 34,293

At 31 July 2006     – 7,869 2,200 160 10,229

Assets in the course of construction are not amortised, in accordance with note 1m of the Financial Statements.

Customer relationships brought forward have a useful life of between nine and 15 years. The approximate remaining lives of these relationships  
are between eight and 12 years. The two customer relationships acquired in the year (as a result of the acquisitions of HBS and Hedra) have  
a useful life of 13 years and seven years respectively. The values of these relationships were arrived at by discounting attributable future cash  
flows. A discount rate of between 10% and 13% was used as appropriate, based on the weighted average cost of capital of the acquired entity.  
A customer attrition rate of between 7% and 15% was assumed.

Software costs are amortised over their estimated useful lives of between three and five years. All amortisation charges in the year have been 
charged through administrative expenses.

Other intangibles comprise non-compete agreements, specialist software acquired and a licence for the Contractors Assurance Case (CAC)  
which enables us to work on UK railways. The software was valued on a replacement cost basis and is amortised over five years. The values  
of the non-compete agreements were calculated using discounted cash flows on two base cases; one assuming employees did compete and 
comparing that with the values obtained if employees did not compete. Their useful lives are between two and three years; the same timespan  
as the non-compete agreement is enforceable for. The CAC was valued on a replacement case basis. Once granted, this licence does not need  
to be renewed and therefore has an indefinite life. 

13 Property, plant and equipment
       Group
     Leasehold Freehold Plant and office  
     improvements properties equipment Vehicles Total
2008    £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Cost       
At 1 August 2007    4,002 4,089 36,961 297 45,349
Foreign exchange translation difference    7 – 22 – 29
     4,009 4,089 36,983 297 45,378
Acquisitions (note 35)    – – 4,095 – 4,095
Additions     725 – 8,805 60 9,590
Disposals1     – – (10,601) (219) (10,820)
Transferred to assets held for sale (note 19)    – (4,089) – – (4,089)
At 31 July 2008    4,734 – 39,282 138 44,154
Accumulated depreciation     
At 1 August 2007    1,732 90 26,910 100 28,832
Foreign exchange translation difference    5 – 2 – 7
     1,737 90 26,912 100 28,839
Disposals1     – – (10,356) (49) (10,405)
Charge for the year     702 15 6,990 24 7,731
Transferred to assets held for sale (note 19)    – (105) – – (105)
At 31 July 2008     2,439 – 23,546 75 26,060
Net book value     
At 31 July 2008    2,295 – 15,736 63 18,094
At 31 July 2007    2,270 3,999 10,051 197 16,517

The net book value of assets held under finance leases was £574,000 (2007: £nil). Depreciation in the year on those assets was £246,000 (2007: £10,000).

1 Items with a gross cost of £8,748,000 and a £nil net book value were written off during the year.
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13 Property, plant and equipment (continued)
 Group
     Leasehold Freehold Plant and office  
     improvements properties equipment Vehicles Total
2007    £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Cost      
At 1 August 2006    3,111 4,089 31,464 292 38,956
Foreign exchange translation difference    (1) – 15 (1) 13

     3,110 4,089 31,479 291 38,969
Acquisitions    82 – 688 21 791
Additions     810 – 4,819 1 5,630
Disposals     – – (25) (16) (41)

At 31 July 2007    4,002 4,089  36,961 297 45,349

Accumulated depreciation     
At 1 August 2006    1,259 60 23,526 81 24,926
Foreign exchange translation difference    – – 18 (1) 17

     1,259 60 23,544 80 24,943
Disposals     – – (14) (16) (30)
Charge for the year     473 30 3,380 36 3,919

At 31 July 2007     1,732 90 26,910 100 28,832

Net book value     
At 31 July 2007    2,270 3,999 10,051 197 16,517

At 31 July 2006    1,852 4,029 7,938 211 14,030
 
         Company
         Freehold
         properties
2008        £000

Cost  
At 1 August 2007        4,089
Transferred to assets held for sale (note 19)        (4,089)

At 31 July 2008        –

Accumulated depreciation        
At 1 August 2007        90
Charge for the year        15
Transferred to assets held for sale (note 19)        (105)

At 31 July 2008        –

Net book value 
At 31 July 2008        –

At 31 July 2007        3,999

         Company
         Freehold
         properties
2007        £000

Cost  
At 1 August 2006 and 31 July 2007        4,089

Accumulated depreciation 
At 1 August 2006        60
Charge for the year        30

At 31 July 2007        90

Net book value 
At 31 July 2007        3,999

At 31 July 2006        4,029

The expected sale proceeds exceed the carrying value.
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14 Investments in subsidiaries
Shares in subsidiary undertakings
         Company
2008        £000

Cost and net book value  
At 1 August 2007 and 31 July 2008        322,736

         Company
2007        £000

Cost and net book value  
At 1 August 2006        1,725
Additions        321,213
Disposals        (202)

At 31 July 2007        322,736

During the year ended 31 July 2007 the Company subscribed for 100% of the issued share capital of Mouchel Holdings Limited, a holding company 
for the Group’s trading entities, for £22,175,000. It also subscribed for 100% of the issued share capital of Mouchel Finance and Treasury Limited,  
a holding company for the Group’s finance company and share trusts, for £299,038,000. The additions were satisfied by loan notes.

The 2007 disposals above formed part of the Group restructuring effective from 1 August 2006 and were also satisfied by the issue of 
intercompany loan notes. The disposals were part of the Group’s restructuring.

Subsidiaries
The principal subsidiaries in which the Company had an interest at 31 July 2008, their country of incorporation and registration as well as 
ownership of their share capital, are listed below:
       Proportion of Country of registration/
Company      shares held (%) incorporation

Mouchel Limited1 (formerly Mouchel Parkman Services Limited)    100 England and Wales
Mouchel Rail Limited1 (formerly Mouchel Parkman Rail Limited)    100 England and Wales
Mouchel Traffic Support Limited1 (formerly Traffic Support MP Limited)    100 England and Wales
Mouchel Ewan Limited1 (formerly Mouchel Parkman Ewan Limited)    100 England and Wales
Mouchel Holdings Limited (formerly Mouchel Parkman Holdings Limited)    100 England and Wales
Parkman Consultants Limited1      100 England and Wales
Mouchel Finance and Treasury Holdings Limited (formerly Mouchel Parkman Finance  
 and Treasury Holdings Limited)      100 England and Wales
Mouchel Finance Limited1 (formerly Mouchel Parkman Finance Limited)    100 England and Wales
Mouchel Dormant Holdings Limited (formerly  Mouchel Parkman Dormant Holdings Limited)  100 England and Wales
Mouchel Ireland Limited1 (formerly Mouchel Parkman Ireland Limited)    100 Republic of Ireland
Mouchel Insurance Limited (formerly  Mouchel Parkman Insurance Limited)    100 Guernsey
Mouchel International (Jersey) Limited1 (formerly  Mouchel Parkman International (Jersey) Limited)  100 Jersey
Mouchel International Limited (formerly Mouchel Parkman International Limited)   100 Hong Kong
Mouchel Business Services Limited1 (formerly HBS Business Services Group Limited)   100 England and Wales
Mouchel Management Consulting Limited1 (formerly Hedra plc)    100 England and Wales

1 Held indirectly.

The trading subsidiaries changed their names as part of the Group’s rebrand exercise. 

All companies have a 31 July year end except for Parkman Consultants Limited which has a 31 March year end. 

All the trading subsidiaries have the same principal activity as the Group except for Mouchel Holdings Limited and Mouchel Dormant Holdings 
Limited which are holding companies, Mouchel Finance and Treasury Holdings Limited and Mouchel Finance Limited which are internal financing 
companies and Mouchel Insurance Limited which is a captive insurance company. 

All subsidiaries are included within the consolidated results of the Group.

Other investments 
The Group’s other investments include a 50% holding in Mouchel IRE Limited, registered in the Ukraine, and a 25% holding in Chotichinda 
Mouchel Consultants Limited, incorporated in Thailand. These companies are dormant.



79 2008 Annual Report and Accounts
Mouchel Group plc

Group Financial Statements

14 Investments in subsidiaries (continued)
Joint ventures 
The Group has interests in the following joint ventures:

Incorporated joint ventures:
       Country of registration Equity proportion of Voting rights  
Name     /incorporation  joint interest held % %

2020 Liverpool Limited     England and Wales 80.1 50
2020 Knowsley Limited     England and Wales 64.2 25
EnterpriseMouchel Limited     England and Wales 50 50
Hackney Schools for the Future Limited      England and Wales 40 40
Mouchel Babcock Education Services Limited     England and Wales 50 50
Mouchel Babcock Education Investments Limited    England and Wales 50 50
Mouchel South Africa (PTY) Limited     South Africa 49 49
MPHBS Limited1     England and Wales 100 100
The Impact Partnership Limited (Rochdale Borough) Limited    England and Wales 80.1 50
The Unity Partnership Limited     England and Wales 67 67

Unincorporated joint ventures:
        Country of  Equity proportion of Voting rights  
Name     operation joint interest held % %

Scotland Transerv     Great Britain 30 50
Mouchel Fairhurst     Great Britain 50 50
Rail Structures Midlands     Great Britain 50 50
Southern Assessment Contract     Great Britain 40 33
Westminster TranServ     Great Britain 20 50
KMI+     Great Britain 7.5 25
Amey Mouchel     Great Britain 25 50
Children First     Great Britain 70 50
PeekMouchel     Great Britain 50 50
WHIMS     Great Britain 60 60

1  Joint venture entity between Mouchel Holdings Limited and HBS Business Services Group Limited (HBS). On 6 August 2007, Mouchel Holdings Limited acquired HBS, thereby gaining 
100% control of the joint venture.

All of these arrangements are accounted for in accordance with the policy detailed in note 1e. 2020 Liverpool Limited, 2020 Knowsley Limited,  
The Impact Partnership (Rochdale Borough) Limited and MPHBS Limited have a 31 March year end. Mouchel Babcock Education Services 
Limited has a 31 May year end and Mouchel Babcock Education Investments Limited has a 31 December year end. Hackney Schools for the 
Future Limited has a 31 October year end. Where joint venture entities do not have a 31 July year end, unaudited accounts for the period from  
1 August to 31 July are used for consolidation purposes.

In relation to the Group’s interests in jointly controlled entities, the assets, liabilities, income and expenses recognised are shown below: 

 Group
        2008 2007
        £000 £000

Non-current assets       2,790 2,470
Current assets       27,165 20,448
Current liabilities       (28,965) (23,080)
Non-current liabilities       – (73)

Net assets/(liabilities)       990 (235)

  
Revenue       100,453 55,246
Expenses       (99,118) (55,704)

Profit/(loss) before tax       1,335 (458)
Taxation       (356) –

Share of post-taxation results from jointly controlled entities     979 (458)

15 Capital commitments
Group and Company
Neither the Group nor the Company were committed to any material capital expenditure as at 31 July 2008 or 31 July 2007.
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16 Deferred tax
 Group
      Accelerated Retirement Losses
    Employee  Share-based capital  benefit and 
    benefits payments allowances obligations provisions Total 
2008   £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Deferred tax assets      
At 1 August 2007   749 1,236 571 5,402 60 8,018
Effect of reduction in tax rate to 28%   (50) (82) (38) (360) (4) (534)
Capital allowances in excess of depreciation   – – (239) – – (239)
Tax relief on shares issued to employees   – (112) – – – (112)
Actuarial loss on pension scheme valuations   – – – 6,586 – 6,586
Freehold property held for sale   – – – – 982 982
Special contributions to retirement benefit schemes  – – – (4,211) – (4,211)
Acquisitions   – 2,651 – 3,720 4,600 10,971
Share-based payments   – 465 – – – 465

At 31 July 2008    699 4,158 294 11,137 5,638 21,926

      Intangible  Freehold 
      assets ESOP property Total
      £000 £000 £000 £000

Deferred tax liabilities      
At 1 August 2007     (8,679) (120) (580) (9,379)
Effect of reduction in tax rate to 28%     580 8 39 627
Additions (intangible assets acquired)     (7,952) – – (7,952)
Amortisation of intangible assets     1,582 – – 1,582

At 31 July 2008     (14,469) (112) (541) (15,122)

 Group
      Accelerated Retirement
    Employee  Share-based capital  benefit  
    benefits payments allowances obligations Provisions Total 
2007   £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Deferred tax assets      
At 1 August 2006   752 1,379 434 14,487 60 17,112
Depreciation in excess of capital allowances   – – 137 – – 137
Employee benefits   (3) – – – – (3)
Tax relief on shares issued to employees   – (221) – – – (221)
Actuarial gain on pension scheme valuation   – – – (3,704) – (3,704)
Gain arising on retirement benefit plan changes  – – – (5,381) – (5,381)
Share-based payments   – 78 – – – 78

At 31 July 2007    749 1,236 571 5,402 60 8,018

      
      Intangible  Freehold 
      assets ESOP property Total
      £000 £000 £000 £000

Deferred tax liabilities      
At 1 August 2006     (2,450) (120) (580) (3,150)
Additions (intangible assets acquired)     (6,963) – – (6,963)
Amortisation of intangible assets     734 – – 734

At 31 July 2007     (8,679) (120) (580) (9,379)
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 Company

        Accelerated 
       Share-based capital 
       payments allowances Total
2008      £000 £000 £000

Deferred tax assets   
At 1 August 2007      78 39 117
Effect of reduction in tax rate to 28%      (5) (3) (8)
Depreciation in excess of capital allowances      – 2 2
Share-based payments      72 – 72

At 31 July 2008       145 38 183

        Freehold 
        property Total
        £000 £000

Deferred tax liabilities   
At 1 August 2007       (580) (580)
Effect of reduction in tax rate to 28%       39 39

At 31 July 2008       (541) (541)

 Company

        Accelerated 
       Share-based capital 
       payments allowances Total
2007      £000 £000 £000

Deferred tax assets   
At 1 August 2006      50 18 68
Depreciation in excess of capital allowances      – 21 21
Share-based payments      28 – 28

At 31 July 2007       78 39 117

        Freehold 
        property Total
        £000 £000

Deferred tax liabilities   
At 1 August 2006 and 31 July 2007       (580) (580)

17 Unbilled revenue
    
 Group Company
      2008 2007 2008 2007
      £000 £000 £000 £000

Consumables     659 531 – –
Unbilled revenue     52,954 50,484 – –
Less: Provision for impairment      (980) (936) – –

      52,633 50,079 – –

Movements on the Group provision for impairment of unbilled revenue are as follows:

 Group
        2008 2007
        £000 £000

At 1 August       936 400
Acquisitions       44 536

At 31 July        980 936
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18 Trade and other receivables
 Group Company
      2008 2007 2008 2007
      £000 £000 £000 £000

Trade receivables     92,426 60,449 – –
Less: Provision for impairment of receivables     (1,655) (1,002) – –

Trade receivables – net     90,771 59,447 – –
Amounts owed by Group undertakings     – – 38,308 43,184
Other receivables     4,110 3,428 – –
Prepayments and accrued income     15,886 9,403 – –

      110,767 72,278 38,308 43,184

As of 31 July 2008, trade receivables of £40,052,000 (2007: £26,771,000) were past due. The ageing analysis of these trade receivables is  
as follows:

  Group
        2008 2007
        £000 £000

Up to three months       28,184 20,687
Over three months       11,868 6,084

        40,052 26,771

Included within trade receivables is £542,000 which is due after more than one year (2007: £658,000).

As of 31 July 2008 trade receivables of £1,087,000 (2007: £642,000) were impaired and provided for. The total amount of the provision was £1,655,000 
as of 31 July 2008 (2007: £1,002,000), with the excess representing management’s best estimates of the total Group provision required. The individually 
impaired receivables mainly relate to items in dispute or under investigation. It was assessed that a portion of the receivables is expected to be 
recovered. The ageing of these receivables is as follows:

  Group
        2008 2007
        £000 £000

Up to three months       76 –
Over three months       1,011 642

        1,087 642

Movements on the Group provision for impairment of trade receivables are as follows:
  Group
        2008 2007
        £000 £000

At 1 August       1,002 700
Receivables written off during the year as uncollectable      (529) –
New provisions made       882 –
Acquisitions       300 302

At 31 July       1,655 1,002

No amounts of collateral are held as security.

The creation and release of provisions for impaired receivables have been included in administrative expenses in the Income Statement. Amounts 
charged to the provisions account are generally written off when there is no expectation of cash recovery.

The other classes within trade and other receivables do not contain impaired assets.

19 Assets held for sale
During the year the Group agreed to sell the freehold property, with completion expected early in 2009. The expected sale proceeds exceed the 
carrying value.
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 Group Company
      2008 2007 2008 2007
      £000 £000 £000 £000

Bank overdraft     – 16,176 – –

Up until 31 July 2007 the overdraft was secured by a fixed charge on the freehold property. The new revolving credit facility detailed in note 22 
includes an unsecured overdraft facility of up to £5 million.

21 Trade and other payables – current
 Group Company
      2008 2007 2008 2007
      £000 £000 £000 £000

Trade payables     47,610 42,010 – –
Amounts owed to Group undertakings     – – 6,083 6,415
Other tax and social security payable     18,301 11,381 – –
Other payables     22,108 16,492 210 240
Accruals     31,042 15,153 40 50

      119,061 85,036 6,333 6,705

Within trade payables is £11,332,000 relating to customer advances (2007: £11,488,000).

22 Borrowings
On 1 August 2007, an unsecured revolving credit facility of £125 million was put in place jointly with Royal Bank of Scotland and Lloyds TSB.  
On 4 March 2008, the Group extended its credit facility to £185 million to fund the acquisition of Hedra plc. Between 2 August 2007 and  
31 July 2008 amounts totalling £133.74 million were drawn down. The facilities mature in August 2012 and September 2009 respectively.  
Interest is being charged at LIBOR plus a margin on the ratio of net borrowings to earnings before interest, taxation, depreciation and amortisation. 
This ranges from 0.5% to 1.35%.

MBS has existing secured loans which are repayable in instalments over five years. Interest is charged at 6.84% on the first loan and 7.44%  
on the second loan, per annum. 

Loans are repayable as follows:
  Group
        2008  2007
        £000 £000

Obligations due within one year       1,165 –
Obligations due within one and two years       48,671 –
Obligations due within two and five years       87,079 –

Total loans due       136,915 –
Loan issue costs incurred       (1,093) –
Amortisation of loan issue costs       170 –

Net borrowings       135,992 –

Loan issue costs of £1,093,000 have been capitalised and are being amortised over the life of the loan.

On 17 December 2007, the Group entered into agreements to hedge against the interest rate risk on the revolving credit facility above. At 31 July 2008, 
the total fair value of derivatives designated as cash flow hedges was £337,000 (2007: £nil).

23 Loan notes
 Group Company
      2008 2007 2008 2007
      £000 £000 £000 £000

Intercompany loan notes owed by Group undertakings    – – 39,814 330,852
Intercompany loan notes owed to Group undertakings    – – (51,852) (350,890)

      – – (12,038) (20,038)

The loan notes arose on the Group restructuring that took place with effect from 1 August 2006.

The intercompany loan notes included a discounted convertible loan note (DCLN) (which is both payable and receivable from different group 
undertakings) of £299,038,000. The conditions for compulsory conversion of the DCLN were met and the note was converted on 31 July 2008 
into shares. All other intercompany loan notes, both payable and receivable, have a five-year term and attract interest at a fixed rate of  
6% per annum.
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24 Financial instruments
The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and price risk in varying degrees but all have relatively low levels of risk.  
For this reason the Group has not undertaken hedging or complex financial instruments to mitigate these particular risks. 

Interest rate risk arises from long-term pounds sterling borrowings issued at variable rates. Group policy is to hedge a proportion of the drawn 
revolving credit facility. Details of the Group’s financial risk management objectives and policies are provided in note 1v.

The financial instruments of the Group comprise bank loan facilities, internal cash resources and debtors and creditors arising from normal trading 
activities. The Group’s policy is to manage the financial instruments centrally to provide both the working capital and the investment funds necessary 
for ongoing operations and future development. 

The majority of UK projects and contracts are in pounds sterling, and otherwise are in the currencies in which the majority of the costs are denominated. 
The Group’s principal overseas subsidiaries have arranged working capital facilities in their local currency and it is unusual for them to contract in 
currencies other than their own functional currency. Consideration is given to hedging against possible currency movements where considered 
appropriate. It is the Group’s policy not to trade in derivatives.

In accordance with IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, the Group has reviewed all contracts for embedded derivatives 
that are required to be separately accounted for. None were identified as part of the review.

Classification of financial instruments
 Group
       Derivatives 
     At fair Loans and used for Liabilities at  
     value receivables hedging amortised cost Total
At 31 July 2008    £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Financial assets:
Trade and other receivables    – 94,881 – – 94,881
Cash flow hedges    – – 337 – 337
Cash and cash equivalents    51,792 – – – 51,792

     51,792 94,881 337 – 147,010

Financial liabilities:
Bank loan    – 133,740 – – 133,740
Other loans    – 3,175 – – 3,175
Obligations under finance leases    – – – 479 479

     – 136,915 – 479 137,394

The fair value of current borrowings equals their carrying amount, as the impact of discounting is not significant. 

  Group
       Derivatives 
     At fair Loans and used for Liabilities at  
     value receivables hedging amortised cost Total
At 31 July 2007    £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Financial assets:
Trade and other receivables    – 62,875 – – 62,875
Cash and cash equivalents    19,007 – – – 19,007

     19,007 62,875 – – 81,882

Financial liabilities:
Bank overdraft    – 16,176 – – 16,176
Obligations under finance leases    – – – 121 121

     – 16,176 – 121 16,297
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 Company
       Derivatives 
     At fair Loans and used for Liabilities at  
     value receivables hedging amortised cost Total
At 31 July 2008    £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Financial assets:
Trade and other receivables    – 38,308 – – 38,308
Cash and cash equivalents    – – – – –

     – 38,308 – – 38,308

Financial liabilities:
Loans    – – – – –
Obligations under finance leases    – – – – –

     – – – – –

  Company
       Derivatives 
     At fair Loans and used for Liabilities at  
     value receivables hedging amortised cost Total
At 31 July 2007    £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Financial assets:
Trade and other receivables    – 43,184 – – 43,184
Cash and cash equivalents    – – – – –

     – 43,184 – – 43,184

Financial liabilities:
Loans    – – – – –
Obligations under finance leases    – – – – –

     – – – – –

Interest rate risk
The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s long-term debt obligations with floating  
interest rates.

The Group’s policy is to manage its interest cost using a mix of fixed and variable rate debts. To manage this, the Group enters into interest rate 
swaps, in which the Group agrees to exchange, at specified intervals, the difference between fixed and variable rate interest amounts calculated 
by reference to an agreed upon notional principal amount. These swaps are designated as a cash flow hedge to hedge underlying debt obligations.

The interest rate profile of the financial assets and liabilities of the Group as at 31 July shows payable amounts as follows:

   Within Between Between Between  Between More than
   1 year 1-2 years 2-3 years 3-4 years 4-5 years 5 years Total
At 31 July 2008  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Fixed rate:
 Other loans  (1,165) (1,171) (736) (103) – – (3,175)
 Obligations under finance leases  (179) (173) (127) – – – (479)
Floating rate:
 Bank loan  – (47,500) – – (86,240) – (133,740)
 Cash in hand  51,792 – – – – – 51,792
 Cash flow hedges  337 – – – – – 337

   Within Between Between Between  Between More than
   1 year 1-2 years 2-3 years 3-4 years 4-5 years 5 years Total
At 31 July 2007  £000 £000 £000  £000 £000 £000 £000

Fixed rate:
 Obligations under finance leases  – (121) – – – – (121)
Floating rate:
 Cash in hand  19,007 – – – – – 19,007
 Bank overdraft  (16,176) – – – – – (16,176)
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24 Financial instruments (continued)
Interest rate risk (continued) 
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a change in interest rates, with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax 
(through the impact on floating rate borrowings). There is no impact on the Group’s equity.
         Effect 
         on profit
        Increase in  before tax
        basis points  £000

2008       0.25 334
2007        0.25 40

Foreign exchange risk
The Group has operations where transactions are denominated in foreign currencies. In these operations, the working capital facilities are 
maintained in local currency with funds being remitted back to the UK to minimise exposure to foreign exchange risk. The Group does not hedge 
against foreign currency exchange risk as balances in foreign currency are not significant to the Group. The extent of foreign currency exposure is 
monitored on an ongoing basis. All bonds and guarantees are funded out of the UK. 

At 31 July 2008, if the euro had weakened/strengthened by 1% against the UK pound with all other variables held constant, pre-tax profit  
for the year would have been £22,000 (2007: £13,000) lower/higher, mainly as a result of foreign exchange gains/losses on translation of UK 
pound-denominated trade receivables. 

At 31 July 2008, if the UAE dirham had weakened/strengthened by 1% against the UK pound with all other variables held constant, pre-tax profit  
for the year would have been £22,000 (2007: £20,000) lower/higher, mainly as a result of foreign exchange gains/losses on translation of  
UK pound-denominated trade receivables. 

Credit risk 
The Group’s principal financial assets are cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables and unbilled revenue. The Group does not hold any 
collateral as security. The Group manages these risks through a number of measures. Counterparty risk on cash deposits is managed by adhering 
to the guidelines set by the Board. Currently the limits are that up to £5,000,000 of cash can be deposited with any one party who has an AA rating  
or better. 

Trade receivables and unbilled revenue are managed through set-up and authorisation policies for new customers. It is the Group’s policy that all 
customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. An assessment of credit quality of the customer is made 
as appropriate taking into account their financial position, past experience, external agency ratings and other factors. Where possible, the risk is 
mitigated by use of advanced payments. Group policy is not to apply individual credit limits to trade and other receivables, although total exposure 
and payment performance are monitored monthly both at individual project and client level. The Group has a wide range of customers and in the 
view of management there are no concentrations of credit risk that cause concern.

        31 July  31 July
        2008 2007
        Balance Balance
Counterparty       £000 £000

Local government       33,789 21,053
Central government       15,106 13,443
Regulated industries       12,008 9,364
Private sector companies       31,523 16,589

        92,426 60,449

Liquidity risk 
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities and the availability of funding through an adequate 
amount of committed credit facilities. Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying businesses, the Group maintains flexibility in funding by 
maintaining availability under committed credit lines.

Management monitors rolling forecasts of the Group’s liquidity reserve (which comprises undrawn borrowing facility and cash and cash equivalents)  
on the basis of expected cash flow. In addition, the Group’s liquidity management policy involves projecting cash flows and considering the level  
of liquid assets necessary to meet these and monitoring balance sheet liquidity ratios against internal and external regulatory requirements.

On 1 August 2007, an unsecured revolving credit facility of £125 million was put in place jointly with Royal Bank of Scotland and Lloyds TSB  
to finance the acquisition of HBS Business Services Group Limited and provide capacity for the future growth and development of the business. 
On 4 March 2008, the Group extended this facility to £185 million, following the decision to acquire Hedra plc. Of the total facility, the original  
£125 million matures in August 2012 with the other £60 million maturing in September 2009. As at 31 July 2008, the Group was in compliance 
with the financial covenants of the revolving credit facility.
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The table below analyses the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities. Figures shown are undiscounted.

      On demand   
      or within Between Between Over
      1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years 5 years
2008     £000 £000 £000 £000

Finance leases     179 173 127 –
Trade payables     47,610 – – –
Bank and other loans     1,165 48,671 87,079 –

      On demand   
      or within Between Between Over
      1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years 5 years
2007     £000 £000 £000 £000

Bank overdraft     16,176 – – –
Finance leases     – 121 – –
Trade payables     42,010 – – –

Price risk
The Group does not hold any equity securities that are available for sale and does not have any exposure to commodity price risk. 

Capital risk 
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide returns for 
shareholders, benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to 
shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

For capital management purposes, the Group monitors capital on the basis of the consolidated net borrowings to consolidated earnings before 
interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA).

The table below presents quantitative data of the components the Group manages as capital:
        2008 2007
        £000 £000

Shareholders’ funds       118,890 110,308
Bank loans       133,740 –
Finance leases       479 121

At 31 July        253,109 110,429

25 Lease obligations
Operating lease commitments – minimum lease payments
 Group
 2008 2007
       Vehicles,  Vehicles,
       plant and  plant and
      Property equipment Property equipment
      £000 £000 £000 £000

Commitments under non-cancellable operating leases payable:     
Within one year     7,827 3,262 5,738 2,965
Later than one year and within five years     14,704 4,017 11,001 4,536
After five years     2,333 – 3,156 –

      24,864 7,279 19,895 7,501

The Group leases various offices under non-cancellable operating lease agreements. The leases have various terms, escalation clauses and 
renewal rights. The Group also leases vehicles, plant and machinery under non-cancellable operating lease agreements.

The Company had no operating lease commitments as at 31 July 2008 (2007: none).

At 31 July 2008 the Group had the following amounts due in respect of sub-leases on the above:
 Group
        2008 2007
        £000 £000

Leases which expire:  
Within one year       146 131 
Later than one year and within five years       26 101 

        172 232
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26 Other non-current liabilities
 Group Company
      2008 2007 2008 2007
      £000 £000 £000 £000

Other payables and deferred income     2,126 622 – –

27 Provisions for liabilities and charges
 Group
      Insurance Lease Onerous 
      provisions obligations  contracts Total
      £000 £000 £000 £000

Balances previously included within creditors     1,256 706 – 1,962
Arising from acquisitions     250 313 6,597 7,160
Amounts provided for during the year     1,972 647 – 2,619
Amounts released to the Income Statement     –  – (900) (900)
Amounts consumed during the year     (40) – (268) (308)

At 31 July 2008     3,438 1,666 5,429 10,533

Insurance provisions will unwind when claims are settled. Lease obligations unwind over the life of the lease which may be between one and  
10 years. Onerous contract provisions will be released over the next five years.

28 Share capital
 Group and Company
      No. 2008 No. 2007
      of shares £000 of shares £000

Authorised    
Ordinary shares of 0.25p     122,063,625 305 122,063,625 305

Allotted, called-up and fully paid    
Ordinary shares of 0.25p each at 1 August     109,737,714 274 108,600,323 271 
Allotted under share option schemes     341,687 – 786,640 2 
Allotted as equity consideration on the acquisition 
 of Hedra plc (2007: Ewan Group plc)     2,008,860 5 350,751 1

At 31 July     112,088,261 279 109,737,714 274 

During the year the Company received £716,000 from shares allotted under share option schemes. It also issued shares on the acquisition of 
Hedra plc with a value of £8,291,000. The excess of the consideration value over nominal value has been taken to reserves in accordance with 
section 131 of the Companies Act 1985.

29 Share premium
        Group and Company
        2008 2007
        £000 £000

Balance at 1 August       26,464 25,466
Issue of new shares       716 998

Balance at 31 July       27,180 26,464

30 Share-based payments
a Overview of schemes
Approved and Unapproved Executive Share Option Schemes (AES and UES)
The Executive Share Option Scheme applies to senior executives, including Executive Directors. For options granted, the option price is not less 
than the market value of an ordinary share, or the nominal value if higher. A performance condition has to be met before options can be exercised. 

No options were granted during the financial year ended 31 July 2008. For approved options granted between March 1997 and November 2003, 
options are exercisable on condition that the Company’s adjusted earnings per share (EPS) increases by RPI +6% over a three-year period. For 
unapproved options granted between March 1997 and November 2003, options are exercisable on condition that the Company’s adjusted EPS 
increases by RPI +12% over a three-year period.

Co-Investment Plan
Details of the Co-Investment Plan terms and conditions can be found on page 52 of the Remuneration Report. As at 31 July 2008, there were 
conditional rights over 374,682 ordinary shares outstanding under the Co-Investment Plan. 
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Performance Share Plan
Details of the Performance Share Plan terms and conditions can be found on page 52 of the Remuneration Report. As at 31 July 2008, 
conditional rights over 810,923 ordinary shares were outstanding under the Performance Share Plan.

Restricted Share Plan
Details of the Restricted Share Plan terms and conditions can be found on page 53 of the Remuneration Report. As at 31 July 2008, conditional 
rights over 153,004 ordinary shares were outstanding under the two year Restricted Share Plan and conditional rights over 91,392 ordinary shares 
were outstanding under the three year Restricted Share Plan.

Sharesave scheme
The Sharesave scheme is a savings plan whereby employees contract to save a fixed amount each month with a savings institution over a 
three-year period. At the end of the savings term, the employees are given the option to purchase shares at a price set before savings began.  
The option must be exercised within six months of maturity of the savings contract, otherwise it lapses. Participants leaving for a qualifying reason 
have six months within which to exercise their option up to their savings amount. Options over 637,058 ordinary shares were granted under this 
scheme during the year.

b Annual bonus schemes
The fair value per option granted and the assumptions used in the calculations are as follows:

Scheme AES UES CIP PSP CIP PSP CIP PSP RSP RSP
Grant date Nov 03 Nov 03 Nov 05 Apr 06 Nov 06 Nov 06 Nov 07 Nov 07 May 08 May 08

Share price at grant date (p)  214.50 214.50 285.00 345.75 395.00 395.00 427.75 427.75 460.00 460.00
Exercise price (p) 214.50 214.50 – – – – – – – –
Number of employees  
 remaining in schemes 14 4 97 33 122 35 120 34 8 13
Shares under option  
 at 31July 2008 (no.) 50,902 21,315 131,040 212,028 114,003 216,771 129,639 382,124 153,004 91,392
Vesting period (years) 3.00 3.00 3.00 3.00 3.00 3.00 3.00 3.00 2.00 3.00
Expected volatility 27.71 27.71 22.80 27.20 24.37 22.20 24.50 24.50 n/a n/a
Option life (years) 7.00 4.00 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50
Expected life (years) 3.00 3.00 3.00 3.00 3.00 3.00 3.00 3.00 2.00 3.00
Risk-free rate (%) 4.71 4.71 5.40 4.68 5.20 4.97 4.33 4.33 n/a n/a
Expected dividends expressed  
 as dividend yield (%) 1.03 1.03 1.20 n/a 1.03 n/a 1.17 n/a 1.15 1.15
Possibility of ceasing employment  
 before vesting (%) – – 20 n/a 20 n/a 20 n/a 12 12
Expectations of meeting  
 performance criteria (%) 100 100 75 100 75 100 75 100 70 70
Fair value per option (p) 48.93 48.93 182.00 210.80 230.00 216.00 330.40 339.38 277.20 273.50

    Options  Granted  Exercised  Expired Options   
   as at beginning during during   during  as at end  Option  Date of  
Scheme  of year year year  year of year price (p) grant  Exercisable between

AES  57,669 – (6,767) – 50,902 214.50 11.2003 26.11.2006-26.11.2013
UES  21,315 – – – 21,315 214.50 11.2003 26.11.2006-26.11.2010
CIP  138,258 – – (7,218) 131,040 – 11.2005 29.11.2008-28.05.2009
PSP  219,111 – – (7,083) 212,028 – 04.2006 26.04.2009-25.10.2009
CIP  118,893 – – (4,890) 114,003 – 11.2006 24.11.2009-23.05.2010
PSP  223,207 – – (6,436) 216,771 – 11.2006 24.11.2009-23.05.2010
CIP  – 136,294 – (6,655) 129,639 – 11.2007 23.11.2010-23.05.2011
PSP  – 392,867 – (10,743) 382,124 – 11.2007 23.11.2010-23.05.2011
RSP  – 153,004 – – 153,004 – 05.2008 23.05.2010-23.11.2010
RSP  – 91,392 – – 91,392 – 05.2008 23.05.2011-23.11.2011

   778,453 773,557 (6,767) (43,025) 1,502,218   

The weighted average share price during the year was 428.13p (2007: 407.05p).

The weighted average life of the outstanding options at 31 July 2008 was 791 days (2007: 1,068 days).
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30 Share-based payments (continued)
c Sharesave schemes
The fair value of Sharesave options granted and the assumptions used in the calculations are as follows:

Grant date    Jun 04 Jul 05 Jun 06 Jun 07 Jun 08

Exercise from    01.08.07 01.08.08 01.08.09 01.08.10 01.08.11
Exercise to    31.01.08 31.01.09 31.01.10 31.01.11 31.01.12
Share price at grant date (p)      210.50   241.50   340.00  424.90 432.75
Exercise price (p)      214.17   239.00   353.00 455.17 472.17
Number of employees remaining in schemes    713 868 1,006 1,202 1,376
Shares under option at 31 July 2008 (no.)     – 296,014 438,088 555,342 634,705
Vesting period (years)      3.00   3.00   3.00  3.00 3.00
Expected volatility    25.63  22.72  22.45 22.80 26.39
Option life (years)      3.00   3.00   3.00   3.00  3.00
Expected life (years)     3.00   3.00   3.00   3.00  3.00
Risk-free rate (%)     5.07   4.19   4.77  5.40 4.40
Expected dividends expressed as dividend yield (%)     1.12   1.20  1.15 1.20 1.10
Possibility of ceasing employment before vesting (%)    –   –  – – –
Expectations of meeting performance criteria (%)     100   100  100 100 100
Fair value per option (p)     44.36   46.52   60.45  79.06 77.21

d Share option movements
Awards outstanding at the end of the year have the following expiry dates and exercise prices:

 2008 2007
       Weighted    Weighted
      average    average
    Weighted  remaining life: Weighted  remaining life:
    average  expected and average  expected and 
    exercise  No. of  contractual exercise No. of  contractual
Range of exercise prices (p)   price (p) shares (days) price (p) shares  (days)

 0 – 100   – 1,430,001 696.55 –  699,469 863.44 
 101 – 200   – – – – – – 
 201 – 300    234.20 368,231 105.97 224.09 842,457 343.30 
 301 – 400   353.00 438,088 124.77 353.00 502,209 242.59 
 401 – 501   464.24 1,190,047 685.40 455.17 626,453 423.45 

The weighted average share price during the period for options exercised over the year was 216.22p (2007: 143.02p).

Movements in the number of awards outstanding and their related exercise prices are as follows:
  
    AES  UES  CIP  PSP  Sharesave  RSP
   Weighted  Weighted  Weighted  Weighted  Weighted  Weighted
   average   average  average  average  average   average
   exercise    exercise   exercise    exercise   exercise   exercise
  No.  price (p) No.  price (p) No. price (p) No. price (p) No. price (p) No. price (p)

Awards outstanding  
 at 1 August 2007 57,669 214.50 21,315 214.50 257,151 – 442,318 – 1,892,135 335.21 – –
Granted – – – – 136,294 – 392,867 – 637,058 472.17 244,396 –
Exercised/transferred (6,767) 214.50 – – – – – – (432,003) 216.22 – –
Lapsed – – – – (18,763) – (24,262) – (173,041) 362.31 – –

Awards outstanding          
 at 31 July 2008 50,902 214.50 21,315 214.50 374,682 – 810,923 – 1,924,149 248.51 244,396 –

   
The Group recognises an expense for employee services received that is settled by the issue of equity instruments. The expense is measured by 
reference to the fair value of the equity instruments settled at the date of grant and is recognised on a straight-line basis over the vesting period.

The accounting treatment applies to all grants of equity instruments after 7 November 2002 that were unvested as at 1 August 2004. The total 
expense recognised in the year for these schemes was £1,230,000 (2007: £566,000).
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31 Statement of changes in equity
       Group
     Share Share  Other  Retained  
     capital premium reserves earnings Total
     £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Balance at 1 August 2006    271 25,466 11,738 31,999 69,474

Profit on sale of own shares held in employee share trusts   – – – 11 11
Tax relief on shares issued to employees    – – – 140 140
Actuarial gain on pension scheme valuations    – – – 12,346 12,346
Deferred tax on movement in pension scheme valuations   – – – (3,704) (3,704)
Currency translation differences    – – (364) – (364)

Net (expense)/income recognised directly in equity   – – (364) 8,793 8,429
Profit for the year    – – – 34,005 34,005

Total recognised income and expense for 2007   – – (364) 42,798 42,434

  
Employee share option schemes:  
– proceeds from shares issued    2 998 – – 1,000
– sale of own shares by employee share trusts    – (6) – (6)
– increase in unrealised profit on shares held in employee share trusts  – – – (9) (9)
Share-based payments    – – – 474 474
Equity consideration issued    1 – 1,477 – 1,478
Dividends    – – – (4,537) (4,537)

Balance at 31 July 2007    274 26,464 12,845 70,725 110,308

     
Balance at 1 August 2007    274 26,464 12,845 70,725 110,308

Loss on sale of own shares held in employee share trusts   – – – (284) (284)
Tax relief on shares issued to employees    – – – 196 196
Actuarial loss on pension scheme valuations    – – – (23,372) (23,372)
Deferred tax on movement in pension scheme valuations   – – – 6,586 6,586
Changes in fair value of derivatives designated as cash flow hedges  – – 337 – 337
Currency translation differences    – – 318 – 318

Net income/(expense) recognised directly in equity   – – 655 (16,874) (16,219)
Profit for the year    – – – 19,552 19,552

Total recognised income and expense for 2008   – – 655 2,678 3,333

    
Employee share option schemes:   
– proceeds from shares issued    – 716 – – 716
– sale of own shares by employee share trusts   – – 593 – 593
Share-based payments    – – – 1,415 1,415
Equity consideration issued    5 – 8,286 – 8,291
Dividends    – – – (5,766) (5,766)

Balance at 31 July 2008    279 27,180 22,379 69,052 118,890

       
Included in other reserves are accumulated translation reserves of £676,000 (2007: £358,000).

Included within other reserves are ESOP reserves of £552,000 (2007: £663,000). More detail on these reserves can be found in note 32. 
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31 Statement of changes in equity (continued)
       Company
     Share Share  Other  Retained  
     capital premium reserves earnings Total
     £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Balance at 1 August 2006    271 25,466 3,212 16,729 45,678

   
Profit for the year    – – – 299,032 299,032

Total recognised income and expense for 2007   – – – 299,032 299,032

    
Employee share option schemes:   
– proceeds from shares issued    2 998 – – 1,000
Share-based payments    – – – 85 85
Equity consideration issued    1 – 1,477 – 1,478
Dividends    – – – (4,560) (4,560)

Balance at 31 July 2007    274 26,464 4,689 311,286 342,713

     
Balance at 1 August 2007    274 26,464 4,689 311,286 342,713

     
Profit for the year    – – – 71 71

Total recognised income and expense for 2008   – – – 71 71

    
Employee share option schemes:   
– proceeds from shares issued    – 716 – – 716
Share-based payments    – – – 274 274
Equity consideration issued    5 – 8,286 – 8,291
Dividends    – – – (5,766) (5,766)

Balance at 31 July 2008    279 27,180 12,975 305,865 346,299

32 ESOP reserves
The ESOP reserve arises because Mouchel Trustee Limited holds shares in Mouchel Group plc as agent for the trustees of the Mouchel Employees’  
Share Ownership Plan Trust. Also, Halifax EES Trustees International Limited holds shares in Mouchel Group plc as trustee for the Mouchel No. 2 
Employees’ Share Ownership Plan Trust and Mouchel Quest Trustee Limited held shares in Mouchel Group plc as trustee for the Mouchel Qualifying 
Employee Share Ownership Trust (The Quest). The Quest distributed its entire shareholding during the year and was subsequently wound up. 
Shares held by the ESOP trusts are available for distribution to the employees of the Group at the discretion of the trustees. In accordance with  
SIC 12, the investment in own shares arising out of ESOP trusts has been shown as a reduction in the reserves of the Group.

As at 31 July the shareholding in own shares was as follows:
        Nominal Market
       Cost value value1

2008     No. £000 £000 £000

Mouchel Employees’ Share Ownership Plan Trust    413,413 71 1 1,634
Mouchel No. 2 Employees’ Share Ownership Plan Trust    1,511,891 473 4 5,976

        Nominal Market
       Cost value value1

2007     No. £000 £000 £000

Mouchel Employees’ Share Ownership Plan Trust    496,396 150 1 1,854
Mouchel No. 2 Employees’ Share Ownership Plan Trust    1,511,734 473 4 5,646
Mouchel Qualifying Employee Share Ownership Trust    102,616 32 – 383

1 Based on a share price on 31 July 2008 of 395.25p per ordinary share (2007: 373.5p).
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Movement on ESOP reserve
        Group
        2008 2007
        £000 £000

Balance at 1 August        (663) (657) 
Shares acquired       – (9)
Sale of shares       111 3

Balance at 31 July        (552) (663)

33 Cash generated from operations
        Group
        2008 2007
        £000 £000

Profit for the year       19,552 34,005
Adjustments for:       
– income tax expense       6,761 14,127
– depreciation       7,731 3,919
– profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment      4 (14)
– amortisation of intangible assets – arising from business combinations     5,651 2,448
  – software      4,039 1,097
– other exceptional costs       6,799 –
– interest receivable       (4,756) (631)
– finance costs       7,708 1,215
– gain arising on retirement benefit plan changes      – (18,190)
– other non-cash movement       – 587 
Changes in working capital:  
– increase in trade and other receivables including unbilled revenue     (16,915) (12,879)
– increase in trade and other payables       1,421 5,723

Cash generated from operations before exceptional items     37,995 31,407
Exceptional items       (6,799) (340)

Cash generated from operations       31,196 31,067

        Company
        2008 2007
        £000 £000

Profit for the year       71 299,032
Adjustments for:  
– depreciation       15 30
– profit on disposal of subsidiaries       – (299,800)
– finance costs       972 1,202
Changes in working capital:  
– decrease in intercompany debt       (1,058) (464)

Cash generated from operations       – –

Receipts and payments for the Company are received or paid by other Group companies.

34 Cash and cash equivalents net of bank overdrafts
Cash, cash equivalents and bank overdrafts are analysed as follows:
      Group Company
      2008 2007 2008 2007
      £000 £000 £000 £000

Cash and cash equivalents     51,792 19,007 –  –
Bank overdrafts     – (16,176) – –

Cash and cash equivalents net of bank overdrafts    51,792 2,831 – – 

Of the above cash balances, £14,838,000 is restricted by virtue of it being held within our joint ventures (2007: £13,616,000).
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35 Acquisitions 
In current year
a HBS Business Services Group Limited
On 6 August 2007, the Group acquired 100% of the issued share capital of HBS Business Services Group Limited, a business process 
outsourcing company with whom the Group was already working in partnership for Oldham Metropolitan Borough Council, for a net consideration 
of £47.5 million.

Following acquisition, the Company was renamed Mouchel Business Services Limited (MBS).

MBS provides business transformation consultancy, outsourced back office and customer-facing services (such as finance, administration, payroll 
and human resources), a wide range of ICT consultancy services and education support services. 
      
       Carrying values Fair value 
       pre acquisition adjustments Fair value 
       £000 £000 £000

Net assets acquired:    
Intangible fixed assets      9,571 12,900 22,471
Plant, property and equipment      4,315 (738) 3,577
Investments      (101) – (101)
Deferred tax assets      – 4,708 4,708
Trade and other receivables      10,852 1,247 12,099
Intra-Group loan acquired      23,890 – 23,890
Cash and cash equivalents      16,232 – 16,232
Current liabilities      (23,966) (589) (24,555)
Non-current liabilities      (5,680) – (5,680)
Provisions for liabilities and charges      – (7,040) (7,040)
Retirement benefit obligations      (19,243) 5,957 (13,286)

       15,870 16,445 32,315
Goodwill        39,096

Gross consideration        71,411
Liabilities acquired        (23,890)

Net consideration        47,521

The fair value adjustments represent changes to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the Mouchel Group, together with intangible 
valuations arising on acquisition. 

Intangible assets were recognised in respect of customer contracts and relationships. Goodwill arose on acquisition from the skilled workforce and 
synergy benefits identified, which do not meet the criteria for recognition as an intangible asset. 

         £000

Satisfied by:      
Cash         46,240
Acquisition costs        1,281

Consideration        47,521

The outflow of cash and cash equivalents upon acquisition is calculated as follows:
         £000

Cash consideration including costs        47,521
Cash acquired        (16,232)

Net cash outflow        31,289

The results of the Group, as if the above acquisition had been made at the beginning of the 2008 financial year, are not materially different to  
those shown in the Consolidated Income Statement because the Company was acquired three business days after the beginning of the Group’s 
financial year.

Since acquisition, MBS has contributed revenue of £116,000,000 and an operating profit of £1,529,000 to the Group’s results.



95 2008 Annual Report and Accounts
Mouchel Group plc

Group Financial Statements
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b Hedra plc
On 5 March 2008, the Group acquired 100% of the issued share capital of Hedra plc. Hedra is a public sector management consultancy  
business and its acquisition extends Mouchel’s strategic consulting and transformation expertise in the local and central government sectors  
and regulated industries.

Following acquisition, the Company was renamed Mouchel Management Consulting Limited.

        Provisional
       Carrying values fair value  Provisional
       pre acquisition adjustments fair value 
       £000 £000 £000

Net assets acquired:    
Intangible fixed assets      4,363 15,337 19,700
Plant, property and equipment      518 – 518
Trade and other receivables      10,998 (88) 10,910
Cash and cash equivalents      2,184 – 2,184
Current liabilities      (9,592) (200) (9,792)
Non-current liabilities      (1,040) – (1,040)
Provisions for liabilities and charges      – (120) (120)
Deferred tax liabilities      2 (1,689) (1,687)

       7,433 13,240 20,673
Goodwill        30,283

Consideration        50,956

The fair value adjustments represent changes to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the Mouchel Group, together with intangible 
valuations arising on acquisition. The adjustments are provisional pending finalisation of the accounting required for provisions.

Intangible assets were recognised in respect of a non-compete agreement with the vendors and customer contracts and relationships. Goodwill 
arose on acquisition from the skilled workforce and synergy benefits identified, which do not meet the criteria for recognition as an intangible asset. 

         £000

Satisfied by:   
Cash        41,709
Shares        8,291
Acquisition costs        956

Consideration        50,956

The outflow of cash and cash equivalents upon acquisition is calculated as follows:
         £000

Cash consideration including costs        42,665
Cash acquired        (2,184)

Net cash outflow        40,481

The results of the Group, as if the above acquisition had been made at the beginning of the 2008 financial year, are as follows:
         Group
         £000

Revenue        692,627
Profit for the year        21,677

Since acquisition, Mouchel Management Consulting Limited has contributed revenue of £21,000,000 and a profit before tax of £2,152,000 to the 
Group’s results.
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35 Acquisitions (continued)
In prior year 
a Traffic Support Limited
On 16 November 2006 the Group acquired 100% of the issued share capital of Traffic Support Limited.

Following acquisition, the Company was renamed Mouchel Traffic Support Limited (MTSL). 

       Carrying values Fair value 
       pre acquisition adjustments Fair value 
       £000 £000 £000

Net assets acquired:    
Intangible fixed assets      – 13,410 13,410
Plant, property and equipment      175 – 175
Trade and other receivables      1,438 (122) 1,316
Cash and cash equivalents      5,985 – 5,985
Current liabilities      (3,155) (255) (3,410)
Deferred tax liabilities      – (4,023) (4,023)

       4,443 9,010 13,453
Goodwill        13,203

Consideration        26,656

 
The fair value adjustments represent changes to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the Mouchel Group. 
          
         £000

Satisfied by:      
Cash         26,300
Acquisition costs         356

Consideration        26,656 

 
Goodwill arose on acquisition from the skilled workforce and synergy benefits identified which did not meet the criteria for recognition as an  
intangible asset.

The outflow of cash and cash equivalents on the acquisition of MTSL is calculated as follows:
         £000

Cash consideration         26,656
Cash acquired        (5,985)

Net cash outflow         20,671 
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b Hornagold & Hills (private partnership)
On 16 November 2006 the Group acquired 100% of the trade and assets of Hornagold & Hills, a management consultancy practice.

       Carrying values Fair value 
       pre acquisition adjustments Fair value 
       £000 £000 £000

Net assets acquired:    
Intangible fixed assets      – 4,510 4,510
Investments      25 (25) –
Plant, property and equipment      264 – 264
Trade and other receivables      3,286 (463) 2,823
Cash and cash equivalents      161 – 161
Current liabilities      (1,298) (51) (1,349)
Deferred tax liabilities      – (1,353) (1,353)

       2,438 2,618 5,056
Goodwill        6,487

Consideration        11,543

     
The fair value adjustments represent changes to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the Mouchel Group.

Goodwill arose on acquisition from the skilled workforce and synergy benefits identified, which did not meet the criteria for recognition as an  
intangible asset.  
         £000

Satisfied by:    
Cash         11,400 
Acquisition costs          143 

Consideration          11,543 

The outflow of cash and cash equivalents on the acquisition of Hornagold & Hills is calculated as follows:
         £000

Cash consideration          11,543 
Cash acquired        (161)

Net cash outflow          11,382 
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35 Acquisitions (continued)
c Ewan Group plc
On 16 November 2006 the Group acquired 100% of the issued share capital of Ewan Group plc (Ewan). 

Following acquisition, the Company was renamed Mouchel Ewan Limited.
       Carrying values Fair value 
       pre acquisition adjustments Fair value 
       £000 £000 £000

Net assets acquired:     
Intangible fixed assets      – 5,290 5,290
Investments      107 (107) –
Plant, property and equipment      726 (374) 352
Trade and other receivables      3,959 (256) 3,703
Bank overdraft      (448) – (448)
Current liabilities      (2,540) (63) (2,603)
Deferred tax liabilities      – (1,587) (1,587)

       1,804 2,903 4,707
Goodwill        6,483

Consideration        11,190

     
The fair value adjustments represent changes to bring the accounting policies in line with those of Mouchel.

Goodwill arose on acquisition from the skilled workforce and synergy benefits identified, which did not meet the criteria for recognition as an  
intangible asset. 
    
         £000

Satisfied by:     
Cash         9,500 
Acquisition costs         212 
Shares         1,478 

Consideration         11,190 

The outflow of cash and cash equivalents on the acquisition of Ewan is calculated as follows:
         £000

Cash consideration         9,712 
Overdraft acquired        448

Net cash outflow         10,160 

36 Retirement benefit obligations
The Group operates several occupational pension schemes for its employees. These schemes are a combination of defined benefit,  
defined contribution and third-party defined benefit schemes. 

a Schemes accounted for on a defined contribution basis 
The Legal and General GPP Scheme, Parkman Defined Contribution Scheme and the Parkman Ireland Pension Scheme (DC section) are defined 
contribution schemes. Upon the acquisition of HBS Business Services Group Limited and Hedra plc the Group became responsible for their 
defined contribution schemes. 

Some employees who transferred to the Group under the Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment) Regulations (1981) as amended 
(TUPE) remain members of their previous schemes, which are pre-funded defined benefit schemes. Where under the terms of the contracts, 
the defined benefit liability remains with the relevant council, the Group accounts for these schemes as defined contribution schemes. Cash 
contributions are recognised as pension costs and no asset or liability is shown on the balance sheet.
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36 Retirement benefit obligations (continued)
b Schemes accounted for on a defined benefit basis – third-party schemes 
MBS have admitted body status in the Teesside pre-funded defined benefit scheme, as employees of MBS who were previously employed by  
the local council remain members of the Teesside Pension Fund. The assets and liabilities of this scheme are identified under retirement benefit 
obligations on the balance sheet and disclosed as third-party schemes in section d overleaf.

c Schemes accounted for on a defined benefit basis – Group schemes
The HBS Business Services Group Limited Pension Scheme, the Mouchel Superannuation Fund (MSF) and the Mouchel Staff Pension Scheme 
(MSPS) are funded defined benefit schemes and are disclosed as Group schemes in section d overleaf. For the three principal defined benefit 
schemes that the Group is now responsible for, the future liabilities for benefits are provided for by the accumulation of assets held externally to the Group 
in separate, trustee-administered funds. The cost of these schemes is determined in accordance with the advice of independent, professionally qualified 
actuaries on the basis of formal actuarial valuations using the projected unit credit method. In line with normal business practice these valuations are 
undertaken on a biennial basis for the MSF and the MSPS schemes and a triennial basis for the MBS scheme.

All schemes are closed to new entrants except for employees transferring to the Group under TUPE, where the Group is required to provide 
benefits which are broadly comparable to those provided under the Local Government Pension Scheme or another defined benefit scheme 
provided by the transferring employer. 

Given the membership of the schemes, under the projected unit credit method the current service cost would be expected to increase as the 
members of the scheme approach retirement. 

The most recent full actuarial valuations for all of the schemes took place in March 2007.

        2008 2007
        % %

Discount rate       6.6/6.5 5.7
Expected rate of increase in pensionable salaries      5.6/5.3 4.8
Expected rate of increase in pensions in payment      3.6/3.8 2.5
Expected rate of price inflation       3.6/3.8 3.0

Note: Data for Group schemes is given first, followed by data for third-party schemes.
         2008 2007
         Years  Years

Life expectancy at age 65:   
– current pensioners: male        87.0/87.0 85.6
  female       89.8/89.8 88.5
– future pensioners:  male       88.1/88.1 87.1 
  female       90.9/90.9 90.1

Note: Data for Group schemes is given first, followed by data for third-party schemes.

The sensitivity associated with these assumptions is as follows:
       Effect on deficit  
       Mouchel Group MBS Group Third-party
       schemes scheme schemes 
      Change £000 £000 £000

Discount rate     –/+  0.1% +/–  3,700 +/–  1,200 +/–  1,500
Expected rate of price inflation     –/+  0.1% –/+  2,900 –/+  1,100 –/+  500
Life expectancy     –/+  1 year –/+  4,700 –/+  2,100 –/+  2,500

The trustees of each scheme determine the investment strategy for the assets held by the scheme, in consultation with the principal employer.

The expected return on the scheme assets in the forthcoming year is as follows:
         %

Equities        8.9/8.9
Bonds, gilts and cash        4.9/4.9
Property        7.4/8.4

Note: Data for Group schemes is given first, followed by data for third-party schemes.
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36 Retirement benefit obligations (continued)
d Defined benefit pension schemes
The amounts recognised in the Balance Sheet are as follows:
 Group
      Group Third-party
      schemes schemes Total Total
      2008 2008 2008  2007
      £000 £000 £000  £000 

Equities     147,317 39,564 186,881 121,519
Bonds and gilts     57,038 5,721 62,759 39,365
Cash     8,482 6,260 14,742 1,711
Property     7,620 2,429 10,049 8,558
Unpaid contributions     (636) – (636) (487)

Fair value of plan assets     219,821 53,974 273,795 170,666
Present value of obligations     (247,583) (60,773) (308,356) (188,670)

Liability in the Balance Sheet     (27,762) (6,799) (34,561) (18,004)

   
Current liability     (636) – (636) (487)
Non-current liability     (27,126) (6,799) (33,925) (17,517)

Total liability in the Balance Sheet as above    (27,762) (6,799) (34,561) (18,004)

Movements in the defined benefit obligation are as follows: 
      Group Third-party
      schemes schemes Total Total
      2008 2008 2008  2007
      £000 £000 £000  £000 

Retirement benefit obligations at the beginning of the year    (188,670) – (188,670) (200,847)
Retirement benefit obligations at date of acquisition    (58,100) (57,173) (115,273) –
Service cost     (6,525) (1,595) (8,120) (7,078)
Interest cost     (14,100) (3,319) (17,419) (10,561)
Employee contributions     (2,990) (578) (3,568) (2,685)
Benefits paid     7,978 938 8,916 5,118
Gain arising on retirement benefit plan changes    – – – 18,530
Movement in unpaid contributions at the year end    (149) – (149) –
Actuarial gain     14,973 954 15,927 8,853

Retirement benefit obligation at the end of the year    (247,583) (60,773) (308,356) (188,670)

During the previous year the Group conducted a review of the benefits provided under two of the principal defined benefit pension schemes. As a 
result of this review the liabilities of these schemes have significantly reduced. Further details can be found in note 3. 

Movements in the fair value of plan assets are as follows: 
      Group Third-party
      schemes schemes Total Total
      2008 2008 2008  2007
      £000 £000 £000  £000 

Plan assets at the beginning of the year     170,666 – 170,666 152,556
Plan assets at date of acquisition     49,500 52,487 101,987 –
Expected return on plan assets     16,789 3,548 20,337 10,401
Employee contributions     2,990 578 3,568 2,685
Company contributions     23,610 1,842 25,452 6,649
Benefits paid     (7,978) (938) (8,916) (5,118)
Actuarial (loss)/gain     (35,756) (3,543) (39,299) 3,493

Plan assets at the end of the year     219,821 53,974 273,795 170,666
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36 Retirement benefit obligations (continued)
The amounts recognised in the Income Statement are as follows:
 Group

      Group Third-party
      schemes schemes Total Total
      2008 2008 2008  2007
      £000 £000 £000  £000 

Current service cost     6,525 1,595 8,120 7,078
Interest cost     14,100 3,319 17,419 10,561
Expected return on plan assets     (16,789) (3,548) (20,337) (10,401)

Total recognised in Income Statement  before gain arising on retirement benefit plan changes 3,836 1,366 5,202 7,238
Gain arising on retirement benefit changes     – – – 18,530

Total recognised in the Income Statement    3,836 1,366 5,202 25,768

The principal employer, after consulting with the actuaries, has agreed with the trustees of each of the schemes to put in place recovery plans for 
any funding deficits to be eliminated over periods ranging from two years up to seven years.

Of the amount recognised in the Income Statement, £805,000 (2007: £772,000) has been included in administrative expenses and £7,315,000 
(2007: £6,306,000) has been included in cost of sales. The net amount of interest income of £20,337,000 (2007: £10,401,000) and interest cost 
of £17,419,000 (2007: £10,561,000) has been included in finance income (2007: finance costs).

The gain arising on retirement benefit plan changes in the prior year is reflected as an exceptional item with £16,508,000 being included in  
cost of sales and £2,022,000 included in administrative expenses.

The expected contributions payable to all defined benefit schemes for the forthcoming year is £15,600,000.

Actuarial gains and losses recognised in the Statement of Recognised Income and Expense are as follows:

      Group Third-party
      schemes schemes Total Total
      2008 2008 2008  2007
      £000 £000 £000  £000 

Actual return less expected return on pension scheme assets   (35,756) (3,542) (39,298) 3,493
Experience gains and losses arising on scheme liabilities    (6,524) – (6,524) (833)
Effect of changes in assumptions on the present value of scheme liabilities   21,497 953 22,450 9,686
Deferred tax on movement in scheme deficits     5,861 725 6,586 (3,704)

Total recognised in the Statement of Recognised Income and Expense  (14,922) (1,864) (16,786) 8,642

Cumulative actuarial losses recognised in the Statement of Recognised Income and Expense total £9,649,000 (2007: gain of £13,723,000).

e Defined contribution schemes 
Contributions to the defined contribution schemes are between 3% and 14% for the employer and between 2% and 10% for the employee. 
Contributions are dependent on age.

The pension charge for contributions payable to the defined contribution schemes was £8,713,000 (2007: £5,182,000).

37 Contingent liabilities
Contingent liabilities at 31 July 2008 in respect of guarantees and indemnities in the normal course of business totalled £24,080,000  
(2007: £14,620,000).

In addition, bank overdrafts of subsidiaries were guaranteed at 31 July 2008 up to £709,000 (2007: £35,709,000); the amount overdrawn  
at that date being £nil (2007: £16,176,000). These overdrafts are unsecured (2007: secured by a fixed charge on the freehold property).

The Company and various of its subsidiaries are, from time to time, parties to legal proceedings and claims which arise in the ordinary course  
of business. Provisions are maintained by the Group having regard to the size and nature of the claims and the Group’s best estimate of the likely 
settlement. The Directors do not believe that the outcome of these proceedings, actions and claims, either individually or in aggregate, will have  
a materially adverse effect upon the Group’s financial position.



102Group Financial Statements

Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the year ended 31 July 2008
(continued)

38 Post-balance sheet events
a Dividends
The Directors are proposing a final dividend post year end, details of which can be found in note 9.

39 Related party transactions
Group
The following transactions were undertaken with the joint venture entities to which the Group is party:    
        2008 2007
        £000 £000

Sales to joint venture entities       15,708  8,087
Purchases from joint venture entities       1,863  2,176
Net amount due to the Group at the year end       7,502 9,444

Loans to related parties:
  
        2008 2007
        £000 £000

Balance at 1 August        1,479 250
Loans advanced during the period       3,580 3,141
Loan repayments received       (3,926) (1,929)
Interest charged on loans        11 17

Balance at 31 July        1,144 1,479

The loans to related parties are to joint venture companies.

The Group made contributions of £25,452,000 to the defined benefit pension schemes during the year (2007: £6,633,000).

No expense has been recognised in respect of bad or doubtful debts due from any joint ventures in the year ended 31 July 2008 (2007: £nil)  
and no amount has been provided in relation to amounts outstanding at the year-end (2007: £nil).
 
Key management compensation is disclosed in note 6.

Company 
During the year, the Company sold £12,667,000 (2007: £10,461,000) worth of goods and services to subsidiaries. These goods and services 
were in respect of providing management services, systems and offices to the subsidiaries. At the year end, the Company owed £6,083,000 
(2007: £6,415,000) to subsidiary undertakings and was owed £38,308,000 (2007: £43,184,000) by subsidiary undertakings. 

In the year ended 31 July 2007, following the Group reorganisation in August 2006, the Company disposed of investments of £202,000 and 
acquired investments totalling £321,213,000 (see note 14). As a result the Company owed £51,852,000 (2007: £350,890,000) to subsidiary 
undertakings and was owed £39,814,000 (2007: £330,852,000) by subsidiary undertakings in respect of intra-Group loan notes.

40 Corporate information
The consolidated Financial Statements of Mouchel Group plc for the year ended 31 July 2008 were authorised for issue in accordance with a 
resolution of the Directors on 28 October 2008. Mouchel Group plc is a public limited company incorporated in England and Wales whose shares 
are publicly traded on the London Stock Exchange.
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Five-year Financial Summary

Summarised Group Income Statement for the year ended 31 July
     2004 20051 20061 20071 20081 
     £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Group revenue    271,855 308,021 374,020 448,381 656,743
      
Underlying operating profit2    19,217 21,174 26,774 32,974 41,715
Net finance income/(costs)    153 (241) 592 (584) (2,952)

Profit before tax2    19,370 20,933 27,366 32,390 38,763

      
Operating margin2    7.1% 6.9% 7.2% 7.4% 6.4%
Effective tax rate2    21.0% 31.3% 29.9% 29.0% 26.7%
Adjusted earnings per share2    12.6p 13.5p 17.8p 21.0p 25.7p

Summarised Group Balance Sheet as at 31 July
     2004 20051 20061 20071 20081 
     £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Non-current assets    24,213 61,400 63,940 107,519 229,966
Current assets    100,509 115,051 134,629 141,364 219,176
Current liabilities    (58,986) (73,496) (77,737) (111,057) (133,719)
Non-current liabilities     (4,540) (54,780) (51,358) (27,518) (196,533)

Total equity    61,196 48,175 69,474 110,308 118,890

1 Prepared under IFRS. Prior year is prepared under UK GAAP.
2  Before non-operating exceptional items of £6,784,000, goodwill amortisation of £1,774,000 and exceptional goodwill impairment of £707,000 in 2004, amortisation of intangible assets 

arising from business combinations of £457,000 in 2005, £919,000 in 2006, and £2,448,000 in 2007, and a net gain arising on retirement benefit plan changes of £18,190,000 in 2007.  
In 2008, amortisation of intangible assets arising from business combinations of £5,651,000 and non-operating exceptional items of £6,799,000 were deducted.
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PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
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Finsbury
Tenter House
45 Moorfields
London EC2Y 9AE

Financial Advisors and Joint Brokers
RBS Hoare Govett
250 Bishopsgate
London EC2M 4AA

Joint Brokers
JPMorgan Cazenove Limited
20 Moorgate
London EC2R 6DA

Lawyers
Freshfields Bruckhaus Deringer LLP
65 Fleet Street
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Registrars
Equiniti
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Company Secretary and Registered Office
Amanda Massie
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West Hall
Parvis Road
West Byfleet
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E-communications
As an alternative to receiving documents through the post, Mouchel 
offers shareholders the option to receive communications from the 
Company electronically.

Please register with www.shareview.com and follow the instructions
on screen.

If you require assistance with Shareview, please contact our Registrars, 
Equiniti, on 0871 384 2651.

ShareGift
If you hold only a few shares and feel that it would be uneconomical  
or not worthwhile to sell them, you could consider giving them to charity.
ShareGift is a free service for shareholders wishing to give small holdings 
of shares to charitable causes. There are no capital gains tax implications 
on gifts of shares to charity and it is also possible to obtain income tax relief.

Further information can be obtained at www.sharegift.org or from our 
Registrars, Equiniti.

Duplicate accounts
If you receive two or more copies of the Annual Report and Accounts 
and/or multiple cheques for each dividend payment, it means that you 
have more than one shareholder account.

To receive just one Annual Report and Accounts and one cheque  
for each dividend payment, please contact Equiniti on 0871 384 2651 
and ask for your accounts to be amalgamated.

Individual Savings Accounts (ISAs)
Single Company ISAs (both Maxi and Mini) for Mouchel are available  
from Equiniti. Further information and brochures may be obtained  
by calling 0870 600 3970.

Financial calendar
Ex-dividend date  22 October 2008
Record date 24 October 2008
Annual General Meeting 11 December 2008
Final dividend payment date 19 December 2008

Unsolicited investment advice
Be wary if you receive unsolicited phone calls regarding your Mouchel 
shares. Whilst some communications may be genuine, others may  
be an example of a ‘boiler room fraud’ specifically designed to elicit 
monies from you by convincing you to buy overpriced, untradable or 
non-existent shares.

To reduce the potential risk of fraud happening to you, please consider 
the following:

•	 	If	you	are	buying	or	selling	shares,	only	deal	with	brokers	registered	 
in the UK 

•	 Ensure	all	your	certificates	are	kept	in	a	safe	place	
•	 	Keep	all	correspondence	from	the	Registrars	which	contains	 

your shareholder reference number in a safe place. Destroy 
correspondence by shredding 

•	 	If	you	change	your	address	inform	the	Registrars.	If	you	receive	 
a letter from the Registrars regarding a change of address and  
have not recently moved house, please contact them immediately.  
You may be the victim of identity theft 

•	 	Know	when	the	dividends	are	paid.	Consider	having	your	dividend	 
paid directly into your bank to reduce the risk of cheques being 
intercepted or lost in the post. If you change your bank account,  
inform the Registrar of the details of your new account. Respond  
to any letters the Registrar sends you about this.
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Who we are
Mouchel is a consulting and business services group that improves day-to-day 
life for millions of people by providing the many design, management and 
operational skills needed to transform essential public services and to  
sustain vital infrastructure. 

We provide safer, more reliable roads and railways, better teaching and 
learning environments, more sustainable energy and waste solutions,  
cleaner drinking water and more accessible public services. We help  
our clients find better ways to run their own services and to reap  
the rewards of better investment in technology and systems. 

We go the extra mile – and more – to do the right thing for  
our clients, lead the way in our markets, keep our promises  
to our people and offer a fair return to our investors.

This is Mouchel. This is the way we do business. 

Building great 
relationships
Mouchel’s business is built upon great 
relationships – with our customers,  
our stakeholders and our people.

They enable us to provide services  
that help our clients improve 
day-to-day life for millions  
of people…
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